ooooooooooooooooo - { o

eeeeeeeeeeeeee




British Airways Report and Accounts to December 2010

Where We fly December 2010

British Airways:
one of the world's
leading global
premium airlines

Principal Activities Statement

The main activities of Bntish Airways Plc and

its subsidiary undertakings are the operation of
international and domestic scheduled air services for
the carriage of passengers, freight and mail and the

9

UK

44

Americas

17

Africa

Who we are

provision of ancillary services

65

8

Asia Pacific

15

Middle East
& South Asia

British Airways Is the UK's largest international scheduled airline,
We fly our customers at convenient tmes to the best located
airports across the world.

We are one of the world’s leading global
premium airlines Qur principal place

of business s London with significant
presence at Heathrow, Gatwick and
London City Some 20 million people
Iive within commuting distance of these
airports, on the doorstep of the City of
London, the world’s largest premium
travel market

We also operate a worldwide air cargo
business, largely in conpanction with
our scheduled passenger services
Operating one of the most extensive
international scheduled airtine route
networks, together with our joint
business agreement, codeshare and
franchise partners, we fly to more than
400 destinations worldwide In the nine
months to December 2010, we carried
over 24 milhon passengers
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The Directors present ther Report and Accounts for the penod
ended 31 December 2010, which includes the Business Review
as per Section 417 of the Companies Act 2006 and DTR 4 18 of
the Disclosure and Transparency Rules (DTRs) of the UK Listing
Authonty and the corporate governance statement as per DTR
72 The financial statements are set out on pages 55 to 111
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Our fleet

British Airways already operates a large and modern fleet, and we're
continuing to invest In the most technologically advanced aircraft. In 2010
we took delivery of our first three new longhaul Boeing 777-300 aircraft.
These are quieter and more fuel-efficient than their predecessors, as well
as having much improved cabins throughout.

240 Aircraft

(Fleet in service at 31 December 2010)

50 Boeing 747s
49 Boewng 777s
21 Boeing 767s
19 Boeing 737s
4 Boeing 757s

40 Airbus A320s
33 Aurbus A319s
11 Airbus A321s
2 Airbus A318s

11 Embraer — E-jets
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Overview
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Highlights and achievements

There was much to be proud of in 2010 — we're iImproving the way we
run our business, forming strong alllances to secure our future, and
supporting the businesses and local communities that we serve.

Joint Business Agreement  Qur merger bacom
An extensive transatiantic A highly complementary network 1,600 years ~ the total
network built around 433 fit worldwide, combining Bnitish amount of ume spent by
destinations in 105 countries Airways' strong presence in North customers an ba com
with 5,178 departures America, Asta Pacific and Africa with during 2010
Iberia’s leadership in Laun America
/ / /

Training

Traming 9,000 British Airways
staff and 4,000 American
Aurlines / Ibena staff to

SUpPOrt the new Jont Volunteer
Business Agreement programme
To keep our

programme flying
during the cabin crew
dispute, British Airways
operated a company wide
volunteer programme

_/ / /

Mixed Fleet Community relations Cargo
During 2010 British Awrways launched Our Flying Start Cargo revenues for the nine

a new cabin crew ‘Mixed Fleet’ partnership with menths to December 2010
which significantly increased our  Comic Relief raised Egﬁ\éf_ were £531 million

new entrant training nearly £335,000
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Community

3,335 reured and current
Briush Airways employees
donated over £600,000 to ther
chosen chanues through our
Giving Scheme during the year

Diversity

Dwversity at Bntish Airways
15 about inclusion of all our
colleagues and ensurnng that we
utilise their different knowledge
and perspectives

London 2012

Bntish Airways employees
are gearing up for the London
2012 Olympic and Paralympic
Games through Briush Airways’
employee programme

/

Engineering

Launched first Heathrow
engineering apprentice
scheme for 16 years
Over 100 engineenng
techmical and support
students started therr
apprenticeships

i October

/

Relief
mission
to Haiti

Supported relief
mission to Hart,
prepaning a Boeing 747
and joining colleagues to
deliver 50 tonnes of aid
for earthquake victims

Environment

Bntish Airways announces
partnership with Solena
10 build Europe’s first
biomass to jet fuel plant

New destinations

British Airways new destinaucns
include London City to [biza,
Palma, Copenhagen and Chambery
London Gatwick to Cancun and
Lendon Heathrow to Gothenburg

Mobile apps

Since the relaunch of Bnuish
Atrways’ mobile app, over
100,000 customers have used
their device as a boarding pass
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Financial and operational highlights

Financially, we achieved an operating profit for the first time since
2007/08. Our performance would have been even better without the
exceptionally severe weather and other disruptions.

Profit before tax £157m

Group profit before tax for the
9 menths to December 2010 was
£157 million, compared with a loss
before tax of £531 mulion in the year
to 31 March 2010

Revenue £6,683m

Group revenue for the 8 months to
December 2010 was £6,683 million,
compared with £7,994 mifkon in the
year to 31 March 2010

/

Operating profit £342m

Group operating profit for the
9 months to December 2010 was
£342 million, compared with a loss
of £231 million in the year to 31
March 2010

Basic earmings per share 13 6p

Group earmings per share for the
9 months to December 2010 was
13 6 pence, compared with a loss
per share of 38 5 pence In the year
to 31 March 2010

Ready to Go 55%

Network-wide Ready 10 Go
performance for the 9 months to
December 2010 was 55 per cent,
compared with 59 per cent in the
year to 31 March 2010

Geographical areas by

area of onginal sale Total revenue

Shortlanded baggage

Sherttanded baggage at Heathrow
for the 9 months to December 2010
was 22 2 bags per 1,000 passengers,
compared to 24 7 for the same period
in the previous year

Ready to Go

Network punctualty %

2010 £ mithon £ milhion
* UK 44% * Restated for the adopuon of IFRIC 13 & 14
& The Amercas 22%
# Conunental Europe 15%
& Afnica, Middle East &
Indian sub-conunent 1%

¢7  Far East & Austraha 8%
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Chairman’s statement

2010 was the end of an era for British Airways. It was our final year as
a separate, publicly quoted plc as on 24 January 2011 we merged with
Iberia to create International Consolidated Airlines Group S. A. (IAG)
and a powerful new force in the global aviation industry was born.

“We believe that the merger
with iberia and the creation of
IAG will make us a stronger,
more competitive airline
that gives better service
to customers Butin one
important respect it changes
nothing the British Airways
brand will continue The
new corporate structure will
ensure that the distinctive
Briush Auirways and tberia
brand identities can fiourish
as part of a strong group
that participates in the
consolidation that is currently
reshaping the airline industry”

Thea sky's the hmit

Qurs 1s an Intensely competitive industry where margins are low and operations
uniquely vulnerable to disruption - as we saw in 2010 It s only through partnerships
such as IAG that Brish Airways and arlines hke it can survive and prosper

IAG 15 one of the world's top five airline groups, yet we believe it has great potential
for further development We have learned from other airflines’ expenence of
consalidation, and taken great care to create a platform that 1s attractive to other
arrlines that share our outlook This 1s why IAG 1s positioned as a holding company
rather than a consumer brand — it allows the partners to share the benefits of scale
while retaining their own distinctiveness and national identity

In 2010 we put the finishing touches to another historic deal, our Jomt Business
Agreement (JBA) with Amencan Asrtines and Iberia, which we signed 1n

September 2010 This was a tremendous achievement and the culmimation of many
years of patient work We have hugh hopes for this partnership and we are confident
it will dnve improvements in market share and revenue on the important North
Atlantic routes

Taking on the challenges

More productive work was done in 2010 to drive down our cost base We've taken
some tough decisions and a new British Airways started to emerge during the year -
a leaner, more focused arline that 1s in great shape to benefit from recovery i global
markets There have also been some setbacks The cabin crew dispute dragged on
into 2011, not because of any unwillingness by management to resclve the issues,
but because the trade umions involved appear to be structurally incapable of
agreeing amongst themselves
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Chairman’s statement contnued

“The unexpectedly robust
recovery in premium travel
during the second half of
2010 was a welcome boost”

Taking on the challenges continued

Ol price volatihty continues to challenge
us = in just three years we have seen
fuel prices range between $40 and

$147 per barrel Although we have
hedging arrangements in place, extreme
fluctuations in the price of fuel make hfe
more difficult for everyone, not least
our customers

We are concerned that UK airlines have
been disadvantaged by the onerous
increase in Auwr Passenger Duty (APD)
which has doubled in the past two

years and has pushed up the cost of
travel substantially APD costs Brinsh
Airways’ customers around £450 million
annually — a family of four flying to the
Canbbean now pays £300 in APD, more
than double the previous amount This 1s
helping to drive business away from the
UK and towards other European hubs
where taxation 1s lower Ara time when
the UK government wants 1o simulate
trade and tounism, APD s making it
more expensive to travel to and from
the UK. Fees for wvisizor visas to the UK
are also significantly higher than in the
rest of Europe and are a further drag on
inbound tourism

A positive outlook

The unexpectedly robust recovery in
premium travel during the second half of
2010 was a welcome boost and enabled
us to achieve an operaung profit for

the first ume since 2007/08 Cur
performance would have been even
better without the exceptionally severe
weather and other disruptions

We are cautiously confident that

the recovery will continue through

2011 Although the US and European
economies are likely to remain sluggish,
we expect that rapid growth in the
emerging economies of Asia and

Latin Amenca will help to suimulate
nternational travel

Uinder Willle Walsh's dynamic leadership,
IAG will be well placed to capitahse

on the opporturinies that will present
themselves as the expansion in global
arr travel resumes 1ts momenturn and
consohdation continues Willie has
handed over as Chief Executive Officer
(CEQ) of Bntish Airways to Keith
Williams, previously our Chief Financial
Officer, and I'm sure that Keith will build
on the progress we have achieved n
recent years

During Willie's five years as CEO,
British Awrways has transformed iself
We've moved our operational centre
to Terminat 5, created new strategic
alhances, reduced costs and introduced
better working practices He leaves
Briish Airways on a high note — thank
you Willle

After more than eight and five years
respectively as Non-executive
Directors, Maarten van den Bergh and
Baroness Symons have retired from the
Board from the Merger Effective Date

1 would like to thank them for therr
dedicated service to the Company, and
in parucular for Maarten's services as
Semior Independent Director

Thanks also to Baroness Kingsmill and
Jim Lawrence who also retired from the
British Airways Board on the Merger
Effecuve Date but conunue to serve on
the Board of I1AG

Finalty, we would like to thank all of our
customers for their continued support
and loyalty duning this difficult penod

Sir Martin Broughton
Chairman
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Directors’ report

Increased revenue /

£6,683 mulhon in the 9 months
to 31 December 2010

Passenger revenue up /

Increase of £474 million in the
9 months to 31 December 2010

“We were rewarded for our
well-judged decision to
reduce capacity early in the
economic downturn”

In a year of many achievements, two In
particular stand out — the signing of the

Joint Business Agreement with American
Airines and Ibena and our merger with ibena
to become IAG. Both these strategic goals
greatly enhance our ability to compete.

Thus has been an exciting, eventful
and challenging penod for British
Airways A recovery in our key market
segment, premium travel, enabled us
to record an operaung profit after two
difficult years of losses We faced up
to major operational challenges
which disrupted our services

Moreover, we achieved two hard

won strategic goals that are redefining
our future — the merger with Iberia and
the North Atlantic JBA with American

Aurlines and lbena

Revenue durning the nine month
penod to 31 December 2010
increased by 9 per cent 10 £6,683
million over the same nine months
last year Passenger revenue was up
by £474 millon and cargo revenue by
£129 million, tncreases of 9 per cent
and 32 per cent respectively

We were rewarded for our well-judged
decision to reduce capacity early in
the ecenonuc downturn This hmited
our losses as demand bottomed

out, and enabled us to benefit from
improved yields as demand picked

up during 2010

We also benefited from an upturn in
our cargo business The overall load
factor for the penod was 73 5 per cent,
a decrease of O 6 percentage points
on the same penod last year Our
programme 1o drive unnecessary costs
out of the business, implemented with
focus and determinauon during 2009
and 2010, further boosted our
financia! performance

The Dnrectors are pleased to report an
operaung profit of £342 milhon for the
nine month penocd

A profit of 13 6 pence 1s attributable to
shareholders The Board has decided
not to recommend the payment of

a dwvidend However, we wilf award a
bonus to all our employees, as a tibute
to their dedicatton and commutment
during a very difficult penod
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Directors’ report continued

"We were delighted when
in November 2010 our
shareholders gave therr
over-whelming support to
the creation of IAG This
sealed the agreement with
tbera that had been two
years in planning”

INTERNATIGNAL
AIRLINES
GROUP

Investment to increase

To more than E15 billion over the
next five years

joint business” worth

$7 bilhon

Partnerships our flight path
to the future

We were delighted when i November
2010 our shareholders gave therr
overwhelming support to the creation
of JAG This sealed the agreement with
|beria that had been two years

in planning

The listing of Briish Airways Plc’s
equity secunties ended on Friday 21
January 2011 and shares In IAG S A
began trading the following Monday
with a primary lisung in London and

a secondary listing 1n Spain British
Asrways and |bena will retain their own
Boards of Directors and management
boards, and will retain responsibility
for their day-to-day operations 1AG
will take charge of the overall direction,
strategy and management of the
combined business Our results for this
penod do include £31 milion of costs
associated with the Merger

The second of our strategic goals, the
JBA with Amenican Aurlines and lbena,
was even longer in gestation than our
merger with Ibena - 1t took no less
than 14 years for us to gain approval
from the competition and regulatory
authorities

Under the deal the two IAG partners,
Briish Airways and Ibena, agreed

with Amenican Airlines to cooperate
commercially on services between
North America (including Mexico

as well as the USA and Canada) and
Europe (the ELI, Switzerland and
Norway) The benefits from the joint
business are shared between the
arrhnes irrespective of which one takes
the booking The deal significantly
improves |AG's ability to serve its
customers on transatlanuc routes, and
improves the position of the oneworld
alhance, to which all three airlines

are members The other main global
alhiances have had regulatory approval

to operate transatlanuc jont businesses

for several years, and oneworld is now
able to compete with them on an
equal footing

The joint business’ performance since

1t came Into operaton in October 2010
has been encouraging and we anucipate

that this business will be worth a
combined $7 billion in annual revenue
and will account for 20 per cent of the
Europe-UISA market

Enhanced customer focus

Consolidation gives us a once-

only opportunity to deliver major
improvements for all our customers
The merger with Ibena has greatly
expanded our network — |AG has

a fleet of 419 arrcraft providing
connections to 205 destinanuons, 59
of which are new for Briish Arways’
customers The British Awrways and
Iberia networks are an excellent fit
— Ibena's powerful presence in Latin
Amenica complements Brinsh Airways'
strengths in North Amenca, Asia
and Africa

This larger network benefits
customers, who will have greater
choice at more competitive prices
Customers will be able 10 book flights
and check in more conventently,
frequent flyer programmes will be
enhanced, and more airport lounges
will be available

We recognise that investment Is
essential If we are to develop our
position as a giobal leader in premium
ar travel We have committed to a
major capital investment programme,
which will see expenditure rise
steadily over the next five years, from
nearty £600 mullion in 2010 to more
than £15 billon in 2015

Much of this expenditure will be
focused on fleet renewal The

first three of the new longhau!
Boeing 777-300 ERs arrived in 2010
and in 2012 we will have six in service
These are quieter and more fuel-
efficient than their predecessors, as
well as having much-improved cabins
We are also invesung in improvements
to our existing fleet, with upgrades to
in-flight entertainment and our

First cabing
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"We continued to reduce our
cost base duning 2010 by
implementing measures 1o
improve working practices
and productivity”

Fuel costs up

By £56 mullion

Non-fuel costs

Up £59 million

Driving down costs

We continued to reduce our cost
base duning 2010 by implementing
measures to improve working practices
and productiwty lt was essent:al

that we took acuen the severity

of the economic downturn gave us
little chowce Adverse trends in travel
patterns, such as customers switching
from premium to budget fares on
shorthaul routes, have been another
factor driving change

Qur aim has been to take out
inessential costs In ways that limig the
IMpact on our service to customers
The effort involved has been substanual
and could not have been achieved
without great sacrifice and commitment
from our staff, the great majonty

of whom accepted, if sometimes
reluctantly, the necessity of the actions
we were taking Over the past two
years we have reduced non-fuel costs
by £241 million (excluding the effect of
exchange £459 million), half of which s
as a result of lower labour costs — since
March 2009 our manpower (MPE) has
fallen 4,449 to 36,178

Group manpowar
Period end MPE

The work to reduce costs continues
We anticipate that the merger with
bena will debver substanual synergies
The target we have set (s €400 million
by year five

We also made headway with the
British Airways pension fund deficit,
which stoed at £3 7 billion in March
2009 We reached an agreement
with the pension fund trustees, the
unions and the Pensions Regulator
on a recovery plan Linder the new
arrangement, British Airways will
contribute £330 million per annum
plus infiation, increasing cver time,
which will have the effect of reducing
the deficit Pension scheme members
can opt to receve lower future
benefits and keep their current

tevels of contribution, or pay extra

to maintain their existing pension
benefits There 1s a mechanism to help
offset the impact of the conirbution
increases on lower paid employees

Total fuel

(0007%)

£ tmlhon
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Directors’ report continued

in the prior year

Operating costs

The table below shows the eperating costs for the nine menths to 31 December 1010 on a like for like basis with the same period

£ million 2010 2009  Better/(worse) 200910

9 months 9 months Y% 12 months
Employee costs 1547 1523 (16) 1,998
Restructuring 6 52 nm 85
Depreciation, amortisation and imparment 570 544 (48) 732
Aurcraft operating lease costs 51 52 19 69
Fuel and oil costs 1,869 1,813 31 2,372
Engineering and other arrcraft costs 412 372 (108} 505
Landing fees and en route charges 464 467 06 608
Handling charges, catering and other operating costs 765 772 09 997
Selling costs 235 210 (119) 290
Currency differences (0 (3) nm (2)
Accommodation, ground equipment and IT costs 423 414 (22) sn
Total Group expenditure on operations 6,341 6,226 (18) 8,225
Total Group expenditure excluding fuel 4,472 4,413 (13) 5,853

Earnings per share /

13 6 pence

Pensions financing expense

Pensions financing expense was £49 million for the nine months, compared to £116
mullicn 1n the pnor year For the nine months to 31 December 2010, the interest costs
of £684 million were offset by the expected return on assets of £694 milkion

Taxation

The analysis and explanation of tax on the result for the year 1s set outin note 10 to
the financial statements

The total tax credit for the penod was £13 million (March 2010 £106 milkon) The tax
charge included 2 deferred tax movement of £36 million credit ansing from a change
in the corporation tax rate from 28 per cent to 27 per cent with effect from April
201 as enacted by Finance Act (No 2) 2010, £62 million credit ansing from tuming
differences on pension funding reporting under IFRIC 14 and there were adjustments
relating to prior years giving nise te a charge of £i2 milhon (March 2010 £9 million
credit) Excluding these items the effective tax rate for the Group would have been
46 per cent

The deferred tax balance at 31 December 2010 was £788 mullion {31 March 2010
£774 million) The year on year movemnent was pnmarily related to the tax effect of
the utilisation of trading losses brought forward by British Airways offset by pension
funding temporary differences and the change in the corporation tax rate from

28 per cent to 27 per cent effective from April 2011

The Group also contributes tax revenues through payment of transaction and payroll
related taxes The total amount of such taxes paid dunng the nine month penod was
£560 mithon (March 2010 £636 milhon)

Earmings per share

A basic earnings per share of 13 6 pence (March 2010 loss 38 5 pence) ts attnibutable
to shareholders

Other reserves

Other reserves at 31 December 2010, were €978 milhon, an increase of £286 milon
from March 2010 This increase is pnmarnly driven by the profit for the year, our share
of other movements m reserves of associates and net gams on cash flow hedges

Dividend
The Board has decided not to recommend the payment of a dvidend
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Capital expenditure

£ millton 9 meonths to Dec 2010  2009/10
Fleet = aircraft, spares, modificauons and refurbishments (net of refund of progress payments) 545 518
Property and equipment 18 36
Landing rnights and other mtangible assets 35 13
Total 598 567

Total capital expenditure in the nine months to December 2010 amounted to £598
miflion Dunng the nine month period, we took delivery of three new Boeing
777-300 ER arrcraft — with new cabins and in-flight entertainment throughout ~ three
Aurbus A320s and four Embraer E-jets

Liguidity strong / Liquidity
Qur hquidity position remains strang with nearly £2 bilion of cash and equivalents
£24 bilhon at the end of the penad In addition, general purpose committed facilives of £211
milhon are available for immediate drawing and a further £230 million are availzble
on the provision of substitute collateral to the pension scheme trustees Aurcraft
/ purchase committed facilines of £1,406 million are sufficient to finance all contracted
£65 milhon aircraft purchases unul December 2012 Note 23 to the financial statements provides
detaled analysis and explanation of our cash flow pasiuon Qur capital expenditure
commitments are outhined in note 14 to the financial statements

New cabin crew savings

Financial nsk management

We are exposed to a vaniety of financial nisks, including market nisk, credit risk,
capital nsk and hquidity nsk Cur overall nsk management programme focuses on
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks 1o mimmise potential adverse
effects on our financial performance This 1s covered in more detarl in note 29 to the
financial statements

Going concern

Qur business activities, performance, strategy and nisks are set out in this report The
financial posion of the Group, including cash flows, liquidity posiuon and available
committed faciliies are discussed mn this section, and further information is provided
in notes 61 to 111 of the financial statements

After making enquines, our Directors have a reasonable expectation that our
Company and the Group has adequate resources to continue operating for the
foreseeable future For this reason, the going concern basis has been adopted in
preparing the accounts
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Directors’ report continued

Environmental progress

All arrlines have tc meet a
comprehensive range of local,

national and international environmental
regulattons Our approach to these is
to comply with all regulations as an
absolute minimum, and to exceed them
in a number of key areas For example,
our target to halve our 2005 net CO,
ermissions by 2050 leads the industry

In commitment to reducing our

carbon emissions

The work we are doing to reduce costs
and waste I1s helping to improve our
environmental performance, as 1s our
Investment in new, more fual-efficient
arcraft For example, CO, emissions
from our new Boeing 777-300 ERs are
15 per cent lower than our Boeing
747-400 arrcraft

We are proud of our envircnmental
achievements and see ourselves as
one of the industry leaders, dehvering
genuine emission reductions and setting
stretching targets In one key inimauve,
we are working in partnership with

the Sclena Group to create Europe's
first sustainable biojet plant to convert
waste matenals inte sustainable
alternative fuels For further details of
our environmental programme, see
our Corporate Responsibility Report
200972010 which can be downloaded
from the Corporate Responsibility
section of our website

www britishairways com

We believe that the aviation industry
must act collectively 1o address
emissions, and considerable progress
was made during 2010 through industry
bodies such the International Air
Transport Association {|ATA) and

the International Civil Aviation
Organisation (ICAQ)

“British Atrways has emerged
from the deepest recession
since the 1930s 1n good shape,
fit and ready for the challenges
that he ahead”

Dealing with disruption

2010 was a year of positives at

British Airways, but there were also
some frustrations Our business was
adversely affected by three major
sources of disruption Two of these
were caused by external factors
outside our control - the eruption of
the Icefandic volcano Eyafjallajokull in
Aprl and severe winter weather, both
of which resulted in extensive flight
cancellations The third cause

of disruption was industnal action

by Unite Cabin Crew in May and
early June

Ash from the volcanic eruption
resulted in the closure of arspace
around Europe for more than five
days We believe that the regutatory
authonties over-reacted Volcamc
ash can indeed present a risk to the
safety of air transport, but we have
long had thorough procedures in place
that address this nisk In the event,
not only did the authorties cause
much unnecessary inconvenience to
travellers, they left arrlines to pick up
a substanual bdl in compensauon to
travellers for cancelled flights

Heavy snow In late 2010 brought
public transport in the UK to a near
standstill Qur Heathrow operations
team acted decisively, cancelling
flights In a umely way to minimise
inconvenience for customers The
resulting flight diversions and
disrupted schedules created an
immensely challenging situation

for everyone

We were disappointed that the
drawn-out dispute with trade
uniens appeared to defy all
attempts at resolufion

The new cabin crew working practices
are essential — as well as bringing us in
line wath the rest of the industry, they
are in the interest of our custorners and
have saved us around £65 milhon in
costs in the first year of implementation
Many of our cabin crew staff accepted
the necessity of the changes, and it 1s to
their great credit that we were able to
maintain most services while industnal
action was In progress

The estimated cost to our business

of these three major sources of
disruption 1s some £300 milhon in the
reporung period

Fit for the future

Briush Airways has emerged from the
deepest recession since the 1930s

tn good shape, fit and ready for the
challenges that lie ahead The actions
we have taken to reengineer our
business and position ourselves for
further industry consohdation are
starting to pay off, and we are confident
that British Airways has a great future as
part of IAG

Perhaps most impressive of all has been
the talent, commitment and sheer hard
work of so many of our staff They
pulled us through the recession and
have demonstraied how much we are
capable of achieving when we push
ourselves There 1s much more to come

Approved by the Board and signed on
its behalf by

Keith Willrams
Chief Executive
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Our strategy and objectives

Global /

What we offer will appeal 1o
customers across the globe Wherever
we operate, individuals and business
travellers alike will want to fly with us
whenever they can

Premium /

We will make sure all our customers
Ny MHGUeDTSTYUM service at every.
point they come INtd contact with us
Our customers will recognise that we

are worth paying that httle bit more for

Aurline /

we will remain focused on aviation
— moving people and cargo 1s our
core business We will also develop
new products and services which
complement this

We first laid out our strategy to become the
leading Global Premium Aurline in 2008. Since
then, despite the unprecedented market
conditions we have faced, significant progress
has been made towards our strategic goals.

We are now emerging

from the downturn with

an improved cost-base,
strengthened partnerships,
and with a series of product
improvements relling out
across the fleet

But our competitors haven't
been idle either Consclidation
Is accelerating, the make-

up of the major alliances 1s
repeatedly challenged, and
product innovations and new
arcraft are being deployed
Taking this together with an
uncertain economic outlook,
a high fuel price, and a rnsing
burden of tax and regulation
only serves to reinforce the
importance of the strategy

Progress towards our strategic goals

Securing the merger with [bena has
been a central plank of our strategy
The Ibenia and Brnitish Awrways networks
are complementary, significantly
extending our global reach The deal
also delwers improved financial stabilty
and levels the playing field with our
major European competitors

Gaining Anti-Trust Immunity for the

Jownt Business with American Atrlines

and tberiahas similarly been a long-

term strategic goal it too offers -
significant benefits to our customers

through greater access to discounted

fares, more convenient connections,

and a much broader range of

destinations

We have played an active role in
strengthening oneworld, successfully
managing Russia’s 57 into the alhance
1n November 2010, and sponsoring
Aur Berlin and Kingfisher Airlines as
members elect

We have conunued the roll-out of
our restyled First cabin and begun
the introduction of a new Inflight
Entertainment System We took
delivery of our first three Boeing
777-300 ER awcraft, delivering a
step-change in levels of customer
sausfaction, and improved fuel
efficiency and environmenial
performance

Ancillary sales have been boosted

by improved ceollecuon rates and the

creation of new revenue streams from

extra services such as the ability to

upgrade cabin at the arport i

‘We dehvered structural change

in employee costs, and reduced
manpower (MPE) by 16 per cent
{6,696 MPE) between September
2008 and December 2010
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Our business plan

We have built our
business plan to both
advance our Global
Premium Airline
strategy, and to ensure
British Aurways fulfils
its role within IAG

"Our customer-facing staff
have long been passionate
about delvening outstanding
customer service”

Synergies

In ganing approval for the merger, IAG have commitied to their shareholders

to deliver €400 million per annum in synergies across the combined business

within five years The total figure 1s made up of both revenue synergies (from the
opportunity of combiring the Briush Aurways and ibena networks for both passenger
and cargo sales) and cost synergies (from integrating resources and services,
leveraging the combined scale, and sharing best pracuces) Central to the business
plan s the effort 1o adapt Bnush Airways in order 1o realise these synergies

Deliver outstanding customer service and continue to invest in our products

Our customer-facing staff have long been passionate about delivering
outstanding customer service 'We are bullding on this through a revolution in
the way we lead, train and reward We are also making significant investments in
the tools we provide our front-line teams, and are taking opportunities wherever
possible to simplify processes

Qur product investment programme continues with significant refits to our Boeing
767 and Boeing 777-200 fleets and an on-going lounge refurbishment programme

Grow revenue with our airline partners

We will work with both Air Berhin and Kingfisher Airhnes to support their
introduction to oneworld Where appropnate we will seek to deepen partnerships
through the extension of codeshare relatonships and the development of

joint businesses

Secure the right assets and infrastructure

We will prepare the airine for the arrival of our new Boeing 787 and Awrbus A380
awcraft, involving development of the awrport infrastructure, provision of enhanced
IT, and a sigmificant programme of tranung We will work closely with BAA on the
development of Heathrow, and with Global Infrastructure Partners (GIP) on the
development of Gatwick

Achieve a cost base that enables us to compete and grow

Despite achieving structural change in our cost-base, we face significant cost
pressures over the |ife of the ptan, with a projected nse in fuel costs, above-inflation
Increases in many airport and over-flight charges, as well as inflationary pressures on
wages and supplier costs We will work with our employees and supphers to manage
costs wherever possible

Create the cufture and capabilities to succeed

All elements of the plan rely on engaged, mouvated people A comprehensive
People Strategy has been developed that will transform the way people are led,
developed, rewarded and engaged We will conunue to develop the leadership skills
of our management population and our front-line leaders, and iImprove performance
management. We will look to build on positve industrial relattons in a number of
areas of the business through direct engagement with colleagues

Set the standard for respensible aviation

Briush Airways has led the industry in adopting a responsible appreach through our
award winning One Destination Programme This brings together all of our work
on the Environment, Communty, Diversity and Inclusion This important work 1s
not only an imperative for the environment but 1s also an increastngly important
consideration for our customers

Qur approach is threefold reducing carbon emussions, campaigning for a single,
appropnate and compentively non-distorung regulatory regirne, and mimmising locat
community impacts from air quality and noise
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Key Performance Indicators

We track progress against the business plan using a wide range of metrics.
Only three of these metrics are used to set targets for the basis of
remuneration. The three are customer recommendation, operating margin
and network punctuality. Progress against these three is detailled below

Measure

Progress

Customer recommendation

The percentage of customers
who were very, or extremely,
likely to recommend British
Airways to friends, family

or colleagues

We momitor cur customers' views through our Think Customer survey This is
independent market research involving more than 36,000 customers each month Our
headline measure 1s customer recommendation Apart from being extremely important
N 1ts own right, we believe that this measure indicates how the customer expenence
will affect future profitability We also track customer views on our parformance relatve
to our competitors, as well as general airhne customers' opinions of our brand These
views help us steer our product investment decistons

For April to December 2010 we set a target level of customer recommendation of 64
per cent However, levels of sausfaction were significantly impacted by the extended
periods of disruption (see below), and our customer recommendation score moved
down to 60 per cent Underneath the headline score there 15 some evidence that the
Investiments we are making are improving satisfaction In particular, there has been a
strong customer response to our new First Class product, and to our flagship products
on the new Boeing 777-300 ERs

Operating margin

The headline measure of
our financial performance

We must achieve a consistently strong financial performance if we are to
continue investtng n the future success of the business and provide adequate
shareholder returns

For 2010/11, we set ourselves a target operatng result of £150 million, this equated
to £160 million for the nine months to 31 December 2010 Qur operating profit

was £342 milhon for the nine months compared to a loss of £231 milhion for the

12 months to 31 March 2010 This significant improvement reflects the increase in
revenue combined with the permanent structural changes we made to our cost base
over the past two years

Network punctuality

The percentage of our
flights that are 'Ready to Go'
— prepared for departure

at three minutes before

the scheduled or

planned departure ume

Running a robust operation 1s key to both meeting our customers’ expectations,

and to delivering a cost-effective business We monitor our operational performance
vi12 a broad range of measures at a variety of levels Departure punctuality 15 our
primary measure, as high performance here requires other operational processes to
run smoothly, and also because it 1s a key driver of customer satisfaction Cur headline
measure of punctuality 1s 'Ready to Go', which focuses on the aspects of the departure
process within our control

For Apnl to December 2010 we targeted a score of 56 per cent We faced significant
penods of disruption due to the volcanic ash threat, industnal acuon by Unite, an
ongoing series of European Air Traffic Control industnial disputes, and the severe
weather at Gatwick and Heathrow This brought down our performance from last year’s
record to 55 per cent

Other measures

Progressive, high-performing
organisations are increasingly
recognising that engaged
employees are more committed
to organisational goals and
values, and more willing to
embrace change and improve
customer service

We track opimions via an all-employee confidental ‘Speak Up!' survey, conducted and

hosted by the independent research organisation Ipsos MORI This includes a Colleague
Engagement Index, which summanses a basket of more detalled measures We have also built
employee responses into the way we measure and manage individual performance

We have set challenging goals for our One Destnation environmental programme which
include increases in the proportion of waste we recycle, an improvement in bullding energy
efficiency, as well as a 25 per cent reducuon (from 2005 levels) 1n carbon emissions per
Revenue Passenger Kilometre by 2025
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"

"We monitor aur operational performance via a broad range

of measures at a vanety of levels Deaparture punctuality is our
pnimary measure, as high performance here requires other
operational processes to run smoothly, and also because 1t 1s a
key driver of customer satisfaction”
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Principal risks and uncertainties

The operational complexities inherent in our business, together with

the highly regulated and commercially competitive environment of the
arrhne industry, leave us exposed to a number of significant risks. We
have maintained a focus on mitigating those risks although many remain
outside of our control — for example changes in governmental regulation,
acts of terronsm, adverse weather, pandemics and the availability of
funding from the financial markets

The Directors of the Group believe that
the risks and uncertainues descrnbed
below are the ones that may have

the most significant impact en the
long-term value of Briush Airways The
list 1s presented in alphabetical order
and 1s not intended 1o be exhaustive

The Group carries out detaled risk
management reviews to ensure that
the nisks are miugated where possible
You can find a more detalled summary
of our internal control and nsk
management processes on pages
361037

Brand reputation

Qur brand has significant commercial
value Erosion of the brand, through
either a single event, or series of
events, may adversely impact our
leadership position with customers
and ulumately affect our future
revenue and profitabihity

The Management Team regularly
monitors customer satisfaction through
the global monthly Think Customer
Survey alongside ongoing research

and development of the British
Asrways product to mitigate this nsk

Competition

The markets in which we operate

are highly compettive We face direct
compention from other arhnes on our
routes, as well as from indirect flights,
charter services and from other modes
of transport Some competitors

have cost structures that are lower
than ours or have other competitive
advantages such as being supported by
government intervention or benefitting
from insolvency protection

Fare discounung by competitors has
hustoncally had a negative effect on
our results because we are generally
required to respond to competttors’
fares to mamtain passenger traffic

Our strong global market positioning,
our network and alliances and diverse
customer base continues to address
this risk

Consolidation/deregulation

As noted above the airline market
15 fiercely competitive and will need
to rationahise given current market
condittons This will involve further
arhine failures and consolidation
Mergers and acquisitons amongst
competitors have the potential to
adversely affect our market position
and revenue

The merger with |bena and the Joint
Business Agreement with Amenican
Aurlines and |beria for transatlantic
routes includes delivery risks such as
realsing planned revenue and cost
synergies The delivery of synergies is
inherently subject to industnal relations,
revenue leakage and programme
management risks The Management
Team have a robust integration and
Joint Business Agreement programme
which addresses these nisks

Some of the markets in which

we operate remain regulated by
governments, In some Instances
controlling capacity and/or restricting
market entry Relaxanon of such
restnctions, whilst creating growth
opportunities for us, may have a
negative IMpact on our margins

Debt funding

We carry substantial debt that will
need to be repaid or refinanced Our
ability to finance ongoing operations,
committed awcraft orders and future
fleet growth plans are vulnerable to
vanous factors including financial
market conditions Although most of
our future capital commitments are
currently asset related and already
financed, there can be no assurance
that arcraft will continue to provide
attractive security for lenders n

the future

The Company's Treasury Committee
regularly reviews the Group's financial
position The results of these reviews
are discussed with management and
the appropnate action taken

Economic conditions

Our revenue 15 highly sensitive to
economic conditions in the markets
in which we operate Detenoration

in either the domestic and/or global
economy may have a material impact
on our financial position
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The Revenue Projection Group
regularly reviews the Group's

revenue forecast The results of these
reviews are discussed with management
and the appropiate action taken

Employee relations

We have a large umonised workforce
Collective bargaiming takes place on
aregutar basis and a breakdown in
the bargaining process may disrupt
operations and adversely affect
business performance Qur continued
effort to manage employment costs
increases the risk in this area

Event causing long-term
network disruption

Several possible events may cause

a long-term network disruption
Example scenanos include a significant
fallure of the public transport system,
the complete or parnal loss of the

use of terminals at Heathrow, adverse
weather conditions (such as snow,

fog or voicanic ash), widespread or
co-crdinated air traffic control industrial
action, war, avil unrest or terronsm

A long-term netwark disruption may
result in significant lost revenue and
addittonal cost. Management has robust
business conunuity plans to mitigate
these risks to the exteni feasible

Faillure of a critical IT system

We are dependent on IT systems

for most of our principal business
processes The failure of a key system
rmay cause significant disruption to
our gperatton and/or lost revenue
System controls, disaster recovery
and business continuity arrangements
exist to mitigate the nsk of a cnuical
system failure

Fuel price and currency fluctuation

We use approximately 55 milion
tonnes of Jet fuel per annum Volatility
in the price of ol and petroleurn
producis can have a matenal impact
on our operaung results This price
nisk s parually hedged through

the purchase of ol and petroleum
denvatives in forward markets which
can generate a profit or a loss

The Group 1s exposed to currency
nsk on revenue, purchases and
borrowings 1n foreign currencies
The Group seeks o reduce foreign
exchange exposures ansing from
transactions in varous currencies
through a policy of matching, as far
as possible, receipts and payments in
each ndmdual currency and selling the
surplus or buying the shortfall of its
currency obligations

The Group 1s exposed to
non-performance to financial
contracts by counterparties, for
actvities such as fuel and currency
hedging Failure of counterparties may
result in financial iosses

The Company's Treasury Committee
regularly reviews the Group's fuel and
currency positions The results of these
reviews are discussed with management
and the appropnate acuon taken

Fuel supply

The Heathrow jet fuel supply 1s cnucal
to the operation Bio-fuel and jet fuel
use the same delivery infrastructure
and with increased use of bio-fuel, the
nsk of contamination is increased Any
contamination of the fuel supply will
have a stgnificant operational impact
The fuel supply 1s not released to
Heathrow unul significant testing

1s completed

Government intervention

Regulaton of the airline mdustry

1s increasing and covers many of

our acavities including route flying
nights, airport slot access, secunty and
environmental controls Our ability to
both comply with and influence any
changes n these regulations 1s key

to mantaining our operanonal and
financial performance

Plans by governments to significantly
increase environmental taxes such as
the introduction of 2 ‘per-plane’ tax,
the European Umion Emissions Trading
scheme and the potenual for other
environmental taxes may have an
adverse impact upon demand for arr
travel and/or reduce the profit margin
per ticket These taxes may also benefit
our competitors by reducing the refative
cost of doing business from their hubs

Heathrow operational constraints

Heathrow has no spare runway capacity
and operates on the same two main
runways since it opened over 60 years
ago As aresult, we are vulnerable to
short-term operational disruption and
there is little we can do to mitigate this
The expansion of the airport would
create exira capacity and reduce delays,
enabling Heathrow to compete more
effectively against European hubs such
as Paris, Amsterdarn and Frankfurt

Key suppher risk

We are dependent on suppliers for
some principal business processes
The fallure of a key supplier to debver
contractual obligations may cause
significant disruption to our operation
We describe the suppher nsk in more
detail on page 30

Pandemic

If there 1s a stgnificant outbreak of
swine flu or other infectious disease,
staff absence will Increase which may
serously impact the operation Key
corporate chents may discourage travel,
significantly impacting sales During

the recent outbreak of swine flu we
implemented our pandemic busmness
conunuity plan

Safety/security incident

The safety and secunty of our
customers and employees are
fundamental values for us Fallure

to prevent or respond effecuvely

to a major safety or secunty madent
may adversely impact our operatons
and financial performance Our
Operatons Control Incident Centre
responds in a structured way, in the
event of an incident
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Business review

The economic landscape

Following 1ts emergence from the
recession, the UK economy lost
momentum in the second half of
2010 High inflation due to surging
commedity prices, the recent nse in
VAT, planned public spending cuts and
reduced household spending power
are expected to continue to suppress
growth prospects Consequently

the outlook for 2011 1s for modest
growth, with estimates as low as 15
per cent of GDP The private sector
1s then anbicipated to dnve a modest
strengthening of the economy from
2012, with growth forecast to exceed
25 per cent

The economic fundamentals in the
LISA pomnt to continued moderate
growth, but house prices and nising
unemployment pose risks The US
faces an extended penod of house-
price weakness, with 1ts associated
wealth effects on consumer spending
Meanwhile the private sector 1s unlikely
to grow employment fast enough to
reptace the loss of public sector jobs
On the positive side, there are signs
of a pick-up In corporate investment
and Mergers and Acquisitions (M&A)
activity Economic growthn 201115
expected to match that esumated for
2010 (at 2 6 per cent) Growth should
then strengthen by one-percentage
point or soin 2012 as business
nvestment picks up, and this level of
growth should be sustainable into 2013
and beyond

Eurozone growth in 2011 15 likely to be
slightly weaker than the 15 per cent
predicted for 2010, and 1s expected to
mazke only slow progress to reach 20
per cent by 2013

Impact on our industry

It 1s anticipated that there will be a
greater polarisation of ecenomic
actrity across the Eurozone states,
whilst Germany was expected to have
grown by 36 per cent in 2010, other
countries with marginal economies
were hkely to have contracted, with the
prospect of only weak future growth
These countnies are also likely 1o suffer
from a further ughtening of fiscal policy,
which may become necessary to allay
persistent market nervousness about
sovereign debt.

Strong demand from China and India
will keep the emerging economies at
the forefront of global economic
growth, although the more externally
focused emerging countnes may find
themselves vulnerable to developments
in the QOrgarusation for Economic
Co-operavon and Development
{OECD) econormuss, particularly the
USA There are also persistent concerns
around the effects of inflation and

asset bubbles leading to 2 correction in
Chinese growth in 2011 with associated
adverse effects on global trade

Global premium atr travel demand in key markets

Premium demand

2010 2009
North Atlantic 52% (12 2%)
Within Europe 30% {25 1%)
Within Far East 211% (19 8%)
Europe — Far East 122% (15 6%)
Europe —Middle East 107% (5 9%)
Total Market 91% (15 8%)

Source IATA
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Competitor outlook
Increased competition

The airline ;ndustry remains fragmented
and polansed between markets

where free market principles are
liberally applied, such as Europe, and a
dimimishing number of markets where
heavy regulation and government
intervention 1s still a featre In 2010 we
saw greater steps towards the creanon
of global arlines through increased
merger activity and deeper levels of
cooperation across the major

alhance partnerships

Middle East carners conunue to develop
ther businesses at an unprecedented
pace These carriers are aggressively
developing truly global airine brands
through high profile spensorships and
adverusing and captunng ever Increasing
shares of longhau! passenger flows as
thewr networks extend thew

geographic reach

Consolhdation

Consolidation and deeper cooperation
within alhances continues to be a
feature of the global arline industry In
Europe, we have completed our merger
with Ibena creating IAG In the US,
Urited Arrbnes and Conunental Airines
completed their merger to create the
world's largest airline In August 2010
LAN and TAM announced plans to
merge and create South Amenca’s
largest carrier

2010 was a significant year in the
development of the oneworld alliance In
October 2010 British Airways, launched
the JBA a new venture with Amencan
Aurlines and Ibena covenng fights
between Europe and North Amenca
The JBA commencement follows
approval from EU and US Department
of Transportation for ant trust iImmunity
similar to that emjoyed by rivals SkyTeam
and Star Alliance

In February 2010 JAL reaffirmed its
commitment to the oneworld alhance
Amenican Airhines and JAL recewved ant
trust immumity for a transpacfic alliance
This will compete directly with the
ANA, United Continental tie up which
commences cooperation on 1 Apnl 2011

oneworld welcomed a number of

new airlines into the aliance and n

so doing strengthened its presence

w1 the key Europe and South Asian
markets Indian based airhne Kingfisher
Aurlines accepted an invitation to
Joinin February 2010 followed by

Arr Berlin announcing their proposed
memberstup in July 2010

Star Alhance and SkyTeam both
continue to expand thewr membership
bases, particularly in Asia and South
Amenca SkyTeam will add three new
Asian carniers, adding China Aurlines,
China Eastern, and Indonesia’s Garuda
Meanwhile Star Aliance will add its
sixth Asian member {(Air India)

Both Star Aliance and SkyTeam have
already announced steps to strengthen
thesr coverage of Latun America,

with SkyTeam recruiting its first

South Amencan carner (Aerolineas
Argentinas) and Star Allance
announcing two new carrners in South
Amenca (Avianca-TACA and Copa)

Shorthaul

Low cost carner expansion from
London has slowed n recent years

as Easyjet and Ryanair focused their
growth on Continental Europe Indeed
Ryanair reduced its London capacity
by 75 per centin 2010 Following
ASK growth of just 15 per cent in
2010, shorthaul compeutor capacity
Is esumated to grow at a similar rate in
2011, before increasing to around 2 per
cent for 2012 and 2013

European low cost carriers are
increasingly looking to attract higher
yielding passengers by improving therr
proposiion Low cost carriers now
offer flexable uckets, are increasing
distribution through Global Distnibution
Systems (GDS) and using pnmary
arrports We are also seeing expansion
of low cost services into rmid haul
markets which were previously the
domain of full service carners such as
London to the Middle East (Tel Aviv,
Sharm El Sheikh)

Longhaul

More of British Airways' compeutors
will take delvery of Aiwrbus A380s
dunng the next five years Given the
importance of the London market and
the capacity constraints across the
City's awrports, it 1s likely that non-
European competitors will choose

to deploy their Airbus A380s on the
London route

It 1s assumed that London-North
Atlantic seat capacity will return to pre-
downturn levels duning the next five
years with growth forecast at nearly
eight per cent in 2011, slowing to four
per centin 2012, before picking up
again to eight per cent in 2013

The product advantage Bniash Airways
has traditionally enjoyed relative to

its LIS competitors i1s under threat of
erosion LS carriers are investing in
product enhancements on the ground
and in the arr, as illustrated by Delta’s
$1 bilion product investment
programme launched in 2010

London longhaul competitor capacity
for the rest of the world 1s forecast

to grow by just over three per cent

i 2011, before picking up to seven
per cent n 2012, and then softening
to around six per cent in 2013 This
growth will be driven by the continued
expansion of Middle Eastern carners
{with 300 aircraft on order), Increasing
capacity not only on Gu!f routes but
also on rouies to Asia and Austraha

The arrval of this wave of new
generation arrcraft 1s accompanied
by significant enhancements in
onboard products, partcularly in
the premium cabins
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Business review contnued

Regulatory controls

The airine industry is highly regulated
Almost everything we do - from the
routes we fly, to the business partners
we cooperate with, the airport slots we
use, the fares we set, the infrastructure
costs we pay, safety, secunty and the
way we manage our environmental
impact —is governed or influenced by a
web of tight regulations

There were a number of important
regulatory developments during the
year that will have a major impact on
the industry in general and on our own
long-term strategy

ELI/US second stage talks

The EU and US signed the second
phase EU open skies agreement in
Brussels in June 2010 Disappointingly,
no progress was made on any
immediate lfting of ownership and
control restrictions (O&C) by the US
Instead, both sides have committed

to continued negotiations aimed at
removing market access barrniers in the
future Some progress was made on 'Fly
Amenca’, with the US agreeing to give
EU carners access tg US government
‘contractor’ traffic, excluding defence/
mulicary traffic

UK airports

2011 wilf see the commencement of
consultation between the CAA, BAA
and airlines to inform the setting of
price controls applied for passenger
charges at Heathrow and Gatwick for
the next quinquenmurn (2013 - 2018)
British Airways continues to contribute
actively 1o the consultations and has fed
back a number of recommendations as
to how the process for the upcoming
quinguennuzl review can be improved
Bnush Aurways is of the firm view that
the process needs to support the
principle of aligrung charges at regulated
arrports to commercial rates akin to
those in 2 competitive market place

In October 2010 the court of appeal
upheld the competition commussions
requirement for BAA to dispose of

its ownership of Stansted arport.
Assuming this decision 1s not subject to
further legal challenge, the disposal will
need to conclude by 2012

Capacity constraints at Heathrow

mean 1t has fallen behind competng
European airports In recent years,
threatening its position as one of the
world’s leading arrports During the year,
the Conservative Liberal Democrat
Coalition Government confirmed that it
will not support a planning application
for a third Heathrow runway and has
also ruled out approval of new runways
at Gatwick and Stansted

Safety and security

Safety and security are key priorities
for us We have a formal safety
management system In place to
ensure that we comply with all
relevant regulations We operate a
comprehensive Monitornng system 1o
ensure all Incidents are reported and
necessary action taken From the start
of 2009, all IATA member airlines have
been required to pass an International
Operatonal Safety Audit (IOSA) We
have held IOSA accreditation since
Ccrober 2007

Governments across the world have
introduced a range of secunty measures
to combat the threat of terrorism

and control illegal immigration We
continue to engage with the European
Commussion, the UK and other
governments to make sure that these
measures are effective while causing
the minimum possible inconvenience to
our customers

Our secunty department works
within the wider international secunty
framework 10 ensure that any threats
to our business are mimimised and

to protect our customers, worldwide
assets, operauons and staff

Cargo revenue

In 2010 World Cargo returned 10 115
strategy for profitable growth We
continued to builld on the previous
success of our product range with a
parucular focus on Constant Chimate

— our temperature-sensitive solugon
for our healthcare, Iife science and
pharmaceutical industry customers For
the second year running this doubled

in turnover

For the nine months to December
2010, cargo revenues improved by
£129 million or 32 per cent compared
to the same perniod in 2009 This
was driven by a 1 per cent increase
In volume, measured in cargo tonne
kilometres (CTKs), and a 31 per cent
improvement in yield due to market
strengthening, higher fuel surcharge
levels and improved premium mix

In response to this success, and the
overall growth in demand for our
premium products, we extended
aur specialist handling centre at
London Heathrow — Premia This
now provides a further 25 per cent
loose storage capacity

World Cargo re-affirmed i1ts strategic
commitment by signing a long term
contract to lease three Boeing 747-
8 freighters The new aircraft are
expected during 2011 and will be 17
per cent more carbon efficient per
tonne of cargo than the Boeing 747-
400s they replace

Cargo revenues /
£129 million
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New Boeing 747-8 fraighters /

17% more carbon efficient

Emissions reduction /
50% by 2050

Carbon neutral growth /
From 2020

Sustainable biofuel /
From 2014

"We believe the most
effective way for the airline
industry to play 1ts part in the
giobal reduction in carbon
emissions 1s through the
inclusion in a global sectoral
approach with emissions
reductions targets of carbon
neutral growth from 2020
and a 50 per cent reduction
In net emissions by 2050”

Environment

All airhnes have to meet a comprehensive range of local, national and internationat
environmental regulations Qur approach to these is to comply with all regulations as
an absolute mimmum, and to exceed them in 3 number of key areas For example,
our target to halve our 2005 net CO, emissions by 2050 leads the industry in
commiiment to reducing our carbon ermissions

A key component of our award winning One Desunation programme is our work on
the environment

We recognise that by providing air transport services we have an impact on the
environment As part of our mission to lead the arrline industry in responsible
behaviour we are fully commited to reducing our environmental footprint, including
playing our full part in reducing global greenhouse gas emissions

Climate change

We believe the most effective way for the airltne industry to play its part in the global
reduction in carbon emissions 1s through the inclusion in a global sectoral approach
with ermissions reductions targets of carbon neutral growth from 2020 and a 50 per
cent reduction in net emissions by 2050

As part of this work to develop climate change regulation for awation, at the ICAC
General Assembly in October 2010 a resolution was adopted which makes progress
toward a framework for a sectoral approach for reducing emissions Duning 2010 the
Urited Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (LUINFCCC), has endorsed
the role of ICAQ in developing the regulatory framework for aviation Dunng 2011
we will continue to develop proposals and advocate theirr adoption through the
ICAQ and the UNFCCC processes and these will include a comprehensive policy for
reducing aviatuon's emissions based on carbon trading while ensuring we minimise
any competitive distortion

The EU Emissions Trading System {ELI ETS) 1s due to commence from 1 January
2012 We have implemented data systems in readiness to comply with the
requirernents of the system While overall we support the scheme we continue
to call on policymakers to address the market distortions that will result from
the EU ETS

Sustamable biofuels will play an wnportant role in reducing aviation’s carbon footprint
and we are working on a number of projects to help accelerate their implementation
into the airline industry We have established a partnership with the technology
company Solena to build Europe’s first biomass to iquid plant to supply us with
sustainable biofuel from 2014 In addition we have partnered with Rolls-Royce to test
the performance of different biofuels and assess their sustainability credentials

Noise and air quality

We continue to reduce the noise and aw guality impacts of our business through our
fleet modernisauon and operational improvements programmes Specific iniuatives
include targeted reduction of our aircraft Auxiliary Power Unit {APU) usage and
enhancements to our ground vehicles emvaironmental performance We actively
support several research and development programmes to further understand and
improve arrcraft noise and emissions performance including at international level
through the ICAQ Committee on Aviation Environmental Protection (CAEFP)

As shown in the table on the following page, the average noise per flight 1s not
currently on track due to the delvery delays in the Awbus A380 and Boeing 787's
mo our fleet We are stll showing a year-on-year reduction 1n average noise per
fight but by 2015 the reducticn 1s not estimated to reach the full 15 per cent we
onginally set as our target.
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Business review continued

Waste and recychng

We aim to improve resource efficiency
through waste minivisation, increased
reuse and recycling and reduced
disposal to landfill

We will soon achieve our target of
recychng 50 per cent at our main bases
of Heathrow and Gatwick This 1s being
delivered through the prowision of
improved facilities for segregation and
the removal of desk bins in our offices
We have now set a new target to
recycle 60 per cent by 2015 at cur main
bases of Heathrow and Gatwick

We are also very close to achieving
our target 1o send zero waste 1o
landfill from the waste streams that
we manage at Heathrow and Gatwick
We have progressively increased the
amount of non-recyclable waste that
we process through a local waste to
energy plant Approximately 5 per
cent of our remaining waste sull goes
to landfill We conunue to look for
altermative means of disposal for this
residual waste

Summary of environmental data and targets

Carbon offsetting

During 2010 we made a number of
improvements to our Government
accredited offsetting scheme
Passengers can now pay for offsets
according to the cabin of trave! In
addion, members of our Executive
Club who book tickets using
redemption miles from the BA Miles
scheme are able to offset the ermissions
from their flights

The Corporate Responsibility Report
will be avalable on line at
www iairgroup com from Summer 2011

Target 2010 2009* 2008* 2007
Carbon efficiency gCO,/pkm** 83 by 2025 NA 106 107 1o
CO, emissions (milhon tonnes) NA 1667 1760 1770
Average noise per flight 15% reduction by 2015 Not on track On track*** Ontrack*** On track***
% Recychng (LHR and LGW) 50% by end of 2010 450 390 351 301
Waste to landfill (tonnes LHR and LGW) Zero to landfill by end of 2010 319 2,187 3,424 3688

Calendar years

“* With effect from 2008 traffic statishics now inctude data related to customers who have flown on "frequent fliers” mileage redemption tickets,
This change bnings the Group into hne with the industry standards and also into ling with all major scheduted carners
“** Qur fleet replacement programme 1s on track to deliver this target

London 2012 Olympic and Paralympic Games

The Briush Airways Great
Britons Programme offers a
chance for the best of Briush
creative talent to win a truly
career defining opportunity

British Airways is proud to be the
official arrhne partner of the London
2012 Olympic and Paralympic Games
We are helping to develop British talent
i the run up to, and beyond, London
2012 through a number of initiatives
such as BA Great Britons Programme
and the World Class Performance
Programme In February 2009 British
Airways launched the BA Great Britons
Programmae n celebration of the
London 2012 Olympic and Paralympic
Games and our commitment to
supporting British talent in its many
different forms You can read about
Qur previous winners at

www ba com/greatbnitons

ey Te—
oy BRITISH .
AIRWAYS
proud arriing pariner of the

Olympie and Paralympic Grnes

The BA Great Britons Programme

will be re-taunching in May 2011 to
reflect the next step in British Airways’
journey towards London 2012 We
want to partner aspirng chefs, script
writers and artists with celebrities in
therr fields te help them make the
most of thetr abibties

Long after the Olympic and Paralympic
Games have left London, the BA Great
Britons Programme will continue to
offer flights to people with ideas and
passion that would benefit from

our help

Please get in touch with us if you
think you might qualify, and f 1it's
something that could help /mprove
British service, know-how or sense
of style, then so much the better
We are also supporting British
athletes through the World Class
Performance Programme with UK
Sport We are providing flights to
help competitors, their training staff,
management and famtltes on their
yourneys to London 2012

Bntish Airways employees are also
gearing up for the London 2012
Games through British Airways’
employee programme, which
offers a vanety of ways for staff

to get involved
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Community investment

At present we work with 75 community
and conservation organisations
worldwide We also have an extensive
educatuon programme for children

and young people at our Community
Learning Centre at Heathrow, which
has welcomed over 63,376 learners
since 1t opened In 1999

Qur 16 year partnership with UNICEF
came to a close in March 2010 We
raised more than £27 million through
the generous support of our customers
and colleagues through the Change
for Good programme Since the
partnership began we funded projects
in over 58 countries and all of the
projects we have supported leave a
valuable legacy for vulnerable children
in the communities where both Bntish
Airways and LINICEF operate

This year we were delighted to
announce our new global chanty
partnership with Comic Relief We
believe this partnership will strengthen
our long tradition of raising money to
support disadvantaged people in acute
need, both at home in the UK and
across the world's poorest countries

COMIC
RELIEF

Comic Rehef /
£335,000

Measuring our community investment

We continue to be a member of both
the London Benchmarking Group (LBG)
and Business in the Community {BitC)
The LBG's model 15 used to assess our
total contribution o the commurnity

Our Flying Start partnership with
Comic Relief raised £335,000 in the six
months to 31 December 2010

Some 3,335 retred and current
employees donated over £600,000
directly from their payroll to their
chosen chanues through our Giving
Scheme during the year

BitC reported our total direct and Iin-
kind donations for the year to March
2010 at £5 milion Of these, direct
chantable donations amounted to
£190,000 Information for the nine
months to December 2010 15 not
yet available

The Workplace

Face-to-face communication continues
to be important, we run regular briefings
across the Company so that as many
people as possible can meet, question
and share ideas with serior and hine
managers Live online forums have
also played therr part In encouraging
wider dialogue and understanding
Other communication channels
include a personalised intranet, mobile
SMS messaging, video and a range of
Company-wide and local newsletters

We continue to invest in finding new
and improved ways 1o engage with our
colleagues In the reporting perod we
introduced our weekly on-hine news
magazine and monthly publication
which has attracted an industry award —
Association of Pubhshing Agencies The
Award for Best Internal Communication
More importantly, both of these have
receved very high approval raungs from
our colleagues

Reward

We recognise how important reward

15 1In making British Awrways a great
business to work for We are committed
1o ¢reating an environment where

our colleagues feel valued and are
recognised fairly for the individual
contribution they make

One of our key aims is to provide total
reward packages which encourage high
performance and outstanding customer
service throughout the business To
support this aim, we continually look
for better ways to communicate with
colleagues about the rewards we offer
We want to offer them real flexibility
and the ability to choose benefits

that suit them, including in their
pension arrangements

Diversity

Diversity at Bnush Airways 15 about
inclusion of all our colleagues and
ensuring that we utihse their different
knowledge and perspectives to
maximise opportunities for innovation
and flexible thinking It 1s also about
anticipating and meeting the needs

of all cur customers to help gain
competitve advantage for our business

We have five active colleague network
groups who support the diversity
strategy and work with local areas to
provide information and advice on a
wide range of topics The areas covered
are gender, faith, disability, ethnic
background and sexual onentation

and colleagues of Bntish Airways get
involved in 1ssues such as advising

on uniform standards from a faith
perspective, design of new progducts to
ensure they meet the needs of disabled
customers and adwising on cuitural
differences relating to new routes such
as Saud) Arabia

Dignity at work remains a key

priority as we work towards a more
inclusive culture We have focused

on informal conflict resolution to
support colleagues by introducing
more tramed Harassment Advisors
across the business They can offer
practical advice and gwdance and
face-to-face discussion, avoiding more
formal processes Mediauon has also
been mtroduced and a small number
of trained colleagues ¢an now support
conflict resolution
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Busin ess review continued

"We mamtain an important
focus on disability as part
of our commitment to
corporate responsibility

Top 500 suppliers /

94% of total annual external spend

Payment performance /

90% paid within mutually agreed terms

“Obtaining best value from
our suppler base is critical
to our overall success, in
both a financial and an
operational sense ”

Diversity continued

As a responsible company, we take disability very seriously We welcome
applications from people with disabilines as we aim to employ the most talented
people and we support individuals with disabilities in reachung their full potential by
making reascnable adjustments for them in the workplace

All front line employees are trained in disability awareness to increase their
knowledge about disabled customers and employees

We maintain an important focus on disability as part of our commitment to
corporate responsibility Duning 2010 we held our first ever Disabled Customer
Forum We invited some of our regular disabled customers and also some
Paralympic athletes to come in and share theirissues and identify possible solutions
This 1s part of an ongoing process 1o ensure that we make contnuous IMprovements
to the journey for disabled customers prior to 2012 when London will host the
Paralympic and Olympic Games

Overseas branches

We fly to a number of destinations around the wortd {see Page 2) In addition to
the overseas branches we have established in many of these countries, we have
branches m countnes to which we do not fly

Suppliers

We procure goods and services through a strategic sourcing process to ensure that
we identfy the nght supphers and to put in place competitive supply contracts,
and we seek to build effective relationships to ensure that we continue to receive
maximum value from our supplier base through the duravon of the agreement

Top 500 supphliers

Our top 500 supphers represent some 94 per cent of our total annual external
spend, and we have continued to review the structure of our commercial deals
and the specification of goods and services being bought, resulting in considerable
savings over the year We will continue this process in the year ahead

Merger synergies

Joint procurement with Iberia is expected to deliver considerable savings and we
have been developing detalled plans to enable this to happen during the past
year The joint procurement synergies are expected 1o be delivered over a five
year penod

Suppher nisk

We have overhauled our suppher nisk assessment and monitoring process using
external company data and analytics, and now have a robust and objective
mechamsm In place

Payment performance

We conunue to mantain suppher payment performance around our target of 90
per cent of suppliers paid in accordance with mutually agreed terms The number of
days’ purchases in creditors at 31 December 2010 15 calculated in accordance with
the provisions of the Companies Act 2006 and was 36 days (March 2010 33 days)

Corporate responsibility in the supplier base

We have conunued to work on our ‘Responsible Procurement’ strategy, which

has three strands We are working with our supphers to reduce overall ermissions,
most prominently In investigating options for using biofuel in our arcraft We are
commuted to sourcing ethical suppliers and have defined what this means to us and
begun to assess the performance of our existing suppher base Finally we behave
responsibly towards our suppliers through using a far and transparent procurement
process and paying our suppliers on time
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Board of Directors

The names and detalls of the Directors are set out below. They all served during

the reportung penod from 1 April 2010 to 31 December 2010 and continued to
serve until the Merger Effective Date (21 January 2011). Some of the Directors

have continued to serve beyond the Merger Effective Date.

Chairman

Sw Marun Broughton — Board member since May 2000
becoming Chairman in july 2004 At the tme of his
appointment as Chairman, Martuin met the independence
critena set out In paragraph A 31 of the Combined Code
on Corporate Governance {June 2008) Chairman of the
Neminations Committee Martin was Chairman of Liverpool
Football Club and Athletic Grounds Limited until the end of
November 2010 He s also Chairman of Sports Investment
Partners Martin was appomnted as Deputy Chairman of
International Consohdated Airfines Group S A (IAG) on

29 June 2010

Chief Executive

Whilie Walsh — Executive Board member since May 2005,
becoming Chief Executive in October 2005 Formerly Chief
Executive of Aer Lingus, he 1s an honorary board member

of Fight Safety International Wilie 1s also President of the
London Chamber of Commerce and Industry, a member of
the IATA Board of Governors and a member of the Council

of The Air League He was President of the Asscaiation of
European Aurlines (AEA) for 2010 He was also appointed as
Chief Executive Officer of IAG on 29 June 2010 and moved to
his new role on the Merger Effective Date

Chief Financial Officer

Keith Wilhams — Executive Board member since January
2006 Having joined the arline in 1998 as Head of Taxation
and being addivonally appointed Group Treasurer in 2000,
Keith was appointed Chief Financial Officer in January 2006
He i1s a Non-executive Director of Transport for London

He was appointed Non-executive Director of ibena Lineas
Aéreas de Espaina S A (Iberia) until 26th January 2011 when he
became a Non-executive Director of Ibena Lineas Aereas de
Espafia Sociedad Anomina Operadora (Iberia OpCo) Keithis
a chartered accountant Keith was also appointed as a Director
of 1AG on 27 September 2010 He became Chief Executive
Officer of Bntish Arrways Plc from the Merger Effective Date

Non-executive Directors

Maarten van den Bergh — Independent Non-executive
Oirector since July 2002, Sentor Independent Director since
July 2004 Audit, Nominations and Remuneration Committees
unul the Merger Effecuve Date

Baroness Kingsmill — Independent Non-executive Director
since November 2004 Audit, Nominations and Safety Review
Committees until the Merger Effective Date A former Deputy
Chawrman of the Competuon Commission, she chaired the
Department of Trade and Industry’s Accounting for Pecple
task force She is a current member of the Microsoft European
Adwisory Council, member of PricewaterhouseCocpers
Advisory Board, Non-executive Director of Honzon plc and
Kom/Ferry International Baroness Kingsmill was appointed

as a Non-executive Director of IAG on 27 September 2010

Jim Lawrence — Independent Non-executive Director since
November 2006 Chairman of the Remuneration Commutiee
until the Merger Effective Date He became Chief Executive
Officer for Rothschild North America in June 2010 jim was
previously Chief Financial Officer of Unilever He was
appointed as a Non-executive Director of |1AG on

27 September 2010

Alison Reed — Independent Non-executive Director since
December 2003 becoming Deputy Charrman from the
Merger Effective Date Chairman of the Audit Committee unt)l
the Merger Effective Date, Remuneration Committee and
became Chairman of the Remuneration Committee from the
Merger Effective Date Alison was previously Chief Financial
Officer of Marks & Spencer plc and Standard Life plc She s a
chartered accountant With effect from 1 January 2011 Alison
became a Non-executive Director of DRS Data & Research
Services plc

Rafael Sinchez-Lozano Turmo — Non-executive Director
since December 2009 Safety Review Committee Rafael
was Managing Director and Chief Operaung Officer of Ibena
untl 26 Januwary 2011 and was then appointed as the Chief
Executive Officer of Iberia OpCo He was appointed as an
Executive Director of [AG 1in May 2010

Ken Smart — Independent Non-executive Director since
July 2005 Chairman of the Safety Review Comnmuttee Audit
Commuttee unt! the Merger Effective Date Ken s Chairman
of the UK Aviation and Manume Industries Confidential
Human Factors Inaident Reporting Programme (CHIRF),

a member of the Flight Safety Foundation Board of
Governors {untl December 2010) and a Visiting Professor
at Cranfield Unversity

Baroness Symons — Independent Non-executive Director
since July 2005 Audit and Safety Review Commuttees unti
the Merger Effectve Date Life peer since 1996 and Privy
Councillor since 1998 Former Deputy Leader of The House
of Lords and Minister of State from 1997 until 2005 when

she stepped down from government international adviser to
DLA Piper, Rio Tinto plc, Consohdated Contractors Company,
MerchantBndge, and Non-executive Director of Caparo Group

Company Secretary

Alan Buchanan — Joined the airfline i 1990 becormng
Company Secretary 0 Apnl 2000
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Management Board

In the day-to-day running of the Company, the Chief Executive
1s supported by the Management Beard, the members of
which, as at 31 December 2010, were the Chief Financial
Officer and

Robert Boyle — Director of Strategy and Business Units
Joined the airline 1n 1993 tn Corporate Finance, becoming
Director of Planning in 2004, Commercial Director from
October 2006 unul hus appointment on 1 January 2009
as Director of Strategy and Bustness Units

Garry Copeland — Dwector of Engineenng Joined the
arhne in 1989 Having held various positions including Chief
Powerplant Engineer and General Manager Engineering

and Quality Services, he became Director of Engineening in
September 2006

Andrew Crawley — Director of Sales and Marketing Joined
the airline in 1992 and has worked n a variety of sales,
marketing and operational roles in the UK, Europe and Asia
He became Director of Sales and Marketing on 1 January 2009

Silla Maizey — Acung Customer Director Joined the airtine
in 1978 and has held vanious posittons in Finance, Customer
Service and Operations Prior to her appointmeni as Acting
Customer Director on 1 January 2009, Silla was Head of
Corporate Responsibility

Roger Maynard — Director of Investments and Alliances Joined
the arrline n 1987 as Vice-President Commercial Affars North
Amenca, becoming Director of Corporate Strategy in May 1591
He was apponted Director of Investments and Joint Ventures in
December 1995, in late 2000 Alliances was added to his portfolio

Tony McCarthy — Director of People and Organisational
Effectiveness Joined the airhine in December 2007 from
Royal Mai

The members of the Management Board during the reporting
period were designated as persons discharging managenal
responsibdity, along with the ten Directors The members of
the Management Board all served untl the Merger

Effecuve Date

Board members of Bntish Airways as at 24 February 2011
(A) Charman — Marun Broughton,

{B) Chief Executve Officer of British Airways — Keith
Withams, and

{C) Two Executive Directors — Frank van der Post (formerly

Chief Operatng Officer at Jumeirah Group) and
Andrew Crawtey,

(D) Chief Financial Officer of IAG — Enngue Dupuy
de Lome,

Chief Executive Officer of Ibena OpCo —
Rafael Sanchez-Lozano Turmo, and

()

(F) Three Directors are designated as Non-executive

Directors by the holder of the Briush Airways B Shares
(being the UK Trustee) — Alson Reed, Ken Smart and
Gavin Patterson (Chief Executive, BT Retall and a mawn

Board member of BT Group plc)

Maarten van den Bergh, Baroness Symons, Baroness Kingsmill,

Jim Lawrence and Willie Walsh retired from the Board on the
Merger Effective Date

The Company's Articles of Association (adopted on 25 January
201) no longer require Directors to be subject to retirement
avery three years

with effect from the Merger Effective Date and as at

24 February 2011, the new Leadership Team s as follows
Alan Buchanan — Chief of Staff and Company Secretary,
Garry Copeland — Director of Engineening,

Andrew Crawley — Director Commercial,

Mana Da Cunha — Director of People, Legal and
Government Affairs,

Lynne Embleton — Director of Strategy and Business Units,
Andrew Lord — Director of Operations,

Silla Maizey — Managing Director of Gatwick,

Philip Osmond — Director of Business Services,

Stephen Riley — Director of Flight Operanons,

Tim Steeds — Director of Safety and Secunity, and

Frank van der Post — Managing Director Brands

and Customer Experience

The number of scheduled Board and Committee meetings attended by
each Director duning the reporting period is shown in the table below

Audit Nominations Remuneration Safaty Review
Committee Committee Committee Committee
Board Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
attended in the attended attended attended attended
Director period in the period in the penod i the penod in the penod
Total in the penod 8 5 5 6 3
Martin Broughton 7 S
Willie Walsh 8
Keith Wilhams 8
Maarten van den Bergh 8 S 5 6
Baroness Kingsmsll 8 5 5 3
hm Lawrence 8 6
Alison Reed 7 5 5
Rafael Sdnchez-Lozano Turmo 5 3
Ken Smart 8 5 3
Baroness Symons 7 3 2

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and share interests are set out in the report of the Remuneration Comimittee on pages 43 to 51
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Corporate governance

The Company 1s committed to high standards of Corporate governance.
The Board 1s accountable to the Company’s shareholders for good

Corporate governance.

Dunng the reporting period to which these financial
statements relate, the code of best practice, set out In
Section 1 of the Combined Code {June 2008) as amended
from ume to ume and appended to the Lisung Rules of the
Financial Services Authonty (the Combined Code), has been
adopted as the Company’s Corporate Governance statement
The Combined Code can be accessed on the Financial
Reporung Council’s website at www frc org/corporate

In accordance with the Listing Rules, the Company 1s required
to firstly, report on how 1t applies the main principles of the
Combined Code and secondly to confirm that it has applied
the Code's provisions or, where it has not, to provide an
explanation However, pursuant to the Merger, the premium
hsting of the Company's shares was cancelled and as such

1s no longer required to comply with the Combined Code
from the Merger Effective Date The Company now has a
standard hsung, and continues to be an issuer of debt The
Company has therefore, voluntanily decided to outhne the way
in which it applied the main and supporting principles in the
Code during the reporting peniod and up to and including the
Merger Effective Date, as detalled below

The Board

The Board provides entrepreneurial leadership of the
Company within a framework of prudent and effective
controls, which enables risk to be assessed and managed
The Board sets the Company's strategic aims, ensures
that the necessary financial and hurman resources are In
place for the Company to meet its objectives and reviews
management performance The Board sets the Company's
values and standards and ensures that its obligations 10 1ts
shareholders and others are understood and met

As a unitary Board, all directors are involved in, and
responsible for, the development of the Company's strategy
The Non-executive Directors review the performance of the
Company with the executive directors on a regular basis

The Board delegates certain of its functions to committees
consisting of Non-executive Directors, as detaled within this
report The Board of the Company routinely meets seven
umes a year and additionally when necessary to consider all
matters relatng to the overall control, business performance
and strategy of the Company, and for these purposes the
Board has drawn up a schedule of matters reserved for Board
decision, which it reviews at least annually Broadly, the Board
has reserved to itself major strategic and financial decisions,
including investment and divestment decisions, approval of
business and financial plans, approval of significant alhance
or codeshare partnerships, significant contracts and capnal
commitments of greater than £10 million

The Board 1s led by the Chairman and the executive
management of the Company 15 led by the Chief Executive
The Chairrman s responsibie for setting the Board agenda and
ensuring that it works effectively Working with the Secretary,
he ensures that Board Members receive accurate, nmely and
clear information

Of the ten members serving at the penod end, excluding
the Chairman, two were Executive Directors and seven were
Non-executive Directors (of which six were considered
independent for Combined Code purposes)

All seven Non-executive Directors were drawn from a diverse
range of business and other backgrounds, bringing a broad
spectrum of views and experniences to Board deliberations
This diversity of background and experience 1s identfied by
the Board Members as one of the strengths of the Board
Maarten van den Bergh was the Board's Senior Independent
Director In this role he was avatlable to the shareholders

if they had any concerns that they were unable to resolve
through normat channels, or when such channels would

be inappropnate He was also responsible for leading the
Board's discussions on the Charrman's performance

Following the Merger there 1s no longer a requirement
for the Company to have a Senior Independent Director

A statement of the Directors' responstbilities in respect
of the financial statements 1s set out on page 52 and a
statement on going concern is given on page 15

The Non-executive Directors scrutinise the performance
of the Management Team in order to be satisfied as to
the integnity and strength of financial information, controls
and nsk management They have a key role in appointng,
removing and succession planning of sentor management
and, through the Remuneration Committee, they are
responsible for determming approprate levels of
remuneration for the executive directors

Although the Non-executive Directors are eligible for
non-contractual travel concessions in addition {e their
fees, this 15 not considered to affect their independence

All Directors receive regular inforration about the Company
so that they can play as full a part as possible n Board meetings
Papers for Board and Commttee Meetings are typically
distnbuted in the week prior to the relevant meeting All

Board members have access to the Secretary for any further
informatien they require If any of the Non-executive Directors
has any concerns with the running of the Company, they would
first discuss these concerns with one of the Executive Directors,
the Secretary or the Chairman If their concerns cannot be
resolved in this way, then they are recorded in the Board
Minutes No such concerns arose during the reporting period

Non-executive Directors are encouraged to wisit the
Company's operation and to speak to customers and
employees They were also encouraged to attend the
annual Investor Day in May 2010, where they could discuss
Corporate Governance matters with major shareholders
Seven Non-executive Directors attended the 2010 Investor
Day Independent professional advice i1s also avalable to
Directors in appropnate circumstances, at the Company's
expense No such advice was needed duning the reporung
pencd In question
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The Secretary ensures that Board members receive an
appropnate Induction and further training as necessary

The Board receives briefings on changes in regulation or law,
as circumstances require

The Shareholder Circular dated 26 October 2010 stipulated
the imual compesition of the Board following the Merger and
further details can be found in the report of the Noeminations
Comimuttee set out on page 42

Rules about the appointment and replacement of Directors are
set out In the Company's Articles of Association The Directors’
powers are conferred on them by UK legislation and by the
Company's Articles of Association The Articles of Association
can be amended by special resolution of the shareholders

The appointment and removal of the Secretary 1s a matter
for the Board as a whole

Board committees

During the reporting period the Board had four specific
Committees Audit, Nominations, Safety Review and
Remuneration Each Committee met regularly under

their terms of reference as set by the Board A Standing
Committee, consisting of the Chairman or Senior Independent
Director, one Executive Directer and one Non-executive
Director, was also avallable when necessary The work carned
out during the period by each of the four Committees 1s
described in their respective reports Every Committee has
authority to take external advice as required

Following the Merger with |beria, the Company is no longer
required to have an Audu Commitiee The Company

will continue to have a Remuneration and Safety Review
Committee The Articles of Association provides for

a Nominauons Commuittee to be convened in certain
circumstances

The Board receives regular feedback on investors’ views As
part of Its commitment to ensuning that the Board presents a
balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s
financial positon and prospects, the Board received an
external view of the Company's investor relations activity
again during the reporting penod

Board performance evaluation

At the end of the financial year the Secretary would meet
privately with each member of the Board to review the
performance of the Board, its Committees and the indmvidual
Directors, the results of which would be presented to, and
considered by, the Board This would normally take place

in the fourth quarter, but this reporting perniod has been
shortened to nine months ending 31 December 2010 and
thus this has not taken place However a performance
evaluauon was undertaken during the calendar year and
was reported upon in the 2009/1C Company accounts

In addition, the Charrman and Non-executive Directors
typically meet without any executives present at least twice
each financial year Bunng this reporting penod they met
once without the executives present At least once a year,
the Non-executive Directors meet under the chairmanstup
of the Senmior Independent Director to review the
performance of the Chairman taking account of the views
of the Executive Directors

Relations with shareholders

The Company maintained regular contact with its major
nstitutional shareholders through its investor relations team,
through meetings with the executive directors and the
Chairman and through annual institutional investor events
The presentations from these events were avallable to private
shareholders through the Company’s investor relations
websize The annual Investor Day took place in May 2010

Private shareho!ders normally receive the Company’s
shareholder magazine twice a year and were encouraged

to express their views and concerns either In perscn at

the 2010 Annual General Meeung or by e-mail The main
themes were reported to the Board and responded to by the
Chairman i tus address at the 2010 Annual General Meeting

Nine of the ten Board members serving at the ume attended
the 2010 Annual General Meeting Since 2000, all vouing at
General Meetings has been by way of a poll to ensure that
the views of all shareholders are taken into account All 11
resolutions put to shareholders at the 2010 Annual General
Meeting were passed, with a minimum vote of 9192 per cent
In favour

On 29 November 2010, a General Meeting and a separate
Class Meeung of shareholders approved the Merger as set
out in the Nouces of Meetings contained in the Shareholder
Circular dated 26 Qctober 2010 The Shareholder Circular,
together with the Registration Document pubhshed on the
26 Ocrober 2010 and the Secuniles Note and Summary
pubhshed on 10 January 2011 are available on the website
www 1agshareholders com These meetings were attended
by erght of the ten Board Members serving at the ume and all
of the proposed resolutions were passed with the mimimum
vote of 99 80 per cent «n favour

The 2011 Annual General Meetng will be held before the end
of Apnl at the Company's registered office

Directors’ conflicts

with effect from 1 QOctober 2008, the new Companies Act
2006 provisions regarding directors’ conflicts of interest came
nto force These place directors under an obligaton to avoid
situations ansing on or after 1 October 2008 in which they
have, or can have, a direct or indirect interest that conflicts,

or may possibly conflict, with the interests of the Company
{Section 175(1)) This duty 15 not mfringed if the matter has
been authorised in advance by the Directors pursuant to
prowisions of the Arucles of Association permitaing them

to do so This duty does not apply to a conflict of interest
ansing 1n relation to a transaction or arrangement with the
relevant company directly (such as a contract of employment)

A register of authonsed interests 15 maintained by the
Secretary and updated by the Board as needed from time

to time, 1t was last updated during the reporting penod n
September 2010 Throughout the reporung penod and up

1o and ncluding the Merger Effective Date, the Company
complied with all relevant provisions set out in Section 1 of the
Combined Code

Directors’ and Officers’ hability insurance

The Company has purchased insurance against Directors’ and
Officers’ hability as permitted by the Companies Act 2006 for
the benefit of the Directors and Officers of the Company and
its subsidiaries
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The Company has granted roling indemnities to the Chairman,
Executive and Non-executive Directors and the Secretary,
uncapped in amount but subject to applicable law, in relation
to certain losses and liabilities which they may incur in the
course of acung as officers of companies within the Group
These indemnities also set out the terms on which the
Company may, in 1ts discreuon, advance defence costs

Political donations

At the Annual General Meeting n 2008, shareholders passed
a resolution to authorise the making of poliucal donations
and the incurnng of political expenditure for the purposes of
Section 367 of the Companies Act 2006 This authorisation
was taken on a four-year basis as a precaution only and the
Board had no present intention of using it In the event that
any pohtical donation were to have been made or politicat
expenditure incurred, the Company had committed itself to
seek further shareholder approval

The Company does not make political donations or incur
pohtical expenditure within the ordinary meaning of those
words and has no intention of doing so The amount of
pohtical donations made and politica!l expenditure incurred
duning the reporting penod to 31 December 2010 was £ril
(31 March 2010 £nil)

Post balance sheet events

There were no adjusting matenat post balance sheet events
occurning after 31 December 2010, except for the Merger, as
detailed in note 37, which was approved by the shareholders
on 29 November 2010 and became effective on the Merger
Effective Date as explained in the Shareholder Circular,
Registration Documents and Securittes Note published on 26
October 2010 and 10 January 2011, respectively

Internal Control and Risk Management

Internal control

The Directors are responsible for maintaining, and for reviewing
the effectiveness of, the Company's system of internal contro!
including internal financial control This 1s designed to prowide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance regarding (a) the
safeguarding of assets against unauthonsed use or disposition
and {b) the maintenance of proper accounung records and the
rehability of financial information used within the business or
for publication These controls are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the nsk of failure to achieve business objecuves
due to arcumstances which may reasonably be foreseen and
can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
aganst matenal misstatement or loss

Internal control over financial reporting

The Company has in place internal contro! and nisk
management systems n relation to the Company’s financial
reporting process and the Group's process for the preparation
of consolhdated accounts These systems are described
above and in more detall under the headings ‘Internal control
framework’ and ‘Risk management’

Duning the reporung peniod, no changes in risk management
and internal control systems over financial reporting have
occurred that have matenally affected, or are reasonably likely
to have matenally affected, the Group's financial reporting

Standing instructions

In response to The Bribery Act (2010), the Company has
re-launched its cade on business integnty covering matters
such as bribery, business conduct and ethics It 1s one of a
number of Standing Instructions to employees of the Group
designed to enhance internal control Along with the Finance
Standing Instructions, these are regularly updated and made
avallable to staff through the Company’s intranet

Organisational structure

A clear organisational structure exists, detathng hnes of
authority and control responsibiities The performance
management system establishes targets, reinforces
accountability and awareness of controls, and identifies
appropriate training requirements

information systems

Information systems are developed to support the Company's
long-term objectives and are managed by a professionally
staffed Technology Services team within the Business Services
directorate Appropriate pohcies and procedures are in place
covening all significant areas of the bustness

Strategic plan

The business agenda is determined by the strategy (pages
18-19) setting out the agreed targets for financial return and
service standards, and identifying and priontising improvement
opportuniues to deliver those targets Each year the Board
approves the strategy, which 1s supported by a detaifed
financial plan for the year ahead Progress against the plan

1s regularly monitored

Management accounting system

A comprehensive management accounting system Is in

place providing management with financial and operational
performance measurement indicators Detalled management
accounts are prepared monthly to cover each major area of
the business Vanances from plan and previous forecasts are
analysed, explained and acted on in a umely manner As well
as regular Board discussians, monthly meetngs were held by
the Management Board to discuss performance with specific
projects bemng discussed when required Throughout 2010,
the Capital Investment Committee, chaired by the Chief
Financial Officer, was instrumental in mamntaming tight control
of capital and major contract expenditure and headcount,

All major corporate programmes are audited regularly

Internal control framework

Effective Corporate Governance remains key to the business
The Company continues to review its internal control
framework to ensure It mantains a strong and effecuve
internal contret enviranment Dunng the reporting penod,
the effecuveness of the framework was regularly reviewed
by the Management Board

Business cantrols are reviewed on an ongoing basis by the
wnternal control funciion which operates internationally and
to a programme based on nisk assessment Professionally
quahfied personnel manage the department with experience
gained from both nside and cutside the industry A risk-
based audit plan, which prowides assurance over key business
processes and commercial and financial risks facing the
Company, was approved by the Audit Committee quarterly
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The Audit Commuttee considered significant control matters
rarsed by management and both the internal and external
auditors and reported its findings to the Board Where
weaknesses were identified, the Audit Commuttee ensured
that management took appropnate action No significant
fathngs or weaknesses were dentified during 2010

Risk management

The Company has a structure and process to help identify,
assess and manage nsks This process has been in place
throughout the reporting period to which these statements
apply and up to the date of their approval

During the reportng period, the Risk Group consisted of the
Management Team, the Head of Corporate Risk and [nternal
Control and key senior executives Meeting quarterly, it
reviews the Company’s key risks contained in the corporate
nsk register and ensures that all new and emerging risks are
appropriately evaluated and any further actions identfied
The Risk Group also provides policy and guidance to those
responsible for managing the individual nsks and to the
departmental risk leaders

The management of each major area of corporate nisk 1s
subject 1o review by an appropnate 'assurance body' This
includes a review of the controls in place to mitigate the
rsks and the further actions being taken by management
The Risk Group reported quarterly to the Audit Committee
to assist the Board in the management of nsk in accordance
with the October 2005 Revised Guidance for Directors on
the Combined Code (June 2008) The 2010 UK Corporate
Governance Code only applies to accounting periods
commencing on or after 29 June 2010

The nsk management process includes multiple opportunities
for ngorous discussion and debate to assess the relative profile
of each risk to the other The outcame includes a heat map
Ths plots each cntical sk on an impact and probability scale
For each crinical nsk, mitugating acuons exist and are actively
managed Thus process is iterative and refreshed on an ongoing
basis This report does not include the mapped results and
mitigating actions for the pnncipal nsks because of the sensitive
commercial nature of some of management’s plans

Liquidity risk 1s discussed in more detall within the Directors’
Report on page 15 The Company’s Treasury Commuttee,
chaired by the Group Treasurer, 1s responsible for managing
hiquidity nisk and operates within clearly defined parameters

Auditor

Resolutions to reappoint the retinng audstor, Ernst & Young LLP,
and to autheonse the directors to determine Its remuneration
will be proposed ai the 2011 Annual General Meeting

Receipts and returns to shareholders
Dividend

The Board has decided not to recommend the payment
of a final dividend (31 March 2010 il pence per share)
Share 1ssues, buy-backs and treasury shares

In ne with the Companies Act 2006, which abolished the
concept of authornised share capital, the Company removed
references to authonsed share capital from its Arucles

of Association

Duning the reporting period ended 31 December 2010
there has been an increase in the 1ssued share capnal

of the Company, details of which are set out i the sections
headed ‘Shares and shareholders’ and 'Capital structure
and shareholder rights', respecuvely

Under UK legislation, the Board can be gven authority to
allot shares by the passing of an ordinary resolution at a
general meeting of the Company Dunng the reporung peniod
the Board had authority 1o allot shares of the Company up

to an aggregate normunal value of £95 milkon by virtue of

a resolunion passed at the Annual General Meeung of the
Company held on 13 July 2010 This authority expires on

12 July 2011

Without prejudice to any special nghts previously conferred
on the holders of any shares or class of shares for the ume
being 1ssued, any share of the Company may be 1ssued with
such preferred, deferred or other special nghts, or subject

to such restrictions, whether as regards dividend, return of
capntal, voung or otherwise, as the Company may from time
to time by ordinary resolution deterrmine (or, in the absence
of any such determination, as the Board may determine)
and, subject to the provisions of applicable company law, the
Company may issue any shares which are, or at the option of
the Company and/or the holder are, liable to be redeemed

The Company 15 authonsed to conduct share buy-backs of

up to approximately 10 per cent of the 1ssued ordinary share
capital This s subject to certain hrmitations relatng to the
maximum and mimmum prices that may be paid for any shares
bought back This authority 1s only exercised if the Board
considers the buy-back to be in the interests of shareholders
as a whole The Company has not conducted any share
buy-backs since the authority was first obtamed

If the Company were to buy-back shares they would be

held in treasury, so they could be sold quickly {subject to
nsider dealing rules) and cost effecuvely, giving the Company
addiwonal flexibility in the management of its capital base
Whilst in treasury, the shares would be treated as if cancelled so
that no dividends would be paid on them and they would have
no voting nghts No shares were held in treasury during the
reporting penod ended 31 December 2010 (31 March 2010 nil)

Shares and sharecholders

The number of ordinary shares 1ssued and fully paid as at

31 December 2010 was 1,153,689,000 (31 March 2010
1,153,674,000) The increase over 31 March 2010 reflects
the 1ssue of new ordinary shares to sausfy the share options
exercised during the reporuing penod ended 31 December
2010 under the British Airways Share Option Plan 1999,
The Briush Airways Long Term Incentive Plan 1996 and the
vesting of shares awarded under the Deferred Share Plan

as set out tn notes 31 and 32 to the financial statements
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Capital structure and shareholder rights

During the reporting period, the share capital of the Company
was divided into ordinary shares of 25 pence each and one
special voting share of 25 pence All ordinary shares have
equal nghts to dividends and capital and to vote at general
meetings of the Company The rnights attached to the ordinary
shares, in addition to those conferred on their holders by law,
were set out tn the Company's Articles of Association

The special voung share had no dividend nghts, imted capital
rights and restricted voting rights The sale function of the
special voting share was to ensure that the votes capable of
being cast by the UK shareholders of the Company, taken

as a whole, need never fall below a majority Its voting nghts
would only be tnggered if the number of UK shares represent,
or were reasonably likely to represent at the time of the next
scheduled Annual Generalt Meeting, 50 per cent or less of the
13sued ordinary share capital and of the Board considered thart,
as a result, any air service operating right which was granted

10, or emoyed by, the Company would have been materially
restncted, suspended or revoked Once its votng rights had
been tnggered, the special voting share enutled the holder to
such number of votes as, when aggregated with the votes which
were capable of being cast by holders of the UK shares, were
equal to 50 per cent of the total number of votes which are
capable of being cast, plus one On any resolution, votes cast by
the holder of the special voting share were oanly able to be cast
n the same manner and proportion as the votes cast by the
UK shareholders The special voting share, which was held by
The Law Debenture Trust Corporation Plc was redeemed on 17
January 2011

In August 2009, the Company i1ssued £350 million* 5 8 per
cent Convertible Bonds due 2014 (the Bonds) The Bonds are
convertible into fully paid ordinary shares of the Company at
a price of 189 pence per share and will mature on 14 August
2014 The Bonds may be redeemed before 13 August 2014 at
the option of the Company (subject to certain condiions) in
certain circumstances, including if conversion nghts have been
exeraised In respect of 85 per cent or more of the Bonds

As part of the Merger, a structure was put in pface to ensure
that the Company 1s able to sausfy its obligations to deliver
|AG shares under the Bonds after the Company's shares were
de-listed 1AG will gran: the Company the night to procure the
1ssue of IAG Shares to nominated subscribers

Further details can be found in the Shareholder Circular and
Registration Documents published on the 26 October 2010
and made avallable on the website www iagshareholders com

Throughout the reporting penod the Company mantamed
an Amencan Depositary Receipts {ADR) programme in the
US as aLevel | programme This meant that the Company's
ADRs were traded on the over-the-counter market The ratio
was changed from 10 shares per ADR to 5 shares per ADR
on 1 September 2010

Accordingly each ADR was equwvalent to 5 ordinary shares and
each ADR holder was enutled to the financial nghts attaching
to such shares, although the ADR depositary was the registered
holder of the shares

The prncipal amount of £0 9 million converted inte Bnnish Airways Plc
shares before the British Atrways scheme became effective

On 6 December 2010, Deutsche Bank was appointed as the
Depositary Bank. As at 31 December 2010, the equivalent of
3 2 milhon shares were held in ADR form (31 March 2010

21 2 million)

In order to protect the air service operating nghts of the
Company, the number of ordinary shares held by non-UK
nationals 1s momtored, as 1s the number of ordinary shares
held by persons who are not nationals of states compnsing
the European Economic Area (EEA) At 31 December 2010,
40 per cent of the ordnary shares of the Company were
held by non-UK nationals (31 March 2010 41 per cent) and
19 per cent of the ordinary shares were held by persons who
were not nationals of states compnsing the EEA (31 March
2010 18 per cent)

Share structure following the merger

Full details of the Company’s Share Structure are contained
in the Shareholder Circular and Registration Document
published on 26 Qctober 2010, which can be found an

the website www 1agshareholders com

Following the Merger, the share capital of the Company 15
divided into Al shares, A2 shares and B shares The rights
attaching to these shares are as set out in the Company's
Articles of Associauon adopted on 25 January 2011

Waiver of dividends

The British Airways Employee Benefits Trust {Jersey) Limited,
which holds British Airways shares for the purpose of
satisfying awards and options granted to employees under
the Company's employee share schemes, has waved its nghts
to dividends The Trustee does not vote on the shares that it
holds At 31 December 2010 there were 795,733 shares held
in the Trust (31 March 2010 1,086,001)

Impact of change of control

The following sigrificant agreements contain provisions
entithng the counterparties to exercise termination or other
rights in the event of a change of control of the Company

The Jomnt Business Agreement between (1) American
Aurhines Inc, (2) Briish Airways Plc, and (3) Iberia Lineas
Aereas de Esparia, S A which was approved in July 2010
and began operating 1n October 2010,

»  The Shareholder Circular and the Registration Document
published on the 26 October 2010, which set out the
details of the Merger,

+  All of the Company's share schemes contain provisions
relating to a change n control Other than the Performance
Share Plan, which is subject to the satisfaction of any
performance conditions at that ume, all outstanding options
would normally vest and become exercisable on a change
of control The Directors have determined that following
the Merger with Ibena all options wili rollover into IAG,

Codeshare agreements with Aer Lingus, Cathay Pacific,
Finnarr, Flybe, JAL, Kingfisher, LAN, Malev, Mendiana Fly,
and Royal Jordanian, and

+  Contracts to sell miles to Alaska Aurtines, Amencan Aurlines,
Amencan Express Services Europe Limited, Chase Bank
USA N A, Lioyds TSB plc, Royal Bank of Canada and
Tesco Stores Limited
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Neither of the executive Directors’ service contracts (who served during the reporting period) provided for compensation to be
paid in the event of change of control of the Company

As at 31 December 2010 there were 196,585 shareholders (31 March 2010 209,129) An analysis 15 given below

Size of Percentage of Percentage of Classification of Percentage of Percentage
shareholding shareholders shares shareholding shareholders of shares
1-1,000 8820 441 individuals 9837 1960
1,001- 5,000 1041 348 Bank or Nominee 135 7894
5,001-10,000 080 095 Insurance companies (o] 8] oo
10,001 - 50,000 034 112 Pension trusts ool 030
50,001 -100,0600 005 061 Investment trusts 002 021
100,001 - 250,000 006 175 Qther corporate bodies 024 0954
250,001 - 500,000 004 216
500,001 - 750,000 002 195
750,001 - 1,000,000 002 240
Qver 1,000,000 006 8113

100 00 100 00 100 00 100 00

Shareholders of the Company following the Merger and as at 26 January 2011

Name Share class Parcentage of total 1ssued share cap:tal held
IAG Al 4492%
Ibena Lineas Aéreas de Espana

Sociedad Anéima Operadora A2 4 08%
LDC (NCS) Limited 8 51%
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Report of the Audit Committee

Members for the reporting period

Alison Reed (Chairman), Maarten van den Bergh,
Baroness Kingsmill, Ken Smart and Baroness Symens

The Board s satsfied that Ahson Reed had recent and
relevant financial experience for the purposes of paragraph
C 31 of the Combined Code for the reporung penod
Following the Merger the Company 1s no longer required to
have an Audit Committee

The Committee met five umes durnng the reporting penod
ended 31 December 2010

In addinion to the Secretary, regular attendees at Committee
meetings, at the invitation of the Committee, included the
Chairman, the Chief Executive, Chief Finanaial Officer, the
Head of Corporate Risk and Internal Control, the Group
Financial Controller, the Group Reporting Manager and
representatives from the external auditor Other senior
management were nvited to attend when the business of the
Commuttee requires in particular areas such as Information
Technology Duning the course of the year the Committee
also held closed meetings and met privately with both the
external and internal auditors

The Audit Committee was responsible for exercising the full
powers and authonty of the Board in accounting and financial
reporting matters

The key duties of the Commuttee included to

*  Monitor the integnity of the quarterly financial statements
of the Company, and any formal announcements relating
to the Company's financial performance, reviewing
significant financial reporting judgments contained
in them,

« Rewview the effectiveness of the Company's
internal financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems,

= Monitor and review the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal audu function,

«  Make recommendations to the Board, for it to put to the
shareholders for therr approval in general meetings, in
relation to the appomtment, re-appomntment and removal
of the external auditor and 10 approve the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditor,

» Review and monitor the external auditor’s ndependence
and objectvity and the effectiveness of the audit process,
tzking into consideratton relevant professional and
regulatory requirements,

+  Develop and implement policy on the engagement of the
external auditor to supply non-audit services, taking into
account relevant ethical guidance regarding the provision of
non-audit services by the external audit firm and to report
to the Board, [dentifying any matters in respect of which it
considers that action or improvement is needed and making
recommendations as to the steps to be taken, and

« Establish and maintain procedures for processing
complaints regarding accounting, internal controls or
auditing matters and to review the Company's procedures
for the confidential and anonymous subrmission by
Company employees of concerns regarding questionable
accounting or audiing matters

items reviewed during the reporting
period included:

Financial reporting

The Commuttee reviewed the draft annual and interim
management reports before recommending their publication
to the Board The Commuttee discussed with the Chief
Executive, Chief Financial Officer and external auditor the
significant accounting policies, estimates and judgements
appled in prepanng these reports The Committee also
reviewed the draft interirm management statements

Going concern and liquidity risk

The Committee reviewed in detail the Financial Reporting
Council’s guidance for Directors in relation to going concern
and hquidity nsk published in QOctober 2009 as well as its
paper entutled Challenges for Audit Commuttees arising from
current economic conditions published in November 2009
This year there has been continued strong focus on debt
and liquidity management
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Internal control and risk management

The Committee reviewed the nisk management process
and discussed the inherent risks faced by the business
Risk management activities take place throughout the
organisation to support the Committee in its Corporate
Governance responsibilittes, working with the business o
proacuvely and effectively manage nisk This, together with
the related controls and assurance processes, is designed
to identify, evaluate and manage nsk and to ensure that the
resultant residual nsks meet the nsk appetite of the Board
The principal risks and uncertainties are outlined in the
relevant section on pages 22 and 23

The Committee has an ongoing process for reviewing the
effectiveness of the system of internal controls and of the
internat audit function Duning 2010, 1t reviewed and approved
the nsk-based audit plan and the staffing levels in Internal
Control to ensure it had sufficient resources to fulfil the
agreed plan It considered reports from the Internal Control
team summarising the audit findings and recommendations
and describing actions taken by management to address
any shortfalls It also reviewed how the audit function was
performing aganst the relevant standards published by the
Insnitute of Internal Auditors

The business recently introduced an updated business
integrity policy, which provides greater clanty and guidance
in respect of Bnush Airways' expectations of its employees
This revised code has been supported by a mandatory
training course for all colleagues, which will be rolled out
further in the organisation in the future

External audit

The Committee reviewed the external audit strategy and the
findings of the external auditor from its review of the intenm
announcement and its audit of annual financial statements
The Commuttee zlso reviewed the scope and costs of the
external audit The Commuttee has a clear policy regarding
non-audit services that may be provided by the external
auditor, which prohibits certain categones of work and
controls the overali level of expenditure Pre-authorisation 1s
required for all non-audit work

Whistleblowing

The confidenual helpline run by Safecall, which allows
employees 10 raise concerns, 1s working well and confidence

in it 1s growing The Committee received regular reports on the
confidential reporting system to ensure that the Company's
whistleblowing processes are working appropnately The
Commuittee recewed six monthly reports on the work of the
Company's network of harassment advisors

Merger with lbena

The Committee convened a special meeting to review in

detail the procedure and steps involved in the Merger In
particular, 2 review was undertaken of the Shareholder Circular
and the Registration Documents that were published on

26 October 2010

Auditor independence

The Commttee reviewed the work undertaken by the external
auditor and each year assesses 1ts independence, objectivity
and performance In doing so, 1t took into account relevant
professional and regulatory requirements and the relationship
with the auditor as a whole, including the prowvision of any
non-audit services The Committee monitored the auditor's
compliance with relevant regulatory, ethical and professional
guidance on the rotation of partners, and assesses annually
its qualifications, experuse, resources and the effectiveness
of the audit process, including a report from the external
auditor on 1ts own internal quality procedures Having
reviewed Ernst & Young’s performance during the reporting
penod ended 31 December 2010, the Commuttee decided

it was in the Group's and shareholders’ interests not to
tender the external auditor in 2011 and recommends the
re-appointment of Ernst & Young LLP

Other 1ssues

Detalls of the fees paid to the external auditor during the
period from 1 Apnl 2010 to 31 December 2010 can be found
in note 5 to the financial statements .

.
The terms of reference of the Commuttee are normally
reviewed at least annually and any changes are recommended
tc the Board Followng the Merger, the Company will no
longer have an Audit Committee
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Report of the Nominations Committee

Members for the reporting period,

Marun Broughton (Chairman), Maarten van den Bergh and
Baroness Kingsmill

The Chairman chaired the Commustee and all other members
of the Committee were independent Non-executive Directors
All Non-executive Board members were invited to atiend its
meetings and the Chief Executive attended as necessary No
Board member participated in any discussion of his or her
own performance The Comrmittee wrote terms of reference
covering the authonity delegated to it by the Board

The Nominations Committee met at least once a year,

and additionally if required, 1o consider the balance

of the Board's membership, to identify any additional skills

or experience which might enhance the Board’s performance,
and to interview candidates and recommend appointments
to or, where necessary, removals fromn the Board The
Commiitee’s remit also included a review of corporate
governance and succession planning

in relation to the appomntment of new Board members, the
process that was used for the nomination of new candidates
started with the identificanion of the skills and experience
needed to maintain or enhance the diversity of skills and
expenence on the Board In most cases this would result in
the use of an independent search firm

An independent search firm was used for a new
Non-executive Director which resulted in the appomntment
of Gavin Patterson to the Board with effect from

1 February 2011

Separate searches resuited in the appointment of two of
the new Executive Directors, Frank van der Post who joined
the Board as Managing Drector Brands and Customer
Experience on 17 January 2011 and Nick Swift who will be
Joining the Board as Chief Financial Officer on 7 March 2011

An independent search firm was also used to assist in the
selection of two independent Non-executive Directors for the
Board of IAG, although this was technically outside the terms
of reference of the Commuttee

Merger

Following the Merger, the Company 15 no longer required to
have a Nominatuons Commitiee and any further meetngs
of the Nomnations Committee will be held as per the
Company's Articles of Association

Directors are no longer required to submit themselves for
re-election every three years As explained in the Shareholder
Circutar dated 26 October 2010, the initial composition of the
Board following the merger s as follows Sir Marun Broughton
continues as Chairman and Keith Williams was appointed as
Chief Executive Officer from the Merger Effective Date Frank
van der Post was appointed on 17 January 2011 and Andrew
Crawley was appointed on Merger Effective Date as Executive
Directors Further nominations included, the Chief Financial
Officer of IAG Enngue Dupuy de Léme, the Chief Executive
Officer of Ibena OpCo Rafael Sdnchez-Lozano Turmo and
three Non-executive Directors as designated by the holders
of the Briish Airways B shares, these being Alison Reed, Ken
Smart and Gavin Patterson

Any further appointments following the Merger will be made
In accordance with the Company's Articles of Association

Report of the Safety Review Committee

Members

The members dunng the reporting pertod were Ken Smart
{Chairman), Baroness Kingsmull, Baroness Symons and
Rafael Sanchez-Lozano Turmo Following the Merger,
Baroness Kingsmull and Baroness Symons retired (Merger
Effective Date) and were replaced by Gavin Patterson on

1 February 2011

The Safety Review Committee meets at least four times a
year to consider matters relating to the operational safety
of the arrline and subsidiary airlines, as well as health and
safety issues

The Safety Review Committee reviews reports from the
various safety boards within the airline including the semor
management'’s Safety Review Board Where appropnate the
Committee also reviews relevant reports published by the
UK Air Accident Investigation Branch {AAIB), major incidents
to other operators and externat reports Durmng 2010 1ssues
raised at the Safety Review Committee included the

«  AAIB report into the Boeing 777 take-off incident In
St Kitts on 26 September 2009,

+ Ensuning safe operations were resumed as soon as
possible following the eruption of Mt Eyjafjallajokull on
14 Apnl 2010, and prepanng and leading the industry's
response to the resulung unprecedented closure of
arspace by the UK Civil Aviat:ion Authonty (CAA),

+  Circumstances surrounding the farlure of a 'D Duct’ on
a Boeing 777 Rolls-Royce Trent engine whilst in flight from
Stngapore 1o Heathrow on 14 june 2010, and

«  The circumstances surrounding the death on board
of a deportee whilst under escort by guards contracted
by the Government on 12 October 2010, and

The Chief Executive 1s the named Accountable Manager for
the Company for the purposes of the Air Operators Certificate
and EU Ops (EU Ops are prescnbed in Annex 191 to EU
Regulation No 3922/1991) As the Accountable Manager, he
chairs quarterly meetings of the Safety Review Board with the
four Nominated Postholders (the executives responsible to the
CAA for safety in the varnious operational depantments of the
Company) along with the Director of Safety and Secunty, the
Head of Aviauon Safety. the Head of Operational Safety and
the Head of Cperational Risk and Comphance These meetings
review operational compliance, quality and safety, monitor the
effecuveness of the corporate safety management system and
agree cross-departmental policy as appropnate
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Report of the Remuneration Committee

This report covers the reporting pernod from 1 April 2010 to

31 December 2010 and provides details of the Remuneration
Committee and policy for the Company. Following the Merger Effective
Date, Sir Martin Broughton's, Keith Willlams's and Willie Walsh’s
remuneration will be determined by the I1AG Remuneration Committee.

information not subject to audit

Members during the reporting period

Jim Lawrence (Chairman), Maarten van den Bergh and
Alison Reed served as Commitiee members dunng the
reporting period

Members from the Merger Effective Date

Alison Reed (Chairman from 21 January 2011), Gawin Patterson
{from 1 February 2011} and Ken Smart (from 21 January 2011)
Jim Lawrence {Chairman to 21 january 2011) and Maarten van
den Bergh both retired from the Board following the merger
between British Airways and Ibena on the Merger Effective Date

Committee members are ali independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company, none of whom has any perscenal
financial interest, other than as a shareholder, in the matters
to be decided

Committee and advisers

Duning the reporting penod, the Company's Remuneration
Commuttee determinad on behalf of the Board, within

the agreed terms of reference, the overall remuneration
packages for the Chairman, the Executive Directors and
the other members of the management team (as defined
in the Commitzee’s terms of reference)

The Committee’s matn duttes were

«  To determine the framework or broad policy for the
remuneration of the Chairman, the Executive Directors
and the other members of the Management Board
including incentive compensation plans and equity
based plans,

= Wwithin the terms of the agreed policy, to determine
the total remuneration packages for the Chairman,
the Executive Directars and the other members of
the Managernent Team, and

*  To determine policy for and scope of pension
arrangements, service agreements, termination payments
and compensauon commitments, undertaking direct
supervision of such matters in relation to the Executive
Directors and other members of the Management Board

The Committee has three main meeungs every financial

year The first meenng, typically held in the first quarter of
the financial year, assesses performance \n the pnor year

and considers bonus awards in relation to that year, reviews
salary levels and determines the level of awards to be granted
under the long-term incentive schemes The second meeting,
typically held in the third quarter of the financial year, 15 a

planmng meeting for the next year to review the market
trends and 1ssues of interest to Investors Imitial proposals
for any new rermuneration schemes would be considered
at this meeung The third meeung, typically held in the
fourth quarter of the financial year, considers the bonus
and long-term incentive targets for awards to be made in
the following year Additional meetings are held as required

The Company participated 1n four main salary survey
sources during the reporting pertod, run by Hay,
PricewaterhouseCoopers {PwC), Hewitt New Bridge Street
{Hewtt) and Towers Watson Data was extracted from
each of these in determiming the Company's approach to
base-pay market rates, and wdentifying compexitive market
practice in respect of the other remuneration elements

The Remuneration Committee was, however, aware of the
nsk of an upward ratcheting of remuneraticn that can result
from over reliance on pay surveys

Following a review of the independent external advisors 1o
the Commuittee in tate 2009, Hewitt was re-appointed and
provided advice to the Commiitee Its terms of reference
for the reporting period were available for inspection on
the Company's investor relations website

The Chairman, Chief Executive, Chief Financial Officer,
Secretary, Director of People and Organisational Effectiveness
and Head of Reward, all assisted the Commuttee in its
dehberations but none of them participated in any decisions
relating to their own remuneration None of those who
matenally assisted the Committee in its deliberations was
appointed by the Remuneration Commuttee other than
Hewitt Hay provided no services to the Company other
than advice on remuneration matters dunng the nine-month
period ending 31 December 2010 In addition to its advice
on remuneration, Hewtt also provided some advice to the
Company on pension matters and PwC also provided minor
advisory services

Towers Watson provided actuanal advice to the Trustees

of the Briuish Airways pension schemes and to the Company
Where appropnate, the Committee consulted with major
nvestors about its proposals

From the Merger Effective Date, the remuneration for

Sir Marun Broughton, Keith Williams and Wilhe Walsh s
determined by the IAG Remuneration Commitiee as set
out in the Shareholder Circular and Registration Document
published on 26 October 2010 After the Merger, the
Remuneratnon Commuttee will continue to determine the
remuneration of Directors and senior executives of Briish
Atrways Plc
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Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

Policy for 2010

Executive Directors

The Company’s remuneration policy dunng the 2010 reporting
pertod was to provide compensation packages at market

rates which reward successful performance and attract, retain
and motivate managers The Company amed to provide
remuneration packages which are broadly comparable with
other UK based international businesses of similar size

In fixing packages, the Commuttee had regard to the
compensation commitments which would result in the event
of early termination and took account of pay and employment
conditions of employees elsewhere 1n the Group

The Commuttee 15 sausfied that the compensation packages,
which were set by reference to market base salary and
incentive pay levels and took account of the Company's Key
Performance Indicators, did not raise any environmental,
social or governance risks by inadvertently mouvaung
irresponsible behaviour or undue nsk taking

As noted In the previous Remuneration Report, the
Remuneratuon Comrmittee was well aware of the challenging
economic ervironment and i1ts severe impact on the
Company’s finances, but 1t also recognised that it was very
important to incentivise and retain management to drive
the business forward while continuing to attract top talent
from outside the organisation

The package for the Executive Directors for 2010 consisted
of a base salary, benefits-in-kind (including private health

care, a car and fuel and non-contractual travel concessions),
pension, an annual bonus scheme (including a deferred
element payable in shares) and participation in the
Performance Share Plan The expected value of performance-
relatedt vanable remuneration, through the bonus scheme

and awards under the Performance Share Plan, represented
approximately one half of total target remuneration (excluding
pension arrangements)

The Committee assessed remuneration packages on a total
remuneration basis, taking into account the value of each of
the indwvidual elements of the package The policy aimed to
target base salanies at around the market median The strategy
for incentive pay was intended to mcrease the expected value
to make the package more market-competitive for Executive
Directors, but to retain as its aim the achievement of a market
median value, subject to the achievement of stretching targets
Between them, the elements of the remuneration package
provided a good balance between the achievernent of short
and longer-term goals linked to the creation of shareholder value

Base salary

The base salary reflected the level of responsibility of the
Executive Director, external market value considerations
and individua! performance The Commuttee’s objective was
to posiion base salanies around the market median level
compared against companies of similar size In reviewing base
salary, independent external advice was taken on salanes

for comparable jobs in similar sized companies from the
survey sources referred to previously The Commuttee had
regard to the performance of the ndviduals and the pay and
employment conditions elsewhere in the Company when
determining 2nnual salary increases

The base salaries for the Executive Directors, which took
effect from 1 July 2008, presented on the basis of annualised
amounts, were

2010 200972010
Wilhe Walsh £735,000 E735,000
Keith Williams £440,000 £440,000

Annual bonus

As reported last year, the Committee determined that it would
be appropriate to parually restore the level of annual bonus
opportumties 1o two-thirds of the 2008/09 maxima The
amount of annual bonus available for distnbution for 2010/11
was therefore a maximum hmit of 100 per cent of salary for the
Chief Executive, 82 5 per cent of salary for the Chief Financial
Officer and 66 6 per cent for senior executives generally Any
award would only be payable half in cash and half in deferred
shares which would vest after three years (under the British
Aurways Deferred Share Plan 2005 as detaled on page 51)

The Committee gave significant consideratton to the
performance metrics for the 2010/11 plan Recognising the
importance of the key strategic ininatives for the Company,
the Committee considered that it was appropriate to base
30 per cent of the bonus payable to the Executive Directors
on the achievemnent of strategic targets relating to the Ibena
Merger, the Joint Business Agreement with American Airlines
and lberg, agreeing a recovery plan in respect of the pension
deficits, and an improvement in industrial relations For other
senior managers, 30 per cent of the bonus was assessed
with reference to personal objectives with 40 per cent of
the bonus based on operating profit, based on achievement
of the Financial Plan, with a shding scafe so that full payment
required performance to be significantly better than Plan and
no payment being made if there was an operating loss The
threshold for 2010/11 represented a significant improverment
on the target for 2009/10 Finally, 15 per cent was based on
customer recommendaton and 15 per cent on punctualty
The two non-financial measures are two of the Company's
Key Performance Indicators and are more fully described on
page 20 and 21 The customer recommendation measure was
based on the percentage of customers who say that they are
‘extremely ikely' or ‘very likely’ to recommend Briuish Awrways
Punctuality was measured on the basis of the percentage of
Brtish Airways’ flights that are prepared for departure and
‘Ready to Go’ at three minutes before the scheduled
departure time

For both customer recommendation and punctuahty, the
Committee again set a shding scale around the targets for
the reporung penicd, with significant stretch required above
the target to earn full payment

For all of the metnics, 25 per cent of the potenual bonus

was payable for reaching a threshold level of performance,
with 50 per cent payable at target and 100 per cent at stretch
with straight-hne vesting between these points

The Committee retaned the discretion to prevent any bonus
payments if, in its opinion, the financial performance of the
Company had not been sausfactory in the circumstances

{t was agreed that iIf the Merger with Ibena was completed on
ume, the financial year would be shortened 10 nine months
ending 31 December 2010 for consistency with IAG's financial
year-end
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The bonus targets were structured so that they could apply to
a full financial year or, based on the Ibena Merger umetable,
to a nine maonth pericd until 31 December 2010 (with bonus
prorated down to nine-twelfths)

The Committee determined that bonus awards would

be payable to the Executive Directors reflecung the
Company's actual performance for the nine month period
ending 31 December 2010 Bonus awards were based on
the operating profit result being considerably ahead of the
stretch target, punctuality performance between threshold
and target level and customer recommendation being below
threshold level The pro-rated nine month bonus awards
to the Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer were
£420,000 and £207,000 respectively, half of which is
payable in deferred shares in |AG vesting after three years

Long ferm incentive arrangements
Brnitish Airways Performance Share Plan 2005 (PSP)

Up until the Merger, the British Airways Performance Share
Plan 2005 (PSP} was the long-term incentive plan operated
for key senior executives of the Company, those most directly
nvolved in shaping and delivering the medium to long-term
business goals of the Company The plan was approved by
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting in 2005

The PSP consisted of an award of the Company's shares which
vests subject to the achtevement of pre-defined performance
condinions (see below} in full or in part at the third anniversary
of award No payment was required from individuals when the
shares were awarded or when they vest The Remuneration
Committee supervised the operation of the PSP Awards
worth up to 150 per cent of an executive’s base salary could
be granted under the PSP Executive Directors were granted
this level of award in September 2010

The awards made annually prior to 2009/10 were each subject
1o two performance conditions operating independently of
each other This meant that meeting either of the conditions
would tngger a payment without the need to meet the other
performance conditon 50 per cent of each award was subject
to a Total Shareholder Return (TSR) performance condiuon,
measured against a group of other arline companmies, and

the other 50 per cent was subject to an average operating
margin performance condition The use of two separate but
complementary performance condiuons created an ahgnment
to both the airline industry (wa the TSR measure) and also

the Company's internal financial performance measure (via

the operating margin measure) Both of these performance
condiions were measured over a single three year performance
period which began on 1 Apnl prior to the award date with
vesting on the third anniversary of the date of award For the

awards made in 2009/10 and the nine months ending 31
December 2010, the difficulty in setting appropnate financial
targets covenng three years resulted in the whole of the awards
being condiional on the Company’s relative TSR performance,
with a financial underpin This requires the Remuneration
Comrmuttee to be sausfied that the Company’s underlying
financial performance has shown an improvement and that this
15 satisfactory in the crcumstances prevailing over the three year
period The Remunerauon Committee used this performance
condition because it 15 challenging, aligned to shareholders’
nterests and, despite the current ¢rrcumstances, 1s a rehable
means of companng management’s performance within

its sector

TSR measures the financial benefits of holding a company’s
shares and is determined by share pnce performance along
with any dividends which are pad None of the shares that are
subject to the TSR performance condition will vest unless the
Company’s TSR performance is at the median (50th percentile)
of the arrline comparater group if median performance 1s
achieved, 25 per cent of the shares relating to TSR vest There
15 then a shding scale at the top of which all of the shares
relating to TSR vest in full if the Company’s TSR performance
15 at or above the upper quintle (top 20 per cent) of the
comparator group The comparator group of awrlines used in
the awards from 2007 to 2010 are shown in the table below

Air Berlin (not 2007)
Awr Canada

JAL (2009 only)
LAN (2009 and 2070 only)

Air France/KLM Lufthansa
Air New Zealand Northwest Aurlines
Altalia (not 2009 or 2010) (2008 only)
All Nippon Awlines Qantas Airways
American Airlines Ryanasr

SAS

Cathay Pacific Arways
Contnental Asrhines
Delta Arlines (2008, 2009,

Singapore Airhnes
Southwest Airlines

2010 only) (2007 anly)
Easyjet Urited Airlines
theria US Airways

As noted in last year's report, for unvested awards as at the
Merger Effective Date, the TSR performance of the Company
will be used up to the Merger Effective Date and the TSR
performance of IAG will be used to determine performance
for the remaning peniod over which the awards are tested

For the 50 per cent of the awards made in 2007/08
and 2008/09 that are subject to the operating margin
perfarmance condition, targets were as follows

Average annual operating margin over performance period

25% of shares (1e 12 5% 100% of shares (1e 50%

Award Performance period 0% vests of total award) vest of total award) vest
2007 award 2007/08 - 2009/10 Less than 8% 8% 1%+
2008 award 2008/09 - 2010/11 Less than 5% 5% 10%+

A shding scale of vesting operates for performance between the mintmurm and maximum vesting pomnts
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Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

British Airways Deferred Share Plan 2005

The British Airways Deferred Share Plan 2005 (DSP)

was adopted by the Board in September 2005 and 1s the
mechanism for delivening the deferred element of the annual
bonus Awards were made under the DSP in November 2006,
August 2008 and September 2010 [n each case, an award of
deferred shares to the value of one half of the bonus earned
was made to qualifying executives Other than on retirement
or redundancy, the shares will be subject to forfeiture if the
executve leaves during the three year deferral period On
vesting, executives will receive the benefit of any dividends
paid over the deferred period All of the bonus payable In
relation to 2009/10 was made in the form of deferred shares

Following the merger, the Company has ensured that the
options and awards held by participants in the Briish Airways
Share Plans (other than LTIPs) are automatically exchanged for
options and rights, of equivalent value and in the same terms,
to acquire IAG shares, all in accordance with the regulations of
the relevant British Airways Share Plans

For further information regarding these schemes, see
pages 50 to 51 which contain details of awards to Executive
Dwrectors and in prior years under current and histonc
share incentive schemes and also see note 32 to the
financial statements

Shareholding guideline

A shareholding guideline was operated to further align the
interests of executives and shareholders Executives were
expected to retain no fewer than 50 per cent of the shares
(net of tax) which vest from the DSP and the PSP until they
had a personal shareholding equivalent to 100 per cent of
base salary

Service contracts

Each of the Execunve Directors serving at the period-end had
a rolling contract with a one year notice period The service
contracts for the serving Directors include the following terms

Executive Director Date of contract

Notice period

Willhe Walsh
Kaith Williams

8 March 2005
1)anuary 2006

12 months
12 months

There were no express provisions for compensation payable
upon early termination of the Executive Directors’ contracts
other than normal payments due during the notice period In
the event of early termination, the Company’s policy was to
act fairly in all circumstances and the duty to mingate would
be taken into account The Executives’ contracts included a
pay in heu of notice provision and were subject to mitigation
provisions during the second six months of the notice pertod
Neuther of the contracts provided for compensation to be paid
in the event of a change of contro! of the Company Copies
of the two service contracts were avallable on the Company's
investor relations website

External Non-executive Directorships

The Board encouraged Executive Directors to broaden their
experience outside the Company by taking up
non-executive appointments from which they may retain
any fee The Company's consent was required before an
Executwe can accept such an appointment and permission
was only given in appropnate circumstances During the
reporung period in question, Keith Williams earned fees

of £17,000 as a Non-executive Director of Transport for
London Keith Willams was also a Non-executive Director of
Ibena untl the Merger Effective Date and the fees from this
appointment were payabie to the Company

Pension schemes

The Company has three main pension schemes Two of these,
Airways Pension Scheme (APS) and New Airways Pension
Scheme (NAPS), are defined benefit schemes and are closed
to new members The third scheme, the Bntish Airways
Retirement Plan {(BARP), has been available to new joiners
since 1 Apnl 2003 and 1s a defined contribution scheme
Willie Walsh was a member of BARP and received a
contribution of 12 per cent of salary Keith Williams was

a member of both NAPS and an unfunded unapproved
retirement scheme Provision for payment of a surviving
dependant’s pension on death and lump sum payments

for death tn service 1s also made Only base salary was
pensionable The Company operates a SmartPension
arrangement, which allows indiwiduals to make thewr pension
contributions in a more tax-efficient way Further details

of pension provisions are set out on page 48

Non-executive Directors
Policy for 2010

The Company's policy was that the Chairman's fee, which i1s
set by the Remuneration Committee, should be in line with
the market rate reflecting lus ume commitment to the Group
For Non-executive Directors, the Company’s policy was that
their remuneration, which is set by the Executive Directors
on the recommendation of the Charman, should be sufficient
to attract and retain Non-execuuve Directors of the highest
cahbre The Chairman and the Non-executve Directors did
not receve performance related pay and their fees were not
pensionable They were, however, eligible for non-contractual
travel concessions

Chairman's and Non-executive Directors’ fees

The Chairman’s fee was set at £350,000 1n July 2007, taking
into account the level of fees payable in similar companies
and recognising his above average time commitment

For the nine months o 31 December 2010, the Non-execuiive
Directors' fees {which were fixed in October 2006 and
reviewed but unchanged in October 2008) were £40,000 per
annum, with the Chairmen of the Audit, Remuneration

and Safety Review Committees and the Senior Independent
Director each receving £10,000 per annum in addition

1o these fees No other fees were paid for attendance at
Board committees
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Service agreements

The dates of the Charrman’s and Non-execuuve Directors’
appontments, who served dunng the reporting period are
as follows

Date of Date of election/

Non-executive appointment last re-election
Sir Marun Broughton 12 May 2000 14 July 2009
Maarten van den Bergh* 16 July 2002 15 july 2008
Baroness Kingsmill* 1 Novemmber 2004 15 july 2008
him Lawrence* 1 November 2006 13 July 2010
Alison Reed 1 December 2003 13 July 2010
Rafael Sanchez-Lozano 11 December 2009 13 July 2010
Turmo

Ken Smart 18 July 2005 15 July 2008
Baroness Symons* 19 July 2005 15 July 2008

“Directors who retired from the Board on the Merger Effective Date

Except where appomzied at a General Meeting, Directors
stood for election by shareholders at the first Annual General
Meeting following appointment, and stood for re-election
every three years thereafter, under Article 94 of the then
current Articles of Association Erther party could terminate
on one month’s written notice Neither the Chairman nor
any of the Non-executive Directors had any nght to
compensation on the early termination of their appointment
Copies of the letters of engagement for the Chawrman and
the Non-executive Directors were available for inspection
on the Company's investor relations website

As set out In the Norminations Comrnittee Report, Directors
are no longer required to submit themselves for re-election
every three years Any further appomtments following the
Merger will be made in accordance with the Company's
Articles of Association (adopted on 25 January 2011)

Performance graph

The graph shows the TSR (with dnvidends reinvested where
applicable) over the five financial penods from 31 March 2006
to 31 December 2010 of a holding of the Company’s shares
against a hypothetical holding of shares in the FTSE 100

The FTSE 100 was selected because 1t is a broad equity
index of which the Company was a constituent

Total shareholder's return
From 31 March 2006 to 31 December 2010

Bansh Airways J

Value () FTSE i
200
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100 A

50

4] /
31 Mar06 31Mar07 31Mar08 331 Mar09 31Mar10 31Dec10

Source Reuters

This graph shows the value by 31 December 2010 of £100
nvested in British Awrways Plc on 31 March 2006 compared
with the value of £100 invested in the FTSE 100 index The
other points plotted are the value of intervening financial
year-ends

Policy for 2011

Looking forward the Remuneration Committee does

not envisage making any material changes to the current
remuneration policy and framework apphcable to Executive
Directors and other members of the Leadership Team

The Company's remuneration philosophy will therefore
continue to reflect the provision of market competitive
total remuneration packages comprising a competitive
base salary, an annual bonus plan based on key financial
and operatonal metncs with some deferral, parttcipation

in the |AG Performance Share Plan, competitive pension
and benefit provision The remuneration for Willie Walsh
and Keith wWilliams 1s set out in the Shareholder Circular
and Registration Document published on 26 October 2010
and moving forward will be determined by the I1AG
Remuneration Committee

Following the Merger, the Chairman’s fee 1s determined by
the IAG Remuneration Committee The fee payable for

Sir Marun Broughton's role as Chairman of Briish Airways Plc
and Deputy Chairman of IAG 1s set out In the Registration
Document published on 26 October 2010
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Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

information subject to audit
Directors’ remuneration

Performance related bonuses

Base Value of Total nine
salary Taxable deferred months ending 31 Total
and fees  benefits* Cash shares December 2010 2009/10
(E'000) (£°000) (E'000) (E'000) (£'000) (£'000)
Executive Directors

Willie Walsh 551 13 210 210 984 1,024
Keith Williams 330 9 104 104 547 582

Non-executive Directors
Sir Martin Broughton 263 23 286 351
Maarten van den Bergh 38 1 39 46
Baroness Kingsrll 30 30 38
Jim Lawrence 318 1 39 47
Alson Reed 38 38 47
Rafael Sdnchez-Lozano Turmo** 30 30 12
Ken Smart 38 38 46
Baroness Symons 30 1 31 37
Chumpaol NaLamlieng*** 1
Dr Martin Read*** 14
Aggregate emoluments 1,386 48 314 314 2,062 2,255

*

Taxable benefits include a company car, fuel, private health insurance and personal travel
**  Fee payable to lbena
*** Retired from the Board on 14 July 2009

The pension entitlements of the Executive Directors were

Accumulated Increase, before Transfer value®

accrued benefits Increase in inflation, n of increase before

mine month period ending accrued benefits accrued benefits inflation, less

{£) 31 December 2010 during the period duning the peniod Directors’ contributions
Keith Williams 10,971 5022 688 (13,289)

The transfer value® of each Director’s accrued benefits at the end of the financial year 1s as follows

Nine month 3 Director’s
period ending March contributions Movement, less
(E) 31 December 2010 2010 durning the period Director's contributions
Keith Wilhams 1,960,200 1,771,254 25715 163,231

* Transfer value represents a hability of the Company, not a sum paid or due to the indmwidual It 1s calculated in accordance with The Occupational
Pension Schemes Transfer Value Regulations (1996) as subsequently amended

Keith Willams 1s a member of bath the NAPS and an unfunded unapproved retirement scheme, which, under the terms of tus
service contract, will provide a total reurement benefit at age 60 equivalent to 1/56th of pensionable pay for each year of service
up to 31 March 2007 For service between 1 Apnl 2007 and 30 September 2010, he 1s enutled 10 1/60th of pensionable pay for
each year of service payable at age 65 In line with other NAPS members, Keith was enutled to buy his pension to remain payable
at age 60 which he elected to do For service from 1 October 2010, Keith is enutled to 1/75th of pensionable pay payable at

age 65 Again, In hne with other NAPS members, for service from 1 October 2010, Keith Williams 1s entitled to fus pension to be
payable from age 60 should he so elect.

Withe Waish 1s a member of BARP, a defined contnbution scheme and the Company paid contributions during the reporting
peniod ended 31 December 2010 of £69,458 {at 31 March 2010 £92,242)

Both Wilhe Walsh and Keith Williams parucipated in the SmartPension arrangement, the effects of which have not been taken into
account when reporting their base salanes and pension benefits above
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From the Merger Effecuve Date, Wilke Walsh and Keith Williams cease 1o be eligible for active membership of any Brizish Airways’
pension schemes Further details of therr pension arrangements as employees of IAG are set out in the Shareholder Circular and
Registration Document published on 26 Ociober 2010

Directors’ beneficial interests in shares
Board members as at 31 December 2010

Briish Airways Plc ordinary shares

31 December 2010 31 March 2010

Sir Martin Broughton 65,090 69,090

Wwillie Walsh 150,078 150,078

Keith Willams 33,016 33,016

Maarten van den Bergh 2,000 2,000

Baroness Kingsmull 2,000 2,000

Alison Reed 10,000 10,000
Rafael Sdnchez-Lozano Turmo

Ken Smart 2,000 2,000

Baroness Symons

Total 268,184 268,184

British Airways Plc Amenican Depositary Shares British Airways Plc Convertible Bonds due 2014

31 December 2010 31 March 2010 31 December 2010 31 March 2010

Jim Lawrence 10,000 1,000 Sir Martin Broughton 2 2

* On 1 September 2010 the rauo changed to one Amencan Depositary
Share being equivalent to S ordinary shares

Keith Williams's shareholding increased to 34,036 following the Merger, as a result of holding 1,000 shares in Iberia All the
above interests are now held in IAG, other than the Convertible Bonds No Director has any beneficial interest in any subsidiary
undertaking of the Company

Directors’ share options

The following Directors held options to purchase ordinary shares in the Company granted under the British Airways Share
Option Plan 1999 (SOP 1999) The SOP 1999 was closed after the final grant in 2005/06 The SOP 1999 prowided for the grant
of options to acquire ordinary shares in the Company or the Company's Amencan Depositary Shares at an opuion price not less
than the market value of the shares on the date of grant No payment was due upon the imual grant of options

British Airways Share Option Plan 1999

Number Options Options  COptions Number of

of options exercised lapsed  granted options as

Keith Date of as at 1 Apr Exercise during during durng  Exercisable Expiry at 31 Dec
Willlams grant 2010 pnice the period the penod the period from date 2010
28 June 2000 26,315 380p 28 June 2003 28 june 2010 N

26 June 2001 38940 21p 26 June 2004 26 june 2011 38,940

1 July 2002 91,160 181p 1July 2005 1 july 2012 91,160

25 june 2003 114,649 157p 25 June 2006 25 June 2013 114,649

25 June 2004 72,480 262p 25 June 2007 25 June 2014 72,480

23 June 2005 69,927 276p 23 June 2008 23 June 2015 69,927

Total 413,4M - - - 387,156

The performance conditions in refauon to all the opuions listed in the table have been sausfied, therefore all options have
vested accordingly
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Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

Directors’ conditional awards

The following Directors held conditonal awards over ordinary shares of the Company granted under the British Airways Long
Term Incentive Plan 1996 (LTIP) and the PSP The LTIP operated from 1996 to 2004 and was replaced by the PSP in 2005

Number
Number Awards Options Awards Awards of awards
of awards vesting exercised lapsing made as at
Date of as at during during dunng duning 31 December
Plan award 1 April 2010 the period the period the period the penod 2010
Willie Walsh
PSP 9 August 2007 254,854 254,854 Nil
PSP 19 August 2008 430,664 430,664
PSP 17 September 2010 469,148 469,148
Total 685,518 - ~ 254,854 469,148 899,812
Keith Williams
LTIP 9 June 2003 46,631 46,631
LTIP 16 June 2004 22,141 22,141
PSP 9 August 2007 125910 125910 Nil
PSP 19 August 2008 257,813 257,813
PSP 19 March 2010 325123 325,123
PSP 17 Seprember 2010 280,85% 280,851
Total 777,618 - - 125,910 280,851 932,559

The vested LTIP awards disclosed above were subject to a performance condivon that the Company's TSR performance relauve
to the constituents of the FTSE 100 was median or above Upon vestng of the LTIP awards and the Remuneration Committee

having considered in both cases that underlying financial performance was satisfactory, participants were granted nil-cost options
in accordance with the rules of the scheme Options are exercisable for seven years from the date of vesting of the relevant LTIP

award No payment s due upon the exercise of these options

PSP awards are subject to the performance conditions outhned earlier in this report on page 45 In each case, the performance
conditions will be measured over a single three year performance penod, which begins on 1 April prior to the award date For the
award granied n 2008, 50 per cent of the award was subject to TSR performance measured against a group of airhnes, and 50
per cent was subject to average operating margin performance For awards granted from 2009 onwards, 100 per cent of

the awards are based on TSR performance, with a financial underpin Awards generally vest on the third anniversary of the

award date

The award granted mn 2007 was tested at the end of 2009/10 As a result none of the shares vested as neither the TSR nor the
operating margin performance conditions were met The award therefore lapsed on 7 May 2010

The value attributed to the Company’s ordinary shares in accordance with the plan rules on the date of the 2010 PSP award,
(17 September 2010) was 235 pence {2009 203 pence, 2008 256 pence, 2007 412 pence, 2006 484 pence)
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Deferred Share Pian (DSP)
The following Directors held conditional awards over ordinary shares of the Company granted under the DSP

Relates to bonus Number of Awards Awards Awards Number of
earned in awards as at released lapsing made  awards as at
Keith respect of Date of 1 April during Date of during during 31 December
Williams performance in  award 2010 the period vesting the penod the period 2010
2007/08 19 August 2008 26,100 30 June 2011 26,100
2009/10 17 September 2010 Nt 70,999 70,999
Total 26,100 - - 70,999 97,099

Willle Walsh did not accept the 200910 DSP award

The value attributed to the Company’s ordinary shares in accordance with the plan rules on the date of the 2008 DSP award (19
August 2008) was 256 pence and the 2010 DSP award (17 September 2010) was 235 pence

Share scheme dilution hmits

The Company followed the guidelines laid down by the Association of Bnitsh Insurers (ABI) during the reporting penod These
restrict the issue of new shares under all the Company’s share schemaes in any ten year penod to 10 per cent of the 1ssued
ordinary share capital and restrict the issues under the Company's discretionary schemes to 5 per cent in any ten year penod
As at 31 December 2010, the headroom available for the all employee share schemes was 5 31 per cent and 0 34 per cent for
the discretionary schemes Whereas it had been the Company's intention to use newly 1ssued shares for the SCP 1999 and the
PSP 2005 and market purchased shares for the LTIP 1996 and the DSP 2005, it has been agreed with Ibena as a term of the
Merger agreement that only market purchased shares will be used to satisfy future awards

The highest and lowest prices of the Company’s shares during the reporting periods and the share price at 31 December 2010
and 31 March 2010 comparauves were

December 2010 Marc¢h 2010

At 31 December/31 March 27250 24300
Highest in the year 28600 25390
Lowest in the year 18420 1ng oo

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by

ACle o)

Alison Reed

Non-executve Director and Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee

24 February 2011
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Responsibility statements

Directors’ statement as to disclosure of information to

The Directors as listed on page 32 are responsible for keeping

the auditor

The Directors who are members of the Board at the time of

approving the Directors’ report and business review are histed
on page 32 Having made enquines of fellow Directors and of
the Company's auditor, each of these Directors confirms that

proper accounting records, which disclose, with reasonable
accuracy at any time, the financial position of the Company
and of the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 and
Arucle 4 of the IAS Regulation They are also responsible

* To the best of each Director's knowledge and belief
there 1s no Information relevant to the preparanon of
the auditor’s report of which the Company's auditor 1s
unaware, and

* Each Director has taken all the steps a Director might
reasonably be expected to have taken to make him or

herself aware of relevant audit iInformation and to establish

that the Company's auditor 1s aware of that mformation

This confirmation 1s given and should be interpreted In
accordance with the provisions of Section 418(2) of the
Companies Act 2006

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in relation to the
financial statements

The Directors as hsted on page 32 are responsible for

preparing the annua! report and the financial statements in
accordance with applhicable UK law and those International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU

The Directors are required to prepare financial statements

for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for

taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection

of fraud and other rregulanties In addition, the Directors

are responsible for the maintenance and integnty of the
corporate and financial information included in the Company's
website Legislation in the UK governing the preparation

and dissermunation of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other junsdictions

Directors’ responsibility statement pursuant to OTR 4

The Directors listed on page 32 confirm that, to the best of
each person's knowledge

The Group and Company financial statements in this
report, which have been prepared in accordance with

IFRS as adopted by the EU, IFRIC interpretation and those
paris of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies
reporung under IFRS, give a true and fair view of the
assets, habilties, financial position and profit/{loss) of the
Company and of the Group taken as a whole, and

The management report contained m this report includes

for each financial year, which present farrly the financial
positon of the Company and of the Group and the financial
performance and cash flows of the Company and of the
Group for that period

In preparning those financial statements, the Directors are
required to

Select suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently,

Present informauon, including accounung policies, in a
manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information,

Provide additional disclosures when compliance with the
specific requirements in IFRS 1s insufficient to enable users
to understand the impact of particular transactions, other
events and conditions on the enuty’s financial position and
financial performance, and

State that the Group has comphed with IFRS, subject to
any matenal depariures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements

a fair review of the development and performance of
the business and the position of the Company and the
Group taken as a whole, together with a descripuon of
the principal nsks and uncertainties that they face

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by

A -

Alan Buchanan
Company Secretary
24 February 2011
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Independent auditor’s report to the
members of British Airways Plc

‘We have audited the financial statements of Brnitish Airways
Pic for the mine-month period ended 31 December 2010
which compnises the Group consolidated incorne statement,
the Group statement of other comprehensive income, the
Group and Parent Company balance sheets, the Group and
Parent Company cash flow statements, the Group and Parent
Company statements of changes in equity and the related
notes 1 10 39 The financial reporong framework that has been
applied in their preparation 1s apphcable law and International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
European Union and, as regards the Parent Company financial
statements, as apphed in accordance with the prowisions of
the Companies Act 2006

This report 1s made solely to the Company's members,

as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006 Our audit work has been undertaken so
that we might state to the Company’s members those matters
we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for
no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by law, we
do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than
the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditor

As explained more fully In the Dwectors’ responsibiliies
statement set out on page 52, the Directors are responsible
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being
sausfied that they give a true and fair view Cur responsibility
15 1o audit and express an opinton on the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to
comply with the Audiung Pracuces Board's Ethical Standards
for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit Involves obtaiming ewidence about the amounts

and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free
from matenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or
error This includes an assessment of whether the accounung
policies are appropnate to the Group’s and the Parent
Company's circumstances and have been consistently appled
and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant
accounting estmates made by the Directors, and the overall
presentation of the financial statements

Opinion on financial statements
In our opimon

+ The finanaial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of the Group's and of the Parent Company's affairs
as at 31 December 2010 and of the Group's profit for
the nine-month peried then ended,

The Group financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union,

+  The Parent Company financial statements have been
properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted
by the European Umon and as apphied in accordance with
the provisions of the Comparues Act 2006, and

+ The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006 and, as regards the Group financial statements,
Arucle 4 of the IAS Regulation

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the
Companies Act 2006

In our opimon

+  The part of the Directors’ remurneration report to be
audited has been properly prepared in accordance with
the Companies Act 2006, and

+  The informauon given in the Directors’ report for the
financial penod for which the financial statements are
prepared 1s consistent with the financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following'

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report
to you if, in our opinion

Adequate accounting records have not been kept by the
Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have
not been received from branches not wsited by us, or

«  The Parent Company financial statements and the part of
the Directors’ remuneration report 1o be audited are not
in agreement with the accounting records and returns, or

= Certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneranon specified
by law are not made, or

= We have not received all the information and explanations
we require for our audit

£ ik ﬁywa P

Richard Wilson (Senior siatutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP,
Statutory auditor London

24 February 2011

s
5
™
3
o,
=N
w
i
I
-t
b
3
@
=
=
@




British Airways Repert and Accounts to December 2010

Contents

53 Independent auditor’s report

56 Group consolidated income statement

57 Statement of other comprehensive income
58 Balance sheets

59 Cash flow statements

60 Statements of changes in equity

61 Notes to the accounts
Operating and financial statistics
Principal investments
Glossary
Subsidiary undertakings




54

British Airways Report and Accounts to December 2010

Contents

53
56
57

58
59
60
61

12
114
15
16

Independent auditor’s report

Group conschdated income statement
Statement of other comprehensive income
Balance sheets

Cash flow statements

Statements of changes in equity
Notes to the accounts

Operating and financial statistics
Principal investments

Glossary

Subsidiary undertakings




Financial statements

S

SIUBWBIEIS [RIDUBUY]




56

British Airways Report and Accounts to December 2010

Group consolidated income statement

Group
Nine months to 12 months to
31 December 31 March
£ million Note 2010 2010
Traffic revenue
Passenger 5831 6,980
Cargo 531 550
6,362 7530
Other revenue 321 464
Revenue 3 6,683 7.994
Employee costs 6 1,547 1,998
Restructuring 4 6 85
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 4 570 732
Aurcraft operating lease costs 51 69
Fuel and oIl costs 1.869 2372
Engineering and other arcraft costs 412 505
Landing fees and en-route charges 464 608
Handling charges, catering and other operating costs 765 8997
Selling costs 235 290
Currency differences m (2)
Accommodation, ground equipment and IT costs 423 571
Total expenditure on operatons 6,341 8,225
Qperating profit/(loss) 4 342 (231)
Fuel derivative (losses)/gains (2) 15
Finance costs 7 {125) (157)
Finance income 7 18 20
Net financing expense relating to pensions 7 (49) (118)
Retranslation charges on currency borrowings 7 (12) (14}
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment and investments 8 (3) (16}
Share of post-tax profits/(losses) in assaciates accounted for using the 18 6 {32}
equity method
Net charge relaung to available-for-sale financial assets i9 (18)
Profit/{loss) before tax 157 {531)
Tax 10 13 106
Profit/(loss) after tax 170 {425)
Attributable to
Equity holders of the parent 157 (443)
Non-controlling interest 13 18
170 {425)
Earnings/(loss) per share
Basic n 136p (38 5)p
Diluted 1] t36p (385)p
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Statement of other comprehensive income

Group

Nine months to

12 months to

31 December 31 March
£ million 2010 2010
Net profit/(loss) far the penod 170 (425)
Other comprehensive income
Exchange losses (8} (18}
Net gains on cash flow hedges 84 587
Share of other movements (n reserves of assoclates 48 34
Net gamn on avallable-for-sale financial assets 22
Total comprehensive income for the pernod (net of tax) 294 200
Attributable to
Equity holders of the parent 23 182
Non-controlling interest 13 18
294 200
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Balance sheets

Group Company
31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March
£ mithon Note 2010 2010 2010 2010
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Fleet 13 5,758 5,739 5,49 5523
Property 13 B85 920 838 871
Equipment 13 221 245 214 239
6,864 6,904 6,543 6,633
Intangibles
Goodwill 16 40 40
Landing nights 16 209 202 181 163
Softwara 16 37 27 36 27
286 269 217 190
Investments m subsicdharies 18 2,333 2,368
Investments wn associates 18 244 197
Available-for-sale financial assets 19 65 76 18 21
Employee benefit assets 34 575 483 575 483
Derwvative financial instruments 30 19 27 19 27
Prepayments and accrued income 40 17 163 93
Total non-current assets 8,093 7,973 9,868 9815
Non-current assets held for sale 15 33 30 33 25
Current assets and recesvables
Inventories 20 98 98 96 97
Trade receivables 2 384 499 368 486
Other current assets 22 260 289 377 376
Dervative financial instruments 30 132 74 132 74
Other current interest-bearing deposits 23 1,173 928 1,153 908
Cash and cash equivalents 23 779 786 753 756
1,952 1,714 1,906 1,664
Total current assets and receivables 2,826 2674 2,879 2,697
Total assets 10,952 10,677 12,780 12,537
Shareholders' equity
Issued share capital 31 288 288 288 288
Share premium 937 237 937 a37
Investment 1n own shares 3) (4} (€3] {4)
Other raserves 33 978 £92 590 273
Total shareholders' equity 2,200 1913 1,812 1,494
Non-controlling interests 33 200 200
Total equity 2,400 2113 1,812 1,454
Non-current kabihties
Interest-bearing long-term borrowings 26 3,496 3446 3,737 3,698
Employee benefit obhigations 34 219 208 2N 200
Provisions for deferred tax 10 788 774 751 720
Other provisions 28 164 159 139 141
Derivauve financial instruments 30 4 5 4 5
Other long-term liabilities 25 306 232 265 194
Total non-current habilities 4,977 4,824 5107 4,958
Current habilities
Current poruon of long-term borrowings 26 457 556 456 554
Trade and other payables 24 2,815 2910 5,103 5256
Denvative financsal instruments 30 10 12 1 13
Current tax payable 10 2 " 5
Short-term provisions 28 283 260 280 257
Total current habilities 3,575 3740 5,861 6,085
Total equity and hiabilities 10,952 10,677 12,780 12537

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by

Sir Martin Broughteon, on 24 February 2011
Keith Wilhams, on 24 February 2011

(& Uik
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Cash flow statements

Group Company
Nine months to 12 months to Nine months to 12 months to
31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March
£ milkon Note 2010 2010 2010 2010
Cash flow from operating activities
Operating profit/(loss) 342 (231) 355 (202)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 570 732 539 709
Operaung cash flow before working capital changes 912 501 894 507
Movement In inventories, trade and other recevables 12 (181) (62) (242)
Movement in trade and other payables and provisions (28) 241 (124) 1289
Payments in respect of restructuning (14) (81) (14) (81}
Payments in settlement of competition investigation (3 (19 3) {19)
Other non-cash movement (1)
Cash generated from operations 879 461 680 1454
Interest paid (87) (136) (72) {125}
Taxation 6 (4)
Net cash generated from operating activities 792 331 608 1325
Cash flow from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 13 (510) {492) (440) (391)
Purchase of intangible assets 16 (35) {13) (35) (13)
Purchase of available-for-sale financial assets (10)
Purchase of subsidiary {net of cash acquired) (9} 9
Proceeds from sale of avallable-for-sale 1
financial assets
Proceeds from sale of non-current assets held for 43 102 a6 &0
sale, property, plant and equipment
Proceeds received from loan notes 4 7 4 7
Interest received 17 17 16 8
Dividends received 102 6
(Increase)/decrease in other current (245) 51 (245) (865)
interest-beanng deposits
Net cash used in investing activities (735) (337) (562) (1,197)
Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 368 1053 368 1053
Proceeds from equity portion of convertible bond 84 84
Repayments of borrowings (100} (160) (89) (148)
Payment of finance lease liabilities (349) (605} (358) {616)
Distributtons made to holders of perpetual securities (t3) (18}
Net cash flow from financing activities (94) 350 (V)] 373
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (3N 344 (33) 501
Net foresgn exchange differences 30 40 30 36
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 Apn! 786 402 756 219

Cash and cash equivalents at period end 23 779 786 753 756
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Statements of changes in equity

Group
Investment Other Total Non-

Issued Share Inown reserves shareholders” controlling Total
£ million capital premium shares (note 33) equity nterest equity
At 1Apnl 2010 288 837 (4) 692 1,913 200 2,113
Total comprehensive income for the period 281 281 13 294
(net of tax)

Cost of share-based payment 6 6 6
Exercise of share options 1 (1)
Dustributions made to holders of (13) (13}
perpetual secunities
At 31 December 2010 288 937 (3) 978 2,200 200 2,400
For the year ended 31 March 2010
Group
Investment Qther Total Non-

Issued Share nown reserves shareholders’ controling Total
£ million capital premium shares {note 33) equity interest equity
At1Apni 2009 288 937 (%) 430 1646 200 1,846
Total comprehensive income for the year 182 182 18 200
{net of tax)

Equity portion of converuble bond* 84 84 84
Cost of share-based payment f ! {
Exercise of share options 5 (5)
Distnbutions made to holders of perpetual (18} {18)
securities
At 31 March 2010 288 937 (4} 692 1,913 200 2113
*  After deduction of transaction costs of £2 million
Company
Investment Other
Issued Share In own reserves Total
£ mitlion capital premium shares {note 33) equity
At 1 Apni 2010 288 937 (4} 273 1,494
Total comprehensive income for the year
(net of tax) 312 312
Exercise of share options 1 n
Cost of share-based payment 6 6
At 31 December 2010 288 937 (3) 590 1,812
For the year ended 31 March 2010
Company
Investment Other
Issued Share In own reserves Total
£ muillion capital premium shares {note 34) equity
At 1 Apnl 2009 288 937 9 10 1226
Total comprehensive income for the year
(net of tax) i79 179
Exercise of share options 5 n 4
Cost of share-based payment 1 !
Equity poruon of converuble bond* 84 84
At 31 March 2010 288 937 (4) 273 1,494

After deducuon of transacton costs of £2 millon.
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Notes to the accounts

1 Authorisation of financial statements and
compliance with IFRSs

In April 2010, Briush Ainways and Ibena signed a merger
agreement to create a new leading airline group The merger
was completed on 21 January 2011 International Asrlines
Group (IAG) was formed and shares in IAG started trading
on the London Stock Exchange, with a secondary listng in
Spain, on 24 January 2011 As 3 consequence, the British
Airways Group (the Group) has changed its reporting period
1o a December year end This set of financial statements has
been prepared for the mne months ended 31 December 2010
The comparative results are the Group's published financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2010

The Group's and Company's financial statements for the mne
month period ended 31 December 2010 were authonsed for
issue by the Board of Directors on 24 February 2011 and the
balance sheets were signed on the Board’s behalf by Keith
Williams and Sir Martin Broughton British Airways Plcis a
public imited company incorporated and domiciled in England
and Wales The Company's ordinary shares ceased being
traded on the London Stock Exchange on 21 January 2011

The Group has prepared its consolidated financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs)* as adopted by the EU IFRSs as adopted by the

EU differ in certain respects from IFRSs as 1ssued by the
{nternational Accounuing Standards Board (IASB) However,
the consolidated financial statements for the periods
presented would be no different had the Group applied IFRSs
as 1ssued by the IASB References to 'IFRS’ hereafter should
be construed as references to IFRSs as adopted by the ELI
The principal accounting policies adopted by the Group and
by the Company are set out In note 2

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption provided
under Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to publish
1ts indmdual In¢come statement and related notes

*  For the purposes of these statements, IFRS also includes International
Accounung Standards (1AS)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The basis of preparation and accounting policies set out In
this Report and Accounts have been prepared in accordance
with the recognition and measurement critena of IFRS, which
also include 1ASs, as 1ssued by the IASE and with those of the
Standing Interpretauons issued by the International Financial
Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) of the IASB

These financial statements have been prepared on a
hustoncal cost convention except for certain financial assets
and habihiies, including denvatve financial instruments and
avallable-for-sale finanaial assets that are measured at fair
value The carrying value of recogmised assets and habiliies
that are subject to fair value hedges are adjusted to record
changes n the fair values attributable to the risks that are
being hedged

The Group's and Company’s financial statements are
presented in pounds sterling and all values are rounded
to the nearest million pounds (£ milhon), except where
mndicated otherwise

Basts of consolidation

The Group accounts include the accounts of the Company
and its subsidiaries, each made up to 31 December (31 March
for the prior year), together with the attnbutable share of
results and reserves of associates, adjusted where appropriate
to conform with the Group’s accounting policies

Subsidianes are entities controlled by the Group Control
exists when the Group has the power either directly or
indirectly to govern the financial and operatng policies of the
entity so as to obtan benefit from its activities Subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date of their acquisition, which is
the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases

All intra-group account balances, including intra-group profits,
have been eliminated in prepanng the consolidated financial
statements Minonty interests represent the portion of profit
or loss and net assels in subsidanes that are not held by

the Group and are presented separately within equity Iin the
consohdated balance sheet

Revenue

Passenger and cargo revenue 1s recognised when the
transportation service 1s provided Passenger tickets net of
discounts are recorded as current habihties m the ‘sales 1n
advance of carnage’ account until recogrised as revenue
Unused tickets are recognised as revenue using estimates
regarding the uming of recognition based on the terms
and conditions of the ticket and historical trends

Other revenue is recognised at the time the service is
provided Comrussion costs are recogmsed at the same
time as the revenue to which they relate and are charged
to operating expenditure

Revenue racogmtion — Mileage programmes

The Group operates two principal loyalty programmes
The airline’s frequent flyer programme operates through
the arrhne’s ‘Executive Club’ and allows frequent travellers
to accumulate ‘BA Miles’ mileage credits that entitle them
to a choice of vanous awards, pnmarily free travel The far
value attributed to the awarded mileage credits 1s deferred
as a hability and recognised as revenue on redemption of
the mites by the parucipants 1o whom the mules are 1ssued

In addiion, ‘'BA Miles’ are sold to commercial partners to
use in promotienal activity The faw value of the miles sold
15 deferred and recognised as revenue on redemption of the
miles by the participants to whom the miles are issued The
cost of the redempuion of the miles 1s recognised when the
miles are redeemed

The Group also operates the AIRMILES scheme, operated
by the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary The Mileage
Company The scheme allows companies to purchase miles
for use in theirr own promotional activities Miles can be
redeemed for a range of benefits, ncluding flights on 8ntish
Atrways and other carrers The fair value of the miles sold

1s deferred and recognised as revenue on redemption of the
miles by the parucipants to whom the miles are 1ssued The
cost of providing redempuon services is recognised when the
miles are redeemed
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Notes to the accounts continued

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies continued

Segmental reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent

with the internal reporting provided 6 the chief operating
decision-maker The chief operating decision-maker, who 1s
responsible for resource allocation and assessing performance
of the operating segments, has beenidenufied as the
Management Team as detailed on page 33 The nature of the
operating segments Is set out in note 3

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are hefd at cost and are either amortised on a
straight-line basis over their economic life, or they are deemed
to have an indefinite economic life and are not amortised, but
tested annually for impairment

a Goodwili

Where the cost of a busmess combinauon exceeds the far
value attributable to the net assets acquired, the resulting
goodwillis capitalised and tested for impawrment annually and
whenever indicators exist that the carrying value may not be
recoverable Any goodwill ansing on the acquisiion of equity
accounted entities 1s included within the cost of those entities

Goodwill 1s allocated 10 cash-generating units for the purpose
of impairment testing

b Landing nghts

Landing nghts acquired from other airlines are capitalised at
cost or at fair value, less any accumulated impairment losses
Capntahsed landing nghts based outside the EU are amornsed
on a straight-line basis over a period not exceeding 20

years Capitahsed landing nghts based within the EU are not
amorused, as regulatons within the EU consider them to have
an indefinite ecanomic life

¢ Software

The cost of purchase or development of computer
software that 1s separable from an item of related hardware
1s capitalised separately and amortised over a penod not
exceeding four years on a straight-line basis

The carrying value of intangibles 1s reviewed for impairment
If events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying
value may not be recoverable

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is held at cost The Group

has a pohcy of not revaluing property, plant and equipment
Depreciation 1s calculated to write off the cost less estimated
residual value on a straight-line basis, over the economic ife
of the asset Residual values, where applicable, are reviewed
annually against prevaling market values for equivalently
aped assets and depreciation rates adjusted accordingly on

a prospective basis

The carrying value 1s reviewed for impairment when events
or changes in arcumstances indicate the carrying value may
not be recoverable and the cumulative impairment losses are
shown as a reduction in the carrying value of property, plant
and eguipment

a Capiahsation of interest on progress payments

interest attributed to progress payments, and related
exchange movermnents on foreign currency amounts, made
on account of aircraft and other qualifying assets under
construction 1s capitalised and added to the cost of the
asset concerned

b Fleet

All aircraft are stated at the fair value of the considerauon
given after taking account of manufacturers’ credits Fleet
assets owned, or held on finance lease or hire purchase
arrangements, are depreciated at rates calculated o write
down the cost to the esumated residual value at the end of
their planned operational lives on a straight-line basis

Cabin intenor modifications, including those required for
brand changes and relaunches, are depreciated over the
lower of five years and the remaining life of the aircraft

Aurcraft and engine spares acquired on the introduction or
expansion of a fleet, as well as rotable spares purchased
separately, are carried as property, plant and equipment and
generally depreciate in line with the fleet to which they relate

Major overhaul expenditure, including replacement spares

and labour costs, 1s capitalised and amortised over the average

expected life between major overhauls All other replacement '
spares and other costs relating to maintenance of fleet assets

{(including maintenance provided under ‘pay-as-you-go’

contracts) are charged to the income statement on '
consumption or as incurred respectively

¢ Property and equipment

Provision 1s made for the depreciation of all property and
equipment, apart from freehold land, based upon expected
useful lives, or in the case of leasehold properties over the
duration of the leases if shorter, on a straight-ine basis

d Leased and hire purchase assets

Where assets are financed through finance leases or hire

purchase arrangements, under which substantially all the risks

and rewards of ownership are transferred to the Group, the

assets are treated as if they had been purchased outnight The

amount included in the cost of property, plant and equipment

represents the aggregate of the capital elements payable

during the lease or hire purchase term The corresponding

obligation, reduced by the appropnate proporuion of lease

or hire purchase payments made, is mcluded in borrowings |

The amount included in the cost of propenty, plant and
equipment is depreciated on the basis described in the
preceding paragraphs and the interest element of lease
or hire purchase payments made 1s included in 1nterest
payable in the income statement

Total minimum payments, measured at inception, under all
other lease arrangements, known as operaung leases, are
charged to the income statement in equal annual amounts
over the penod of the lease In respect of arcraft, certan
operating lease arrangements allow the Group to terminate
the leases after a hmited imial period (normally 10 years),
without further matenal financial obligations In certain cases
the Group is enutled to extend the inwal lease penod on
predetermined terms, such leases are descnbed as extendable
operating leases
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Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale when their
carrying value 15 to be recovered principally through sale as
opposed to continuing use The sale must be considered to be
highly prabable and to be enacted within 12 months Meld for
sale assets are carned at the lower of carrying value and fair
value less costs to sell

{nventones

Inventones, including arcraft expendables, are valued at the
lower of cost and net realisable value Such cost is determined
by the weighted average cost method

Interests in associates

An associate 1s an undertaking in which the Group has a
long-term equity interest and over which it has the power to
exercise significant influence The Group's interest in the net
assets of associates 15 ;ncluded in investment in associates in
the consohdated balance sheet and 1ts interest in their results
15 ncluded in the income statement, below operating profit
Certain associates make up their annual audited accounts

to dates other than 31 December 2010 (prior year 31 March
2010) In the case of Iberia, published results up to the nine
month period ended 30 September 2010 are included In
other cases, results disclosed by subsequent unaudited
management accounts are included The attributable results
of those companies acquired or disposed of dunng the year
are included for the penods of ownership Refer ta note 18
for details of investments in associates

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand and deposits
with any quahfying financial institution repayable on demand
or maturing within three months of the date of acquisition and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value

Other current interest-bearing deposits

Other current interest-beanng deposits, principally compnising
funds held with banks and other financial institutions, are
camed at amortised cost using the effective interest method
Such financial assets are classified as held-to-maturity when
the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to
matunty Gans and losses are recognised in iIncome when the
deposits are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the
amaortisaiion process

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other recevables are stated at cost less allowances
made for doubiful recevables, which approximates fair value
given the short dated nature of these asseis A proviston

for impairment of trade receivables {allowance for doubtful
receivables) i1s established when there 1s objective evidence
that the Group will not be able te collect all amounts due
according to the ongmal terms of the receivable

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-dervative
financial assets that are not classified as loans and recervables
After imtial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets

are measured at farr value, with gains or losses recogmised

as a separate component of equity untll the investment 15
derecognised or untl the investment 1s determined to be

impatred, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previcusly
reported in equity is included in the income statement The
impairment review of available for-sale financial assets 1s
based on the same critena as the impairment review of
financial assets

The fair value of quoted investments 1s determined by
reference to bid prices at the close of business on the balance
sheet date Where there 1s no active market, far value s
determined using valuation technigues Where farr value
cannot be reliably estimated, assets are carned at cost

Employee benefits

a Pension obligations

Employee benefits, including pensions and other post-
retirement benefits (principally post-retirement healthcare
benefits) are presented in these financial statements in
accordance with |AS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ The Group

has both defined benefit and defined contnibution plans

A defined contribution plan is a penston plan under which
the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity
The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay
further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets 1o pay all employees the benefits relaung to employee
service In the current and prior penods Typically benefit
plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee
will receve on retirement, usually dependent on one or
more factors such as age, years of service and compensation

Past service costs are recognised when the benefit has been
given The financing cost and expected return on plan assets
are recognised within financing costs 1n the periods in which
they arise The accumulated effect of changes in estimates,
changes in assumptions and deviations from actuarial
assumptions (actuarial gains and losses) that are less than
ten per cent of the higher of pension benefit obligations

and pension plan assets at the beginning of the year are not
recorded When the accumulated effect 1s above ten per cent
the excess amount is recognised on a straight-hne basis 1n
the income statement over the estimated average remaining
service pernod

The fair value of insurance pohcies which exactly match the
amount and trming of some or all benefits payable under
the scheme are deemed to be the present value of the
related obligations

b Terrmnatuon benefits

Terrmination benefits are payable when employment 1s
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date,
or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy

in exchange for these benefits The Group recognises
termination benefits when 1t 1s demonstrably committed to
either terminating the employment of current employees
according to a detailed formal plan wathout possibility of
withdrawal, or providing terrmmation benefits as a result

of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy

Other employee benefits are recognised when there 1s
deemed to be a present obligation

It
5
o
3
a,
L
w
w
I
&
I
3
D
=
=
w




64

British Airways Report and Accounts to December 2010

Notes to the accounts conunued

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies continued

Share-based payments

The fair value of employee share opuion plans 1s measured at
the date of grant of the opticn using an appropriate valuation
model The resulting cost, as adjusted for the expected and
actual leve! of vesting of the options, 1s charged to income
over the period in which the options vest.

At each balance sheet date before vestuing, the cumulative
expense Is calculated, representing the extent to which the
vestung penod has expired and management's best estumate
of the achtevemnent or otherwise of non-market conditions,
of the number of equity instruments that will ulimately vest
The movement In the cumulative expense since the previous
balance sheet date 1s recognised in the income statement
with a corresponding entry in equity

Taxation

Current tax assets and lrabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authonities, based on tax rates and laws that are enacted

or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date

Deferred income tax 1s recognised on all temporary
differences ansing between the tax bases of assets and
habuities and their carrying amounts In the financial
statements, with the following exceptions

* Where the temporary difference anses from the imtial
recognition of goodwill or of an asset or kability In a
transaction that is not a business combination that at
the ume of the transaction affects neither accounung
nor taxable profit or loss.

* Inrespect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidianes or associates, where
the uming of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and 1115 probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, and

= Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it i1s probable that taxable profit will be avalable
aganst which the deducuble temporary differences,
carned forward tax credits or tax losses
can be utiised

Deferred income tax assets and habihues are measured on an
undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply
when the related asset s realised or hability 1s settled, based
on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date

Income tax 15 charged or credited directly to equity if it relates
to items that are credited or charged to equity Otherwise
income tax 1s recogrused in the Income statement

Provisions

Provisions are made when an obligation exists for a future
liability in respect of a past event and where the amount of the
obligation can be reliably estimated Restruciunng provisions
are made for direct expenditures of a business reorganisation
where the plans are sufficiently detailed and well advanced
and where appropnate communication to those affected

has been undertaken at the balance sheet date If the effect

15 material, expected future cash flows are discounted using
a rate that reflects, where appropnate, the nsks specific to
the lability Where discountung 1s used, the increase in the
provision due to unwinding the discount i1s recognised as a
finance cost

Foreign currency translation

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded In

the Group’s funcuonal currency, sterling, by applying the spot
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction Monetary
foreign currency balances are translated into sterling at the
rates ruhing at the balance sheet date All other profits or
losses arising on translation are dealt with through the income
statement except where hedge accounting is apphed

The net assets of foreign operations are translated into
sterling at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet
date Profits and losses of such operations are translated into
sterking at average rates of exchange during the period The
resulting exchange differences are taken directly to 3 separate
component of equity untl 2ll or part of the interest 1s sold,
when the relevant portion of the cumulative exchange 15
recognised in the income statement

Derivatives and financial instruments

In accordance with 1AS 38 'Financial Instruments - Recognition
and Measurement’, financial instruments are recorded imually
at fair value Subsequent measurement of those instruments at
the balance sheet date reflects the designation of the financial
insgrument The Group determines the classificanon at imitial
recognition and re-evaluates this designation at each penod
end except for those financial instruments measured

at fair value through the income statement

Other investments (other than interests in assoctates)

are designated as available-for-sale financial assets and

are recorded at faw value Any change i the far value s
reported in equity until the investment 1s sold, when the
cumulative amount recognised In equity is recognised in the
income statement In the case of equity secunties classified
as available-for-sale investments, a significant or prolonged
dechne in the fair value of the securty below its cost s
considered as an indicator that the secunty 1s impaed If any
such evidence exists for available-for-sate financial assets,
the cumulative gan or loss previously reported in equity 1S
included i the Income statement

Exchange gains and losses on monetary items are taken to the
income statement unless the itemn has been designated and

1s assessed as an effective hedging 1nstrument in accordance
with the requirement of IAS 39 Exchange gains and losses

on non-monetary investments are reflected in equity unul the
investment 1s sold when the cumulative amount recogmised in
equity 1 recogmsed in the income statement

Long-term borrowings are recorded at amortised cost Certain
leases contain interest rate swaps that are closely related to
the underlying financing and, as such, are not accounted for
as an embedded dernvative

Denvative financtal instruments, compnsing interest rate swap
agreements, foreign exchange denvatives and fuel hedging
dervatives (including options, swaps and futures),

are measured at fair value on the Group balance sheet
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Cash flow hedges

Changes in the fair value of denvative financial instruments
are reported through operating income or financing according
to the nature of the instrument, unless the denvative financial
instrument has been designated as a hedge of a highly
probable expectad future cash flow

Gains and losses on denvative financial instruments
designated as cash flow hedges and assessed as effective
for the pencd, are taken to equity 1n accordance with the
requirements of IAS 39 Gains and losses taken to equity are
reflected in the iIncome statement when either the hedged
cash flow impacts income or its occurrence 1s no longer
expected to occur

Certain loan repayment instalments denominated in US
dollars, euro and Japanese yen are designated as cash flow
hedges of highly probable future foresgn currency revenues
Exchange differences ansing from the translanon of these loan
repayment instalments are taken 10 equity (n accordance with
IAS 39 requirements and subsequently reflected in the income
statement when either the future revenue impacts income or
its occurrence 15 no longer expected to occur

Impairment 1n financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether a
financial asset or group of financial assets 1s impaired

Investment in own shares

Shares in the Company held by the Group are classified

as ‘Investments in own shares’ and shown as deductions
from shareholders’ equity at cost Considerauion received
for the sale of such shares 15 also recognised in equity, with
any difference between the proceeds from the sale and the
original cost being taken to reserves

No gain or loss 1s recogmised in the income statement on the
purchase, sale, 1ssue or cancellation of equity shares

Derecogmuion of financial assets and habilives

A financial asset or habrlity 1s generally derecognised when the
contract that gives rise to it has been settled, sold, cancelled
or has expired

Where an existing financial hability 1s replaced by another
from the same {ender on substannally different terms, or the
terms of an existing habiity are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition

of the onginal hability and the recogniuon of a new liability,
such that the difference in the respective carrying amounts
together with any costs or fees incurred are recognised in
the income statement

Exceptional items

Exceptional items are those that in management's view need
to be disclosed by virtue of their size or incidence Such items
are included on the income statement under a caption 1o
which they relate, and are separately disclosed in the notes

to the consolidated financial statements

Key accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumpuons that affect
the applcation of pohicies and reported amounts of assets
and liabihties, income and expenses These estimates and

assoclated assumptions are based on histonical experience
and varnous other factors believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances Actual results could differ from these
esumates These underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis

Revisions to accounung estimates are recognised in the penod
in which the estimate 1s revised if the revision affects only that
penod, or in the penod of the revision and future periods f
these are also affected The esumates and assumptions that
have a significant nisk of causing a matenal adjustment to

the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are discussed below

a Imparrment of non-financal assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
imparrment for all non-financial assets at each reporung date
Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite economic lives
are tested for imparment annually and at other times when
such indicators exist The recoverable amounts of cash-
generating units have been determined based on value-in-use
calculations These calculations require the use of estimates
as disclosed tn note 17

Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may
not be recoverable

b Share-based payments

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions
with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the date at which they are granted Esumating
far value requires determiming the most appropriate valuation
model for a grant of equity instruments, which is dependent
on the terms and condinions of the grant

This also requires determining the most appropriate INputs
to the valuation mode! including the expected Iife of the
opuon and volatihty and making assumptions about them
The assumpuons and models used are disclosed in note 32

¢ Pensions and other post-retirement benefits

The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other
post-employment medical benefits 1s determined using
actuanial valuations The actuanal valuation involves making
assumpuions about discount rates, expected rates of return
on assets, future salary increases, mortality rates and future
pension increases Due to the long-term nature of these
schemes, such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty
and are disclosed in note 34

d Impairmeni of available-for-sale financial assets

The Group classifies certain financial assets as availlable-
for-sale and recognises movements in their fair value

in shareholders’ equity When the farr value declines,
management makes assumptions about the decline in value
to determine whether 1t 1s an imparment that should be
recognised in the income statement Impairment losses
recogrnised in the income statement are disclosed in note 9
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2 Summary of significant accounting
policies continued

e Passenger revenue recognition

Passenger revenue 1s recognised when the transportation 1s
prowided Ticket sales that are not expected to be used for
transportation (‘unused tickets’) are recognised as revenue
using esuimates regarding the uming of recogmtion based on
the terms and conditions of the ticket and historical trends

Impact of new Internatsonal Financial Reporting Standards

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those
of the prewious financial year except as follows

IFRS 3 (Rewised), 'Business Combinations’, effectve for
periods beginning on or after 1 )uly 2009 The revised
standard introduces changes te the accounting for business
combinations, including the expensing of acquisition costs
through the income statement as they are incurred and
permitting a choice, on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis
to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree’s
net assets at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the net assets of the acquiree
Contingent considerations are required to be valued at the
date of acquisition, with all subsequent revaluations recorded
m the income statement.

IFRS 5 (Amendment), ‘Non-current assets held for sale and
discontinued operations’, effective for pernods beginning on
or after 1 January 2010 The amendment provides clanficatuon
on disclosures required 1n respect of non-current assets held
for sale or disconunued operations, particularly that the 1AS

1 "Presentation of financial statements’ requirements of "far
presentation’ and 'sources of estumation uncertainty’ still apply
in the case of non-current assets held for sale

IAS 7 {Amendment), ‘Cash flow statements’, effective for
penods beginning on or after 1 January 2010 The amendment
requires that expenditures that result in the recognition of an
asset should be classified as investing activities in the cash
flow statement

IAS 17 (Amendment), ‘Leases’, effectve for periods beginming
on or after 1 January 2010 The amendment requires that
leases of land are classified as either 'finance’ or 'operaung’
using the general principles of the Standard

IAS 27 (Revised), ‘Consolidated and separate financial
statements’, effective for penods beginning on or after 1 July
2009 The rewised standard requires that all transactians wath
non-conirolling interests be recorded in equity, provided that
these transactions do not result in a change in control and do
not result in goodwill or gains and losses The amendment
provides additional guidance on the accounting treatment
when control 1s lost

IAS 36 {Amendment), ‘Impairment of assets’, effective for
penods beginning on or after 1 January 2010 The amendment
clanfies that the largest cash-generaung umt (or group of
units) 1o which goodwill can be altocated for the purposes

of impairment review, I1s an operating segment as defined by
IFRS 8 'Operating segments’

continued

IAS 38 (Revised), 'Intangible assets’, effective for penods
beginming on or after 1 july 2009 The amendment clanfies
guidance in measuring the fair value of an intangible asset
acquired in a business combinanen and allows the grouping
of assets into a single asset If each asset has a similar
economic life

IAS 38 (Amendment), ‘Intangible assezs’, effective for
penods beginning on or after 1 January 2010 The
amendment provides additiona! gindance on the valuation
techmiques to be used m measuring the farr value of intangible
assets acquired 1n business combinations that are traded in
active markets

IAS 39 (Amendment), ‘Financial instruments Recognition and
measurement’, effective for periods begmning on or after

1 )January 2010 The amendment makes changes to the scope
exemnption excluding contracts between an acquirer and a
vendor In a business combination to buy or sell an acquiree at
a future date The amendment adds addiuonal conditions for
the exemption to apply

New standards, amendments and interpretations
not yet effective

The IASB and IFRIC 1ssued the following standards,
amendments and interpretations with an effective date after
the date of these financial statements which management
believe could impact the Group in future periods The Group
plan to adopt the following standards, interpretations and
amendments from 1 January 2011, management have not yet
determined the potenual effect of the amendments

IFRS 3 (Amendment), 'Business Combinations’, effecuve for
penods beginnung on ar after 1 January 20{1 The amendment
clarifies guidance on the choice of measuring non-controlling
interests at farr value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net assets applies only to instruments that present
ownership interest and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the net assets in the event of liquidatuon

tFRS 7 (Amendment) ‘Financial Instruments Disclosures’,
effective for peniods beginming on or after 1 January 2011
The amendment includes multiple clanfications related to
the disclosure of financial instruments

IAS 1 (Amendment) ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’,
effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011
The amendment permits, for each component of equity, the
presentation of the analysis by item to be included in either
the statement of changes in equity or the notes to

the financial statements

IAS 34 (Amendment) ‘Intenm Financial Reporting’, effective
for penods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 The
amendment clanfies gmdance on the disclosure prnincipals
nvolving significant events and transacuons, including changes
to farr value measurements, and the requirement to update
relevant information from the most recent annual report

There are no other standards and interpretations in issue
but not yet adopted that the Directors anticipate will have
a matenal effect on the reported income or net assets of
the Group
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3 Segment information

a Business segments

The Group's network passenger and cargo operations are managed as a single business unit The Management Board makes
resource allocation decisions based on route profitabiity, which considers awrcraft type and route econormics, based primarily by
reference to passenger economics with imited reference to cargo demand The objective in making resource allecation decisions
is to optimise consolidated financial results While the operations of OpenSkies SASU (CpenSkies) and BA Cutyflyer Limited
(CityFlyer} are considered to be separate operating segments, their activities are considered to be sufficiently similar in nature to
aggregate the two segments and report them together with the network passenger and cargo operations Therefore, based on
the way the Group treats the network passenger and cargo operations, and the manner in which resource allocanon decisions are
made, the Group has only one reportable operating segment for financial reporting purposes, reported as the “arine business’

Financial results from other operating segments are below the quanutatve threshold for determining reportable operating
segments and consist primarly of The Mileage Company Limited, Briush Asrways Holidays Limited and Speedbird Insurance
Company Limited

For the mine months ended 31 December 2010

Airrline All other

£ mithon business SEgments Unallocated Total
Revenue
Sales 10 external customers 6,524 159 6,683
Inter-segment sales 57 57
Segment revenue 6,581 159 6,740
Segment result 323 19 342
Other non-operating costs (20} (20)
Profit before tax and finance costs 303 19 322
Net finance costs 3n (137 (168)
Loss on sale of assets 3) (€))
Share of associates’ profit 6 6
Tax 13 13
Profit/(loss) after tax 275 19 (124) 170
Assets and habilities
Segment assets 10,585 123 10,708
Investment in associates 244 244
Total assets 10,829 123 10,952
Segment habilities 3,424 377 3,801
Unallocated labilities® 4751 4,751
Total habilities 3424 377 4,751 8,552
Other segment information
Property, plant and equipment — additions (note 13d) 561 2 563
Non-current assets held for sale - transfers in (note 15) 47 47
intangible assets - additions {note 16¢) is 35
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment (note 4a) 569 1 570
Impaurment of avalable-for-sale financial assets — including 18 18
Flybe (ncte 9)
Exceptional items {note 4b)

Restructuring [ &

Costs associated with the |benia merger 31 31

Impairment of OpenSkies assets 12 12

Impawrment of property, plant and equipment 16 16

-

Unallocated habilities consist of current taxes of E10 rmilhon, deferred taxes of £788 million and borrowings of £3,953 milhon which are
managed on a Group basis.
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3 Segment information continued

a Business segments continued
For the year ended 31 March 2010

Arrline All other

£ mullion business segments  Unallocated Total
Revenue
Sales to external customers 7.802 192 7,994
Inter-segment sales 52 52
Segment revenue 7.854 192 8,046
Segment result (252) 21 (231)
QOther non-operating income s 15
(Loss)/profit before tax and finance costs (237) 21 {216)
Net finance costs (96) (171} (267)
Loss on sale of assets {16) {16)
Share of associates' profit (32) (32)
Tax 106 106
(Loss)/profit after tax (381) 21 (65) {425)
Assets and habilities
Segment assets 10,364 1s 10,480
Investiment in assoclates 197 197
Total assets 10,561 116 10677
Segment habihties 3413 373 3786
Unallocated habilities™ 4,778 4,778
Total habihities 3,413 373 4,778 8,564
Other segment tnformation
Property, plant and equipment — additions (note 13d} 553 I 554
Non-current assets held for sale 30 30
Intangible assets = additions (note 16¢) 13 13
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment {note 4a) 731 I 732
Exceptional items (note 4b}

Restructunng 85 85

"

Group basis

b Geographical analysis — by area of original sale

Unallocated habilities consist of current taxes of £2 million, deferred taxes of £774 million and borrowings of £4,002 million which are managed on a

Group

Nine months to 12 months to

31 December 31 March

£ mullion 2010 2010
Europe’ 3,906 4,891
UK 2,943 3636
Conunental Europe 963 1,255
The Americas. 1,493 1,651
USA 1,334 1,473
The rest of the Americas 159 178
Afnca, Middle East and Indian sub-continent 727 731
Far East and Australasia 557 721
Revenue 6,683 7.994

Total of non-current assets excluding availlable-for-sale financial assets, employee benefit assets, prepayments and accrued
income and denvative financial instruments located in the UK 1s £7,063 mulion (31 March 2010 £7,060 million) and the total of
these non-current assets located in other countries 1s £364 milien (31 March 2010 €340 million)
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4 Operating profit/(loss)

a Operating profit/(loss) s arrived at after charging/(crediting)
Depreciation, amortisation and impaiwrment of non-current assets

Group

Nine months to

12 months to

31 Dacember 31 March
£ million 2010 2010
Owned assets 370 463
Finance leased arcraft 109 142
Hire purchased aircraft 20 67
Other leasehold interests 36 51

Impairment charge on property, plant, equpment and intangible assets 28
Amortsation of mtangible assets 7 9
570 732

Operating lease costs

Group

Nine months to

12 months to

31 December 31 March
£ million 2010 2010
Minymum lease rentals - aircraft 51 78
- property and equipment 73 98
Sub-lease rentals receved (10 (12}
Net onerous lease provision Increase 2
14 166
Cost of inventones
Group
Nine months to 12 months to
£ million 31 December 31 March
2010 2010
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense, mainly fuel and other 1,865 1,984
b Exceptional items
Group
Nine months to 12 months to
31 December 31 March
£ million 2010 2010
Recognised in operaung profit/(loss)
Restructuning costs 6 85
Impairment of OpenSkies assets (note 17) 12
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (note 17) 16
Costs associated with the Iberia merger (note 37) 3
65 85

During the peniod the Group incurred restructunng costs mainly relaung to lease exit costs (31 March 2010 manly relating to the

reduction i employees announced dunng the year)
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Notes to the accounts continued

5 Auditor's remuneration

Group Company
Nine months 12 months to Nine months to 12 months
to 31 December 3iMarch 31 December to 31 March
E'0C0 2010 2010 2010 2010
Group auditors
Fees payable to the Group's auditor for the audit of the Group’s accounts 1,701 1841 1,70t 1841
Fees payable to the Group's auditor and its associates for other services
Audit of the Group's subsidianes pursuant te legislation 402 310
Other services pursuant to legislation 29 48 29 48
Other services relating to taxation 209 356 195 2594
Services relating to corporate finance transactions * 2,200 1,100 2,200 1100
4,541 3655 4,125 3283

In the penod, this included services in relation to the Jont Business Agreement with Amencan Airltnes and Ibena and the Merger with Iberia

Of the Group fees, £4,343,000 relates to the UK {March 2010 £3,425,000) and £198,000 relates to overseas {March 2010

£230,000)

Of the Company fees, £3,941,000 relates to the UK (March 2010 £3,121,000) and £184,000 relates to overseas (March 2010

£162,000)

The audit fees payable to Ernst & Young LLP are approved by the Audit Commuttee having been reviewed n the context of

other companies for cost effecuveness

The Committee also reviews and approves the nature and extent of non-audit services to ensure that independence 1s mantained

6 Employee costs and numbers
a  Staff costs

The average number of persons employed during the year was as follows

Group Company

Nine months to 12 months to Nine months to 12 months to

31 December 3t March 31 December 31 March

Number 2010 2010 2010 2010
UK 34,745 35,920 32,699 33,838
QOverseas 5,083 5574 4,369 4,670
39,828 41,494 37,068 38508

Group Company

Nine manths to 12 months to Nine months to 12 months to

31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March

£ milhon 2010 2010 2010 2010
Wages and salaries 993 1346 930 1,265
Social secunity costs 114 146 104 135
Costs related to pension scheme benefits 157 145 153 140
Other post-retirement benefit costs 3 4 3 3
Other employee costs 280 357 270 343
Total employee costs excluding restructuning 1,547 1,998 1,460 1,886
Restructuring * [U)] 75 [A}] 75
Total employee costs 1,546 2073 1,459 1961

-

Restructunng casts included above excludes £7 milhon of lease exit costs {(March 2010 £10 milion).

In addition, included in "Wages and salartes’ 1s a total expense for share-based payments of £6 million {31 March 2010 €1 million)

that anises from transactons accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Other employee costs include allowances and accommodation for crew
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6 Employee costs and numbers continued

b Directors' emoluments

Group

Nirte months to 12 months to

31 December 31 March

£°'C00 2010 2010
Fees 531 649
Salary and benefits 903 1,105
Performance-related bonuses 628 501
2,062 2255

Durmg the reportng period one Director accrued benefits under a defined benefit pension scheme and one Director accrued
benefits under a defined contribution pension scheme

The Report of the Remuneration Commuttee discloses full detatls of Directors' emoluments and can be found on pages 43 to 51

7 Fwance costs and income

Group
Nine months to 12 months to
31 December 31 March
£ mellion 2010 2010
a  Finance costs
On bank loans* (13) (13)
On finance leases (47) (56)
On hire purchase arrangements ¥4] 2]
On other loans* (52) (65)
Interest expense (114) (141)
Unwinding of discounting on provisions™™ (13) (158)
Capitalised interest *** 1 1
Change i fair value of cross currency swaps 1 2
(125) (157}

3

Totat interest expense for financial iabiliues not at far value through the income statement 15 £65 million (March 2010 £78 milion)

Unwinding of discount on the competition investigation provision and restorauon and handback prowisions (note 28)

*** Interest costs on progress payments are capitalised at a rate based on London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus 0.5 per cent which 1 the rate
specific to the borrowings

.

Group
Nine months to 12 months to
31 December 31 March
£ milhion 2010 2010
b Finance income
Bank interest recervable {total interest income for financial assets not at fair value through the 18 20
income statement}
18 20
¢ Financing income and expense relating to pensions
Net financing income/(expense) relating to pensions 2 (164)
Amortisation of actuanal losses in excess of the corndor (62) (37)
Immediate recognition of net actuarial gamns (APS) 84
Effect of the APS asset celng {73) 85
(49) (116)

d Retranslation charges on currency borrowings (12) (14)
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Notes to the accounts continued

8 L.oss on sale of non-current assets

Nine months to

12 months to

31 December 31 March
£ million 2010 2010
Loss on sale of non-current assets held for sale 3
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 16
Loss on sale of non-current assets 3 16
9 Net charge relating to avallable-for-sale financial assets
Group

Nine months to

12 months to

31 December 31 March

£ million 2010 2010
Income from available-for-sale financial assets® 1 2
Amounts written off investments** (19) (2)
(18) -

-

Includes E1 millkon {March 2010 E1 million) attributable to interest earned on loans ta The Airhne Group Limited, an available-for-sale financial asset
Includes a £15 milhion impairment of the Group’s investment in Flybe Group ple {note 19) (March 2010 £ntl) and a £4 milhon {(March 2010 £2 million)

impatrment of the Group's investment in Inter-Capital and Regtonal Rail Limited, a loss making entity that managed Eurostar UK Limited until 2010 The

Group no longer holds an investment in this entity

10 Tax

a Tax on profit/(loss) on erdinary activities

Tax credit in the Income statement

Group
Nine months to 12 months to
31 December 31 March
£ million 2010 2010
Current income tax
UK corporation tax 2 (4)
UK tax 2 (4}
Adjustments in respect of pnor years - IUK corporation tax 4 2
Total current income tax charge/(credit) 6 (2)
Deferred tax
Property, plant and equipment related temporary differences (1) {(72)
Pension related temporary differences (40) 77
Unremitted earnings of associate companies m (26}
Tax losses carried forward 121 (66)
Exchange related temporary differences 3) (4)
Share option deductions wniten back (1)
Other temporary differences (2)
Adjustments i respect of prior years - deferred tax 8 (1)
Effect of corperation tax rate change on deferred tax balances (36)
Total deferred tax credit (19) (104}
Total tax credit in the Income statement (13) (106)
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10 Tax continued
a Tax on profit/(loss) on ordinary activities continued

Tax charge directly to equity

Group

Nine months to 12 Months to

31 December 31 March

£ milhion 2010 2010
Deferred tax relating to items charged to statement of other comprehensive income

Foreign exchange 1 34

Net gamns on cash flow hedges 20 193

Share of other movements in reserves of associates 3
Deferred tax relating to items charged/(credited) to statement of changes in equity

Share options in 1ssue 2 (4)

Total tax charge relaung to stems included in the statement of other comprehensive 33 226

income and statement of other changes in equity

b Reconcilhiation of the total tax charge/(credit)

The tax charge on the profit for the peniod ended 31 December 2010 is less than the notional tax charge calculated at the UK

Corporation tax rate of 28 per cent

The tax credit on the loss for the year ended 31 March 2010 1s less than the notional tax credit calculated at the pror year LIK

corporation tax rate of 28 per cent
The differences are explained below

Group
Nine months to 12 Months to
31 December 31 March
£ million 2010 2010
Accounung profit/(loss) before tax 157 (531}
Accounting profit/(loss) multiphed by standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 28 per cent 44 (149}
(March 2010 28 per cent)
Effects of
Tax on associate and subsidiary companies
Tax on associates’ profits and dividends (2) 9
Effect of change In foreign profits legistation (13)
Tax on subsidiaries urrermitted earnings (8
Tax on remitted earnings 1
Euro preferred secunties
Euro preferred secunities accounted for as non-controlling interests (4 (5)
Tax on revaluation of intra group foreign currency loans 1 1
Deferred tax assets not recogmised
Current year losses not recognised 4 9
QOther
Non-deductble expenses 14 10
Effect of pension fund accounting (62) 45
Forewgn exchange and unwind of discount on competition INvestigation provisions 3 4
Adjustments in respect of pnor years 12 )
Disposal and write down of investments 10
Overseas tax in relation to branches 2
Effect of corporauon tax rate change to 27 per cent on closing deferred tax balances (36)
Tax credit in the iIncome statement (13) (106)
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Notes to the accounts continued

10 Tax continued

¢ Deferred tax
The deferred tax included in the balance sheet 15 as follows

Group Company
31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March
£ million 2010 2010 2010 2010
Fixed asset related temporary differences 952 L043 882 957
Pensions related temporary differences 20 62 22 64
Exchange differences on funding labilities (30) (38) (30} (38)
Advance corporation tax {94) (94) {94) {94)
Tax losses carried forward (61) (i81) {61) (181)
Subsidary and associate unremitted earnings h 1
Fair value profits recognised on cash flow hedges 40 9 40 19
Share options related temporary differences (5} (S) (5 (5}
Deferred revenue i relation to loyalty reward programmes (32} (30)
Other temporary differences (2} (3) 3) 3
At period end 788 774 751 720
Movement in provision
Group Company
31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March
£ million 2010 2010 2010 2010
Balance at 1 April 774 652 720 592
Deferred tax credit relating to income statememt 19 (104} {2) {35)
Defesred tax charge taken to statement of other i 230 3 227
comprehensive income
Deferred tax charge/(credit) taken to statement of changes 2 (4) 2 4)
N equity
At period end 788 774 751 720

d Other taxes

The Group also contributed tax revenues through payment of transaction and payrol! related taxes A breakdown of these other
taxes paid dunng 2010 was as follows

Group

Nine months to 12 months to

31 December 31 March

£ mallion 2010 2010
UK Air Passenger Duty 261 323
Other ticket taxes 188 167
Payroll related taxes m 146
Total 560 636

The UK Government has implemented substantial increases in the rates of Air Passenger Duty from 1 November 2010 and has
stated that consultanions will be held on any future proposals to replace or amend the structure of Asr Passenger Duty
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10 Tax continued

e Factors that may affect future tax charges

The Group has UK capital losses carned forward of £193 millon (March 2010 £189 milhon) These losses are available for offset
against future UK chargeable gains No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these capital losses as no further
utilisation 1s currently anticipated The Group has deferred taxauton ansing on chargeable gains by roll-over and hold-over relief
¢laims that have reduced the tax basis of fixed assets by £69 million {(March 2010 £69 million) No deferred tax habihity has been
recognised in respect of the crystallisaton of these chargeable gains as they could be offset against the UK capital losses carned
forward The Group also has an unrecognised deferred tax asset of £75 milion (March 2010 £79 million) ansing from temporary
differences in respect of future capital losses if properties are realised at their residual value

The Group has overseas tax losses of £61 milhon (March 2010 £44 mithion) that are carned forward for offset against suitable
future taxable profits No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these losses as therr utilisation 1s not
currently anticipated

UK tax legislation largely exempts UK and overseas dividends received on or after 1 July 2009 from UK tax and as there are no
withholding taxes arising on the payment of such dividends, the timing difference on unremitted earmings of overseas subsidianes
15 £nil (March 2010 £nil)

The Group has UK non-trading iosses carned forward of £31 million (March 2010 £nil) in excess of non trade interest No
deferred tax asset has been recogmised n respect of these losses as thewr utilisauion 1s currently not anncipated

A stepped reducuon in the UK carporation tax rate from 28 per cent to 24 per cent over 4 years was announced in the
Emergency Budget The Finance (No 2) Act 2010 included the first of the 1 per cent rate reductions with effect from Apnl

201, with subsequent reductions to be dealt with by future legislation The provision for deferred tax on nming differences as

at 31 December 2010 was calculated at 27 per cent, the corporation tax rate effective from April 2011 The difference from the
application of 27 per cent instead of 28 per cent for the three month period to 31 March 2011 1s not expected to be matenal

The benefit to the Group's net assets, if the 4 per cent reduction in the rate 1s applied to the Group's gross deferred tax balances
at 31 December 2010 is estimated as £131 million in total and will be applied in the Group’s Financial Statements as the legislation
1s substantively enacted

11 Earmings per share

Group
Profit/(loss) Earnings per share
Nimne months to 12 months to Nine months to 12 months to
31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March
2010 2010 2010 2010
£ miflion £ mithon Pence Pence
Profit/(loss) for the period 170 (425)
Non-controlling interest (13) {18}
Profit/(loss) for the penod attnbutable to shareholders and
basic earmings per share (EPS) 157 {443} 136 (385}
Interest expense on convertible bond 27 2]
Difuted prefit/(loss) for the pertod attnbutable to
shareholders and diluted EPS 184 (422) 136 (385)
Weighted average number of shares for basic EPS ("00Q) 1,152,634 1,152,088
*Dilutive potential ordinary shares
5 8 per cent convertible capital bonds 185,185 117,199
Employee share aptions (‘000) 8,558 4,796
Weighted average number of shares for diluted EPS ('C00) 1,346,377 1274083

During the pnior year, the Group issued a £350 million convertble bond (note 37), convertible into ordinary shares at the option of the holder In
addivion the Group granted additional options over shares to employees Details of the Group's share opuions and long-term borrowings can be found
n notes 32 and 26 respectively

Basic EPS are calculated on a weighted average number of ordinary shares in 1ssue after deducung shares held for the purposes of

Employee Share Ownership Plan

12 Dividends
The Directors declare that no dwvidend be paid for the nine months ended 31 December 2010 (March 2010 £nil)

=
=]
™
=]
o,
&
w
—
©
=
i
3
o
=
=
w




British Airways Report and Accounts to December 2010

Notes to the accounts continued

13 Property, plant and equipment

a Group
Group
£ million Fleet Property Equipment Total
Cost
Balance at 1 Apnl 2009 11,836 1516 783 14,135
Additions (note 13d) 518 0 26 554
Disposals (231} 6) (64} (301
Reclassifications (170} m (7N
Exchange movements 0] (n
Balance at 31 March 2010 11,952 1520 744 14,216
Additions (note 13d) 545 8 10 563
Dusposazls (73) (73] (8) {83)
Reclassifications am 2 (179)
Exchange movements (3} (3)
At 31 December 2010 12,244 1,526 744 14,514
Depreciation and impairment
Balance at 1 Apnl 2009 5840 545 517 6,902
Charge for the year 616 61 46 723
Disposals (13) ()] (64) (183}
Reclassifications (130) (130)
Balance at 31 March 2010 6,213 600 499 7312
Charge for the penod 457 43 35 535
Impairment charge* 18 18
Disposals (Ea)] 2 (8) (81)
Reclassifications (134%) (3) (134)
At 31 December 2010 6,486 641 523 7,650
Net book amounts
31 December 2010 5,758 885 22 6,864
31 March 2010 5739 920 245 5,904
Analysis at 31 December 2010
Owned 3,290 874 199 4,363
Finance leased 2114 16 2,130
Hire purchase arrangements 201 201
Progress payments 65 i 6 82
Assets not in current use™” 88 88
5,758 885 221 6,864
Analysis at 3t March 2010
Owned 2685 904 225 3814
Finance feased 2,092 17 2,109
Hire purchase arrangements 770 770
Progress payments 71 16 3 20
Assers not in current use™™ 121 121
5739 920 245 6,904
Group
31 December 31 March
£ million 2010 2010
The net book amount of property comprises
Freehold 251 258
Long leasehold improvements 252 253
Short leasehold improvements*** 382 409
At pentod end 885 920

The impairment charge relates 1o two Boeng 747-400 arcraft which were permanently wnitten off to their realisable value during the period and the
write down of the carrying values of property, plant and equtpment refating to OpenSkies (note 17}

As at 31 March 2010 eight Boeing 747-400 arcrzft were in temporary storage (net book value £121 milhon) Dunng the penod, one of these atrcraft
was returnad to service and two were permanently written down Addiuonally, one Boeing 757-200 was stood down for disposal The net book value
of the remaning seven 747-400s and one 757-200 as at 31 December 2010 was £88 milion

*** Short leasehold improvements relate to leasehold interests with a duration of less than 50 years

'
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13 Property, plant and equipment continued

a Group continued

As at 31 December 2010, bank and other loans of the Group are secured on fleet assets with a cost of £2,008 million
(31 March 2010 £1,572 millian) and letters of credit of £230 rmilhon in favour of the Briush Airways Pension Trustees are secured
on certain aircraft (31 March 2010 £230 milkon)

Included 1n the cost of tangible assets for the Group 15 £343 million (31 March 2010 £345 mullion} of capitahsed interest

Property, plant and equipment with a net book value of £2 million was disposed of by the Group dunng the mine months ended
31 December 2010 (31 March 2010 £118 million) resulting in no gain or loss (March 2010 loss of £16 million)

b Company
Company
€ mithon Fleet Property Equipment Total
Cost
Balance at 1 Apnl 2009 11,464 1,430 714 13,608
Additions 419 10 24 453
Disposals {149) (€) {31) {186)
Net transfers to subsidiary undertakings (23) 1 (22}
Reclassificauons (165) (L)) (166)
Balance at 31 March 2010 11,546 1,434 707 13,687
Addrions 474 8 8 490
Disposals 69 2) @ (78)
Exchange (2) 2)
Reclassifications (176) 1 (175)
At 31 December 2010 1,773 1,440 709 13,922
Depreciation and impairment
Balance at 1 Apnik 2009 5659 510 456 6,625
Charge for the yaar 598 59 43 700
Disposals (86) {6) an (123)
Net transfers to subsidiary undertakings {19 (19
Reclassifications (129) (129)
Balance at 31 March 2010 6,023 563 468 7054
Charge for the penod 441 41 34 516
Disposals 67) (2} N 76)
Impawrment charge* 16 16
Reclassifications (131) (131)
At 31 December 2010 6,282 602 495 7.379
Net book amcunts
31 December 2010 5,491 838 214 6,543
31 March 2010 5523 871 239 5633
Analysis at 31 December 2010
Owned 3,027 827 192 4,046
Finance leased 2,114 16 2,130
Hire purchase arrangements 202 202
Progress payments &0 n [ 77
Assets not in current use** a8 88
5,49 838 214 6,543
Analysis at 31 March 2010
QOwned 2,472 855 219 3546
Finance leased 2,094 17 211
Hire purchase arrangements 770 770
Progress payments 65 6 3 85
Assets not in current use*” 121 121

5523 871 239 6633
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13 Praoperty, plant and equipment continued

b Company continued

Company

31 December 31 March

£ mithon 2010 2010
The net book amount of property comprises

Freehold 206 212

Long leasehold improvements 250 250

Short leasehold improvements*** 382 409

At period end 838 871

«

The smpairment charge relates to two Boeing 747-400 aircraft which were permanently written off to their realisable value during the period
** As at 31 March 2010 eight Boeing 747-400 aircraft were in temporary storage (net book value £121 million) During the pencd, one of these arrcraft
was rewrned to service and two were permanently written down Additionally, one Boeing 757-200 was stood down for disposal The net book value
of the remaining seven 747-400s and one 757-200 as at 31 December 2010 was £88 milion

*** Short leasehold improvements relate to leasehold interests with a duration of less than 50 years

As at 31 December 2010, bank and other loans of the Company are secured on fleet assets with a cost of £1,935 million
(31 March 2010 £1,500 millton) and letters of credit of £230 million in favour of the British Asrways Pension Trustees are secured
on certain arcraft (31 March 2010 £230 million)

tncluded in the cost of tangible assets for the Company 1s £343 million (31 March 2010 £344 million) of capitahsed interest
Property, plant and equipment with a net book value of £2 mithon was disposed by the Company during the nine months ended
31 December 2010 (March 2010 £63 mullion) resulting in no gain or loss (March 2010 toss of £8 million)

¢ Deprecation

Fleet 1s generally depreciated over penods ranging from 18-25 years after making allowance for esumated residual values
Effective annual depreciation rates resulting from those methods are shown in the following table

Group

Nine months to 12 months to

31 December 31 March

Per cent 2010 2010
Boeing 747-400, 777-200 and 777-300 37 37
Boeing 767-300 48 48
Boeing 757-200 44 44
Boeng 737-400 48 48
Arrbus A318, A319, A320 and A321 49 49
Embraer £170 and E190 64 54

For engines maintained under ‘pay-as-you-go' contracts, the depreciation lives and residual values are the same as the arcraft to
which the engines relate For all other engines, the engine core 1s depreciated io residua! value over the average remaming hfe of
the related fleet Major overhaul expenditure is depreciated over periods ranging from 55-78 months, according to engine type

Property, with the exception of freehold land, s depreciated over 1ts expected useful Ife subject to a maximum of 50 years
Equipment 1s depreciated over periads ranging from four to 20 years, according to the type of equipment

d Analysis of Group property, plant and equipmaent additions
Group
Nine months to 12 months to
31 December 31 March
£ mitlion Fleet Property Equipment 2010 2010
Cash pad 492 9 9 510 492
Capitahsed interest 1 1 1
Accrual movements 52 {1 1 52 61
At period end 545 8 10 563 554

Duning the nine months ended 31 December 2010, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment with a cost of £563
milhon {(March 2010 £554 million}
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14 Capital expenditure commitments

Capital expenditure authonsed and contracted for but not provided for in the accounts amounts to £4,104 million for the Group
commzments (31 March 2010 £4,267 million) and £4,069 mullion for the Company commitments (31 March 2010 £4,201
mifion} The majonty of capital expenditure commitments are denominated in US dollars, as such the commitments are subject
to exchange movements

The outstanding commutments include £4,074 mullion for the acquisition of one Boeing 777 (in 2012), 24 Boeing 7875 (from 2012
10 2016), 14 Awrbus A320s (from 2011 to 2014), 12 Arbus A380s {from 2013 to 2016) and two Embraer E-jets (both in 2011)
15 Non-current assets held for sale

The non-current assets held for sale of £33 million (31 March 2010 £30 milion) compnse six Boeing 757 arcraft (31 March 2010
five Boeing 757 aircraft), these arcraft will exit the business within 12 months of 31 December 2010

The sale of one further Boeing 757 arcraft has been agreed, this aircraft will exit the business dunng January 2012

Assers with a net book value of £47 millon were transferred to non-current assets held for sale dunng the rine months ended
31 December 2010 (March 2010 £30 mulhon)

Non-current assets held for sale with a net book value of £44 milhion were disposed of by the Group during the nine month
penod ended 31 December 2010 (March 2010 €mil) resulting n a net loss on disposal of £3 mdlion (March 2010 Enil)

Non-current assets held for sale with a net book value of £39 mullion were disposed of by the Company during the nine month
penod ended 31 December 2010 (March 2010 £nil) resutung in a net loss on disposal of £5 millicn (March 2010 £nl)

16 Intangible assets

a Group
Group

£ million Gaodwill  Landing nghts Software Total
Cost

Balance at 1 Apnl 2009 40 254 150 444
Additions 13 13
Reclassifications f 1
Exchange movements*® (3) (3)
Balance at 31 March 2010 40 251 164 455
Additions 18 17 as
Exchange movements* (0 m
At 31 December 2010 40 268 181 489
Amortisation

Balance at 1 Apnl 2009 - 49 128 177
Charge for the year 9 g
Balance at 31 March 2010 - 49 137 186
Charge for the penod** 7 7
imparrment 10 10
At 31 December 2010 - 59 144 203
Net book amounts

31 December 2010 40 209 37 286
31 March 2010 40 202 27 269

*

Landing nghts with a carrying value of £28 million {31 March 2010 £39 milion) are associated with the acguisitton of LAvion, an arrine operating
services between Pans (Orly) and New York {Mewark) arrponts. These landing nghts are denonminated in euro

As a result of a change in accountng estmate in the pnior year, landing nghts based within the EU are considered to have an indefinite economic life
and are therefore not amortised {note 2) Amortisation on non-EU based landing nghts was less than £1 millien for the current and pnor year
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16 Intangible assets contmued

b Company

Company
£ millicn Landing rights Software Total
Cost
Balance at 1 Apnl 2009 212 150 362
Additions 13 13
Reciassifications 1 1
Balance at 31 March 2010 212 164 376
Additions 18 16 34
At 31 December 2010 230 180 410
Amortisation
Batance at i Apnl 2009 49 128 177
Charge for the year 9 )
Balance at 31 March 2010 49 137 186
Charge for the period* 7 7
At 31 December 2010 49 144 193
Net book amounts
31 December 2010 181 36 207
31 March 2010 163 27 190

*

As a result of a change in accounung estmate i1 the pnor year, landing rights based within the EU are considered to have an indefinite econormic ife
and are therefore not amortised (note 23 Amortisation on non-EU based landing rights was less than E1 million for the current and pnor year

¢ Analysis of Group intangible asset additions (excluding goodwill)

Group

31 Dacember 31 March

£ million Landmg rghts Software 2010 2010
Cash paid 18 17 35 13
Total additions 18 17 35 13

17 Impairment of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets

An annual impairment review is conducted on all mtangible assets that have an indefinite economic life Goodwill and landing
nghts based within the EU are considered to have an indefinite economic life The impairment review I1s carried out at the [evel

of a ‘cash-generating unit’ {CGU), defined as the smallest identifiable group of assets, habihties and associated intangible assets
that generate cash inflows that are largely independent of the Group's other cash flows from other assets or groups of assets On
this basis, an impairment review has been conducted on two CGU's An impairment review was performed on the network airline
operations CGU, including passenger and cargo operations out of all operated arports as well as all related ancillary operations as
it contains both goodwill and landing rights within the EL A separate impairment review has been conducted on the operations
of OpenSkies CGU as it contans landing rights within the EU

An impairment review involves the comparison of the carmying value of the cash-generaung unit to the recoverable amount {f the
carrying value exceeds the recoverable amount an impairment charge 1s recognised to the extent that the carrying value exceeds
the recoverable amount

a  Network airline operations

Group

31 December 31 March

2010 2010

£ milhon Landing nghts Goodwill Total Landing nghts Goodwill Total
Network arrline operations 181 40 AN 163 40 203

The recoverable amount of the network airline operations has been measured based on its value in use, using a discounted cash
flow model, cash flow projections are based on the business plan approved by the Board covenng a five-year period Cash flows
beyond the five-year penod are projected to increase in ine with the UK long-term growth assumpuons The pre-tax discount
rate apphed to the cash flow projections i1s denved from the Group's post-tax weighted average cost of capital, adjusted for the
risks specific to the assets

No impawrment charge has ansen as a result of the review performed on the network arline operations
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17 Impairment of property, plant, equipment and mtangible assets continued

Key assumptions

Group

Nine months to 12 months to

31 December 31 March

2010 2010

Pre-tax discount rate {derived from the long-term weighted average cost of capital) 8 90% 890%
Long-term growth rate 250% 250%
Operating margin range* 50%-71% 23%-80%
Fuel price range per barrel $89 - 995 $74- %79

Although forecast operating margins are more conservative than the prior year, revised forecasts indicate a higher ncrease in the profitabiity outlook,
thus increasing forecast cash generated in the near term

Recoverable amount

Group

Nine months to
31 December 2010

£ mithon Network airline Total
Intangible assets 221 22
Tangible assets 6,858 6,858
Excess of recoverable amount over carrying amount 2,178 2178

Group

12 months to
31 March 2010

£ milhon Network airline Total
Intangible assets 203 203
Tangible assets 6,896 6,896
Excess of recoverable amount over carrying amount 1,400 1,400

The recoverable amount of the assets within the network airine operations exceeds the carrying value by £2 2 billion (31 March
2010 £14 bdlion) If the discount rate were increased by 530 basis points (31 March 2010 350 basis points) or the operating
margin were to decrease by 42 per cent {31 March 2010 25 per cent), the headroom would amount to £nil

b OpenSkies

Group
31 December 31 March
2010 2010
Landing Goodwill Total Landing Goodwill Total
£ million nghts nights
Carrymng value of intangible assets 38 38 39 39
(before impairment charges)
tmpairment of OpenSkies landing nghts (10) (10)
Carrying value of intangible assets 28 28 39 39

The recoverable amount of the OpenSkies CGU has been measured on its value 1n use, using a discounted cash fiow model,
cash flow projections are based on the business plan approved by the Board covering a five-year penod Cash flows beyond the
five-year period are projected 1o increase in hne with the EU long-term growth assumption The pre-tax discount rate apphed to
the cash flow projections 1s denved from OpenSkies' post-tax weighted average cost of capital, adjusted for the nsks speafic to
the assets

The impairment review of OpenSkies resulted in a total impairment charge of €12 million {March 2010 £mil) This imparment
charge was pro-rated to the CGU's non-current assets based on their respective carrying values £10 milion was allocated to
landing nights, with the remainder being allocated to property, plant and equipment
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17 Impairment of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets continued

Key assumptions

Group

Nine months to 12 months to

31 December 31 March

2010 2010

Pre-tax discount rate (derved from the long-term weighted average cost of capital} 8 90% 890%
Long-term growth rate 250% 250%
Operating margm range* (124%)-39% (114%)- 86%
Fuel price range per barrel $89 - 595 $74- 379

The headroom between OpenSkies carrying valie and the recoverable amount of its assets is currently nil, therefore any adverse
change 1o the discount rate or the operating margin will result in further impairment.
At 31 March 2010, the recoverable amount of the assets within OpenSkies exceeded the carrying value by £200 million

The operating margins of both CGU's are based on the estimated effects of planned business efficiency and business change
programmes, approved and enacted at the balance sheet date The trading environment 15 subject to both regulatory and
competitive pressures that can have a matenal effect on the operating performance of the business

¢ Imparment of Fleet

During the nine months ended 31 December 2010 two Boeing 747-400 arrcraft were permanently stocd down As a result, the
two aircraft were written down to their net realisable value and an imparrment charge of £16 mullion was realised These arcraft
are included in assets not in current use at 31 December 2010

The imparrment review of OpenSkies resulted in a rotal impairment charge of £12 milhon This impairment was pro-raied to the
CGU's non-current assets based on their respective carrying values £2 million was allocated to fleet, with the remainder being
allocated te landing rights

18 Investments

a Group
Investment 1n associates Group
31 December 31 March
£ milhien 2010 2010
Balance at 1 April 197 209
Exchange movements 7)) (14}
Share of attributable results 6 (32)
Share of movements on other reserves 48 34
At period end 244 197
Market value of listed associates Group
31 December 31 March
E million 2010 2010
At period end 340 287

Details of the investments that the Group accounts for as associates using the equity method are set out below

Percentage of Pancpal Country of mcarporation
equity owned activities Holding and principal operations
Ibena, Lineas Aéreas de Espafia S.A. (Ibena)* 1315 Aurlne operations  Ordinary shares Spain

Held by a subsidiary company
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18 Investments continued

a Group continued

The Group accounts far its investment in Ibena as an associate although the Group holds less than 20 per cent of the issued
share capital as the Group has the ability to exeraise significant influence over the investment due to the Group's voting power
{both through its equity holding and s representation on key decision-making commitiees) and the nature of its commercial
relationships with 1beria See note 37 for post balance sheet event relating to beria

The following summarised financial iInformation of the Group's investment 1n associates i1s shown based on the Group’s share of

results and net assets

Group
31 December 31 March
£ millon 2010 2010
Nan-current assets 343 276
Current assets 330 315
Current liabilities (229) (207)
Non-current iabilives (216) (203}
Share of net assets 228 181
Goodwill attnbutable to investments in associates 16 16
Revenues 405 528
Net profit/(foss) after tax 6 (32)
b Company
A summary of the Company’s investments 15 set out below
Company
Total Total
31 December 31 March
£ million Cost Provisions 2010 2010
Balance at 1 Apni 3,387 (1,019} 2,368 2,356
Exchange movements 8 8) (8)
Additions 9
Dissolution of minor subsidiaries (3) 3
Provision 27 (27) i
At pertod end 3,376 (+.043) 2,333 2368

The Company accounts for its investments in subsidianies and associates using the cost method

The Group’s and Company’s principal investments in subsidianes, associates and other investments are hsted i principal

investments on page 114

The prowision of £27 milhon at 31 Decemnber 2010 relates to the £15 milhon impairment of the Group's investment in The Plimsoll
Line, which holds the investment in Flybe Group pic and the £12 mullion impairment of the Company’s investment in BA European

Limited, which holds the Group's investment in OpenSkies

During the pnor year, the Company ivested £9 milhon in the subsidiary BA European Limited in order 1o fund the contingent

purchase consideration of French airine LAvion

The Company reversed an impairment provision of £11 million relating to the write-up of the Company's investment in

The PhmscH Line Limited
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19 Awvallable-for-sale financial assets

Group Company

31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March

£ mithon 2010 2010 2010 2010
Avallable-for-sale financial assets 65 76 18 21

Avallable-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value For listed investments the fair value comprises the market pnice at the
balance sheet date For unlisted investments the fair value is estimated by reference to an earnings multiple model or by reference
to other valuation methods

In December 2010 Flybe Ltd isted on the London Stock Exchange and became Flybe Group plc The Group invested a further
£9 million in Flybe Group plc in order to maintain a 15% holding, increasing the value of the holding in Flybe Group plc to £50
milion As a result of the listing, Flybe Group plc 1s now classified as a Level 1 financial asset and measured at its far value (market
price) The valuation at 31 Decemnber 2010 showed a decline in fair value and accordingly the Group recognised an impairment
charge of £15 million in the income statement (note 18)

In the prior year, the Group performed a review of its Investment in Flybe Ltd at 31 March 2010 The review showed an increase
in fair value from £30 millron at 31 March 2009, to £41 milhon at 31 March 2010, as a result of improvements in the Group's
expectation of an impravement in “Flybe's" forecast revenue growth and net debt positicn at the balance sheet date Accordingly,

the Group recognised an £11 mullion write-up relaning to Fiybe Ltd in the statement of other comprehensive income

Available-for-sale nvestments include investments in isted ordinary shares, which by their nature have no fixed matunty date or
coupon rate

The table below shows total listed and unlisted available-for-sale investments

Group Company

31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March

£ mithon 2010 2010 2010 2010
Listed 47 14

Unhsted 18 62 18 21

At peniod end 65 76 18 21

For a summary of the movement 1n available-for-sale financial assets, refer to note 30

20 Inventones

Group Company

31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March

E milion 2010 2010 2010 2010

Expendables and consumables 98 98 96 97
21 Trade recevables

Group Company

31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March

£ million 2010 2010 2010 2010

Trade recevables 393 509 377 496

Provision for doubtful receivables 9 (1) (9) (10)

Net trade receivables 384 499 368 486
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21 Trade receivables continued

Movements in the provision for doubtful trade receivables were as follows

£ milhen

Group Company

At 1 Apnl 2009 13 13
Prowision for doubtful receivables 7 7
Recewables wnitten off during the year (6) (6)
Unused amounts reversed (4) {4}
At 31 March 2010 10 i0
Provision for doubtful receivables 2 2
Recewvables written off during the penod U] m
Unused amounts reversed (2) 2)
At 31 December 2010 9 9

The ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows

Past due but not impaired

£ million Total Neither past due < 30 days 30 - 60 days > 60 days
nor impaired
Group
31 December 2010 384 345 25 4 10
31 March 2010 499 473 12 7 7
Company
31 December 2010 368 339 18 2 9
31 March 2010 486 471 5 7
Trade recevablas are generally non-interest-beanng and on 30 days terms
22 Other current assets
Group Company
31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March
£ milhon 2010 2010 2010 2010
Amounts owed by subsidiantes 172 144
Other debtors 99 77 99 76
Prepayments and accrued income 161 212 106 156
At period end 260 289 377 376
23 Cash, cash equivalents and other current interest-bearing deposits
a Cash and cash equivalents
Group Company
31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March 3
£ midlion 2010 2010 2010 2010 o
Cash at bank and in hand 614 562 589 535 a
Short-term deposits falling due within three months 165 224 164 221 §
Cash and cash equivalents 75 786 753 756 S
Other current interest-bearing deposits maturning after 1,173 928 1,153 908 g

three months
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23 Cash, cash equivalents and other current interest-bearing deposits continued

a Cash and cash equivalents continued

Cash at bank 1s primanly held in AAA money market funds and bank deposits Short-term deposits are made for penods up to
three menths depending on the cash requirements of the Group and earn interest based on the floating deposit rates The farr
value of cash and cash equivalents s £779 million for the Group (31 March 2010 £786 million) and for the Company £753 mitlion

(31 March 2010 £756 milhion)

At 31 December 2010, the Group and Company had no outstanding bank overdrafts (31 March 2010 £nil)
Other current interest-beanng deposits are made for penods in excess of three months with maturity typically within 12 months

and earn interest based on the market rates avalable at the itme the deposit was made

b Reconcihation of net cash flow to movement in net debt

Group
31 December 31 March
£ million 2010 2010
{Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents during the penod (37 344
Net cash outflow from decrease in debt and lease financing 449 769
Increase/(decrease) in other current interest-beanng deposits 245 {51)
New loans and finance leases taken out and hire purchase arrangements made (368) (1,053)
Decrease in net debt resulting from cash flow 289 9
Exchange movements and other non-cash movements (2) 85
Decrease in net debt during the period 287 94
Net debt at 1 Apnil (2,288) (2.382)
Net debt at period end (2,009 {2.288)
¢ Analysis of net debt
Group
Balance at Net Other Balance at
£ millton 1 Apnl cash flow non-cash Exchange period end
Cash and cash equivalents 402 344 40 786
Current interest-beanng deposits maturing 979 (51 928
after three months
Bank and other loans (848) (625) {1 (1,484)
Finance leases and hire purchase (2915) 341 (24) 80 (2,518)
arrangements
At 31 March 2010 (2,382) 9 (24) 109 {2,288}
Cash and cash equivalents 786 3N 30 779
Current interest-beanng deposits maturing 928 245 1,173
after three months
Bank and other loans (1,484) (88) (16) (23} (1,611)
Finance leases and hire purchase (2,518} 169 (14) 21 (2,342)
arrangements
At 31 December 2010 (2,288) 289 30) 28 (2,001)

Net debt compnses the current and non-current portions of long-term borrowings less cash and cash equivalents and other

Interest-bearing deposits




British Airways Report and Accounts to December 2010

"/

24 Trade and other payables

Group Company
31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March
E million 2010 2010 2010 2010
Trade creditors n7 623 679 581
Unredeemed frequent flyer habiities 4 2 4 3
Amounts owed to subsidiary companies 2,672 2737
Other creditors
Other creditors 475 567 4n 560
Other taxation and social security 36 29 35 26
51 59 506 585
Accruals and deferred income
Sales in advance of carnage 755 919 715 875
Accruals and deferred income 828 770 527 474
1,583 1689 1,242 1349
At peniod end 2,815 2,910 5,103 52568
25 Other long-term habilities
Group Company
31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March
£ milion 2010 2010 2010 2010
Other creditors 10 7
Accruals and deferred income 296 225 265 194
At period end 306 232 265 194
26 Long-term borrowings
Group Company
31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March
E mithon 2010 2010 2010 2010
a Current
Bank and other loans* 177 139 152 1e
Finance leases** 217 129 230 140
Hire purchase arrangements 63 288 63 288
Loans from subsidaries 1 7
At pericd end 457 556 456 554
b Nen-current
Bank and other loans*® 1,434 1345 1,120 1,069
Finance leases** 2,044 2077 2,202 2246
Hire purchase arrangements 18 24 18 24
Loans from subsidiaries 397 359
At penod end 3,496 3446 3,737 3698

-

plant and equipment

-

Bank and other loans are repayable up to the year 2024 Bank and other loans of the Group amounung te US$314 million (31 March 2010 US$231
million), €70 mitlion (31 March 2010 €73 million), ¥53,939 million (31 March 2010 ¥45,474 millon) and £332 mufhon (31 March 2010 £350 millon),
and bank loans of the Company amounting to U5$314 million (31 March 2010 US381 million), €70 milkon (31 March 2010 €73 milhon), ¥53,93%
mithon {31 March 2010 ¥45,474 milhen) and £146 millign (31 March 2010 £154 muthon) are secured on arcraft. Euro-sterling notes, other loans and
loans from subsidiary undertakings are not secured Finance leases and hire purchase arrangements are all secured on aircraft or other property,

Included n finance leases for the Company 15 £171 mihon (31 March 2010 £180 milion) of finance leases with other subsidranes of the Group, of which
£13 milhon (31 March 2010 £11 mulbon) 15 classified as current
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26 Long-term berrowings continued

c

Bank and other loans

Bank and other loans comprise the following

Group Company
31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March
£ milhion 2010 2010 2010 2010
£350 mullion fixed rate 58 per cent convertible bond 2014 (1} 285 269 285 269
£250 milion fixed rate 875 per cent eurobonds 2016 (i) 248 248 248 248
Floating rate sterling mortgage ioans secured on arcraft (i) 1m 175 128 132
Floating rate US dollar mortgage loans secured on aircraft (iv) 49 54 49 54
Fixed rate sterling mortgage loans secured on aircraft (v) 160 175 17 21
Floating rate Japanese yen mortgage loans secured on arcraft (vi} 415 321 415 321
Floaung rate US dollar mortgage toans secured on plant and equipment (v} 36 40 36 40
Floating rate euro mortgage loan secured on awcraft (vin) 60 65 60 65
Fixed rate US dollar mortgage loan secured on aircraft (1x) 153 99
European Investment Bank sterling loans secured on property (x) 34 38 34 38
1,61 484 1,272 1188
Less current instalments due on bank loans 177 139 152 na
At period end 1,434 1345 1,120 1069
()} €350 million fixed rate 5 8 per cent convertible bond, raising cash of £341 milion (net of 1ssue costs), convertible into ordinary shares at the option

(n)
{ni}

(v)

)

)

of the holder, before or upon matunty in August 2014 Conversion inte ordinary shares will occur at a premium of 38 per cent on the Group's share
pnice on the date of issuance The Group hold an option to redeem the canveruble bond at its principal amount, together with accrued interes:, upon
futfillment of certain pre-determined cniternia The equity portion of the convertible bond i1ssue 5 included in other reserves See note 37 for effective
convertible after the merger

£250 million fixed rate 875 per cent unsecured eurcbonds 2016 are repayable in one instalment on 23 August 2016

Floating rate sterling mortgage loans are secured on specific arrcraft assets of the Group and bear interest of between 0 53 per cent and 0 59 per cent
above LIBOR. The loans are repayable batween 2015 and 2019

Floating rate LIS dollar mortgage loans are secured on specific arcraft assets of the Group and bear interest of between Q 40 per cent and 0 99 per
cant above LIBOR The loans are repayable between 2011 and 2016

Fixed rate steriing mortgage loans are secured on specific arcraft assets of the Group and bear interest at 6 14 per cent 10 7 35 per cent. The loans
are repayable between 2012 and 2018

Floating rate Japanese yen mortgage loans are secured on specific arcraft assets of the Group and bear interest of 0 55 per cent above LIBOR
The loans are repayable in 2015

{vn) Floating rate US dollar mortgage loans are secured on certain plant and equipment of the Group and bear interest of 0 75 per ¢ent above LIBOR.

The loans are repayable in 2014

{virt) The floating rate euro mortgage loan 1s secured on specific aircraft assets of the Group and bears interest of 0 S per cent above LIBOR. The loan 1s

repayable in 2024

(1%} Fixed rate US dollar mortgage loans are secured on specific aircraft assets of the Group These loans bear an average interest of 4 63 per cent and

(x)

are repayable in 2022

European {nvestment Bank loans are secured on certain property assets of the Group and bear interest of 0 20 per cent below LIBOR. The loans are
repayable between 2014 and 2017
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26 Long-term borrowings continued

d Total loans, finance leases and hire purchase arrangements

Group Campany
31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March
£ mithon 2010 2010 2010 2010
Loans
Bank.
US dollar $369 $292 5132 3142
Euro €70 €73 €70 €73
Japanese yen ¥53,939 ¥45,474 ¥53,939 ¥45,474
Sterling £366 £389 E179 £192
£1,078 £967 £739 £671
Fixed rate bonds
Sterhing £533 £517 £533 E517
Loans from subsidiary undertakings
US dollar $237 $150
Euro €300 €300
£408 £366
Finance leases
US dollar $1,940 $1.777 $1,940 77
Euro €130 €116 €130 €116
Japanese yen ¥3,268 ¥2,131 ¥3,268 ¥2131
Sterhng £876 £915 £1,047 £1,095
£2,261 £2,206 £2.432 £2,386
Hire purchase arrangements
LS dollar $46 $55 546 $55
Japanese yen ¥6,604 ¥38,997 ¥6,604 ¥38,997
£81 £312 €81 £312
At period end £3,953 £4,002 £4,193 £4,252

e Obhgations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts

The Group uses finance leases and hire purchase contracts principally to acquire arcraft These leases have both renewal
opuons and purchase options These are at the opuon of the Group Future mimimum lease payments under finance leases
and hire purchase contracts are as follows

Group Company
31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March
£ miihon 2010 2010 2010 2010
Future mimimum payments due
Within one year 339 468 361 489
After more than one year but within five years 1,094 909 1,190 1,002
In five years or more 1,235 1618 1,330 1732 ‘::':T
2,668 2995 2,881 3223 a.
Less Finance charges 326 477 368 525 @
Present value of minimum lease payments 2,342 2518 2,513 2698 §7
The present value of muinimum lease payments I1s analysed as follows f?b,
Within one year 280 417 293 428
After mare than one year but within five years 905 723 a77 780
In five years or more 1,157 1378 1,243 1,480

At period end 2,342 2518 2,513 2698
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27 Operating lease commitments

The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain properties, equpment and arcraft These leases have durations ranging
from five years for aircraft to 150 years for ground teases Certain leases contain options for renewal

a Fleet

The aggregate payments, for which there are commitments under operating leases fall due as follows

Group Company
31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March
£ milicn 2010 2010 2010 2010
Within one year 73 82 67 72
Between one and five years 255 348 261 335
Owver five years 297 444 297 444
At penod end 635 874 625 851
b Property and equipment
The aggregate payments, for which there are commitments under operating leases fall due as follows
Group Company
31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March
£ milhon 2010 2010 2010 2010
Within one year 89 98 86 95
Between one and five years 290 306 281 296
Owver five years, ranging up to the year 2145 1,756 1,585 1,754 1,581
At period end 2,135 1,989 2121 1972

c  Sub-leasing

The Group and Company sub-lease surplus rental properties and arcraft assets held under non-cancellable leases to third paruies
and subsidiary comparies These leases have remaining terms of one to 27 years and the assets are surplus to the Group's
requirements Future mimimum rentals recervable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows

Group Company
31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March
£ miflion 2010 2010 2010 2010
Fleet
Within one year 4 6 1 3
Between one and five years !
At period end 4 7 1 3
Property and equipment
Within one year 8 7 8 7
Between one and five years 26 25 26 25
Over five years 4 4
At period end 34 36 34 36
28 Provisions for liabilities and charges
Group
Onerous  Resteration
Insurance lease and handback
£ mitlion DIOVISIONS CONLTacts prowisions Restructunng  Liugauon Other Total
At 1 Aprl 2010
Current 10 28 222 260
Non-current 13 9 91 a3 13 159
i3 9 101 28 255 13 419
Ansing during the year n t 27 12 2 29 82
Uuhsed 2 (9) (14) 3 (14) (42)
Release of unused amounts {n (5) {6) @ (19}
Exchange (2) (4) ©)
Unwinding of discount 1 12 13
At 31 December 2010 24 7 13 20 262 21 447
Analysis
Current 1 24 20 230 8 283
Non-current 24 6 89 32 13 164
24 7 113 20 262 2 447
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28 Prowvisions for llabilities and charges continued

Company
Qnerous Restoration
lease and handback
£ million contracts provisions  Restructunng Litigation Other Total
At Apnl 2010
Current 7 28 222 257
Non-current 6 8% 33 13 141
6 96 28 255 13 398
Ansing duning the year 1 27 12 2 29 L
Utilised ) ") (14) () {(14) (39)
Release of unused amounts 5 6} 7} (18)
Exchange (2) (4) (6)
Unwinding of discount 1 i2 13
At 31 December 2010 6 1o 20 262 21 419
Analysis
Current 22 20 230 8 280
Non-current 6 88 32 13 139
6 110 20 262 21 419

Insurance provisions relate to provisions held by the Group’s captive insurer, Speedbird Insurance Company Limited, for incurred
but not reported losses Such prowisions are held unul utihised or such ume as further claims are considered unlikely under the
respective Insurance policies

The onerous lease provision includes the sub-lease of six Avro RJ100 awrcraft to Swiss International Air Lines This provision will
be fully utiised by October 2011 In addition, the provision includes amounts relating to properties leased by the Group that are
either sub-leased to third paruies or are vacant with no immediate intention to utilise the property This provision will be fully
uthsed by Apnl 2037

Restoratien and handback costs include provision for the costs to meet the contractual return condibiens on arrcraft held
under aperaung ieases The provision also includes amounts relating to leased land and builldings where restoration costs are
contractually required at the end of the lease Where such costs arise as a result of capital expenditure on the leased asset, the
restoration costs are also capitalised This provision will be utiised by March 2051

The Group recognised a restructunng provision of £20 milion at 31 December 2010 (March 2010 £28 million) including targeted
voluntary severance schemes previously announced This provision is expected to be paid during the next financial year

There are ongong investigations into the Group's passenger fuel surcharges in the UK and into cargo fuel surcharges in South
Afnica and New Zealand The Company 15 also subject to related class action claims in various junsdictiens The final amount
required to pay the remaming claims and fines 1s subject to uncertainty A detailed breakdown of the remaining provision 1s not
presented as it may serously prejudice the position of the Company in these regulatory investigations and potential itigation

Other provisions include staff leaving indemniuies relating to amounts due to staff under various overseas
contractual arrangements

29 Financial nsk management objectives and policies

The Group 1s exposed to a vaniety of financial nsks market nisk (including foreign currency nsk, interest rate nsk and fuel price
nsk), credit nsk, capital nsk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall sk management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance

Group treasury carries out financial nsk management under governance approved by the Board Group treasury identifies,
evaluates and hedges financial nsks The Board provides wntten principles for overall sk management, as well as written pohcies
covering spectfic areas, such as foreign exchange nisk, interest rate nsk, credit nsk, use of denvative financial instrurments and
investment of excess liquidity

a3 Fuel price nsk

The Group 1s exposed to fuel pnce nsk The Group's fuel price risk management strategy aims to provide the airine with
protection against sudden and significant increases in ol prices while ensunng that the arrline is not competitively disadvantaged
in a serious way 1n the event of a substannial fall tn the price of fuel

In meeting these objectives, the fuel nsk management programme allows for the use of a number of denvatives avallable on
the over-the-counier (OTC) markets with approved counterparties and within approved hmits
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29 Financial nsk management objectives and policies continued

a Fuel price nsk continued

The following table demonstrates the sensitvity of financial instruments to a reascnably possible change in fuel prices, with all
other vaniables held constant, on profit before tax and equity

Group Company
31 DPecember 2010 31 March 2010 31 December 2010 31 March 2010

Effect fncrease/ Effect Increase/ Effect increase/ Effect

Increase/  on profit {decrease} on profit (decrease)  on profit {decrease) on profit
(decrease) before Effect on in fuel before Effecton In fuel before Effect on in fuet before Effecton
i fuel price tax equity price tax equity price tax equity price tax equity
percent Emillion £ million percent £mihon Emillon percent Emillion £ million percent Emillion £ mihon
30 (4) 420 30 4 432 30 (5) 420 30 4 432
(30) (16) (340) (30) an (420) (30) (15) (340) (30) (11} (420)

b Foreign currency nisk

The Group is exposed to currency risk on revenue, purchases and borrowings that are denomunated in a currency other

than sterling The currencies in which these transactions are primanly denominated are US dollar, euro and Japanese yen (yen)
The Group generates a surplus in most currencies in which it does bustness The US dollar 1s an exception as capital expenditure,
debt repayments and fuel payments denominated in US dollars normally create a deficit

The Group can expenence adverse or beneficial effects ansing from foreign exchange rate moverments The Group seeks to
reduce foreign exchange exposures arising from transactions in vanous currencies through a policy of matching, as far as possible,
recetpts and payments in each mdividual currency Surpluses of convertible currencies are sold, either spot or forward, for US
dolfars or pounds sterling

The Group has substantial labiliies denominated in LS dollar, euro and Japanese yen
The Group utilises its US dollar, euro and yen debt repayments as a hedge of future US dollar, euro and yen revenues

Forward foreign exchange contracts and currency options are used to cover near-term future revenues and operating payments
in a vaniety of currencies

The following table demonstrates the sensitvity of financial instruments to a reasonably possible change in the LS dollar, euro
and Japanese yen exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, on profit/(loss) before tax and equity

Effect Effect

Strengtheming/  on profit Strengthering/ Effect Strengthening/  on profit
{weakening) in before Effecton (weakening) in on profit  Effect on {weakening) n before Effect on
US dollar rate 1ax equity euro rate  before tax equity yen rate tax equity
Group per cent £ million £ million percent Emilion E million percent £ million E million
31 December 2010 20 (8) (160) 20 3) (70) 20 )] (98)
(20) 8 160 (20) 3 70 (20} 7 98
31 March 2010 20 5 (185} 20 f (38} 20 (19) (104)
(20) (5) 184 (20) (1) 38 {20) 19 104

Effect Effect

Strengthening/  on profit Strengtheming/ Effect Strengthening/  on profit
(weakering) In before Effecton (weakening} in on profit  Effect on (weakening) in before  Effecton
UsS dollar rate tax equity euro rate  before tax equity yenrate 1ax equity
Company percent Emillion Eruilion per cent £midhion £ milkon percent  £miion £ million
31 December 2010 20 (12) (160) 20 4 (70) 20 @ (98)
(20) 12 160 (20) 4 70 (20) 7 98
31 March 2010 20 (185) 20 (38) 20 (19} (104)
(20) 184 (20) 38 (200 9 104

¢ Interest rate risk

The Group 15 exposed to changes in interest rates on floaung rate debt and cash deposits Had there been a 100 basis point
Increase In interest rates, there would have been a £nil impact on the Group and Company's shareholders’ equity, but a £1 million
favourable impact to both the Group and Company’s income statement A 50 basis point decrease in interest rates would have
resulted in a £l impact to shareholder equity or the income statement for both Group and Company
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29 Financial nsk management cbjectives and policies continued

d Credit risk

The Group 1s exposed to credit nisk to the extent of non-performance by its counterparties in respect of financial assets
recevable However, the Group has policies and procedures in place to ensure credit nsk 1s himited by placing credit imits on
each counterparty The Group continuously monitors counterparty credit imits and defaults of counterparties, incorporaung this
mformation into credit nsk controls Treasury activities which include placing money market deposits, fuel hedging and foreign
currency transactions could fead to a concentration of different credit nsks on the same counterparty This nisk 1s managed by

the allocation of an overall exposure limit for the counterparty that 1s then allocated down to specific treasury actvites for that
party Exposures at the acuvity level are monitored on a daily basis and the overall exposure limit for the counterparty s reviewed
at least monthly in the light of available market information such as credit ratings and credit default swap levels It 1s the Group’s
policy that alt counterparties who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures

The maximum exposure to credit nsk s imited to the carrying value of each class of asset as summarised n note 30

The Group does not hold any collateral to mingate this exposure Credit nsks ansing from acuing as guarantor are disclosed in
note 35

e Liquidity risk

Prudent hquidity nsk management inchudes maintaining sufficient cash and interest bearing deposits, the avallabihty of funding
from an adequate amount of credit faciliies and the ability to close out market posiions Due to the dynamic nature of the
underlying business, Group treasury maintains flexibidity in funding by maintaining availability under committed credit hnes

The Company's long-term corporate debt raungs at 31 December 2010 assigned by Moody's and Standard and Poor'’s
respectively were Bl and BB- The Group has adequate cash reserves to meet operating requirements for the next 12 months

The stabihity of the liquidity position 1s maintained through the Group having no financial covenants or material adverse change
clauses n its drawn and undrawn debt facihues In addition, fuel and currency hedging 1s carned out on an open credit basis
with no collateralisation or margin call requirements

At 31 December 2010 the Group and Company had unused overdraft facihues of £10 milhon (31 March 2010 £10 million)

The Group and Company held undrawn uncommitted money market ines of £25 million as at 31 December 2010 (31 March
2010 £25 mulion)

The Group and Company had the following undrawn general and committed arrcraft financing fachues
31 December 2010

Million Currency £ equivalent
US dollar fachity expiring June 2013 $708 456
US dollar faciity expiring September 2016 $966 622
US dolfar facility expinng October 2016 $509 327
US doltar facility expining June 2012 $696 448
Japanese yen facility expinng January 2011 ¥7.784 60

31 March 2010

Milhon Currency £ equivalent
US dollar facility expiring June 2013 $912 602
US doltar faciity expiring September 2016 $966 638
US dollar faciity expiring October 2010 $114 75
US dolar faciity expining October 2016 $509 336
US dollar facility expiring December 2010 598 65
US dallar facility expinng June 20312 $750 495

Japanese yen faclity expinng January 2011 ¥24,281 172
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29 Financial sk management objectives and policies contmnued

e Liquidity nsk continued

The table below analyses the Group's financial assets and habilities into relevant matunty groupings based on the remaining period
at the balance sheet to the contractual maturity date The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash

flows and include interest.

Group
Within 6 612 1-2 2-5 Mare than Total
£ million months months years years 5 years 2010
Cash and cash equivalents 779 779
Cther current interest-bearing deposits 97 256 1,173
Trade recervables 384 384
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Finance lease and hire purchase obligations (210) {129} (245) (849) (1,235) (2,668)
Fixed rate borrowngs (42) (48) (90) (509) (459) (1,148)
Floating rate borrowings (85) (68) (145) (375) (120} (793)
Trade and other payables (1,228) (t.228)
Dervative finzncial mstruments
Cross currency swaps m (2) n ()]
Forward currency contracts 3 3 6
Fuel derivauves 82 44 19 145
Forward currency contracts _{8) (2) (1M
At 31 December 592 56 (462) (1,735) (1,815) (3,364)
Group
Wwithin 6 6-12 -2 2-5 Morethan5 Total
E mithon months months years years years 2010
Cash and cash equivalents 786 786
Other current interest-bearing deposits 833 95 928
Trade recewvables 499 499
Interest-bearing loans and barrowings
Finance lease and hire purchase obligations (286) (182) (201} (708) (1618} {2.995)
Fixed rate borrowings (47) (36) (83} (485) (455} (1106)
Floating rate borrowings {43) {71) (113} (317) (174} (724)
Trade and other payables (1,.219) 1,219}
Denvative financial instruments
Cross currency swaps (1 (2) (2) (5)
Forward currency contracts 17 4 21
Fuel derivatives 24 20 27 71
Forward currency contracts (3) {3)
At 31 March 555 (170) {371) (1512} (2,249) {3,747}
Company
Within 6 6-12 1-2 2-5 More than Total
£ mithon months months years years 5 years 2010
Cash and cash equivalents 753 753
Other current interest-bearing deposits 897 256 1,153
Trade recevables 368 368
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Finance lease and hire purchase obhgations (221 (140) 267} (923) {1,330) (2,881)
Fixed rate borrowings (43) (43) (87) (496) 1,037) {1,706)
Floating rate borrowings (82) (68) (141} (361} (96) (748)
Trade and other payables (3.857) (3,857)
Derwauve fingncial instruments
Cross currency swaps {1} 2) {n (4)
Forward currency contracts 3 3 6
Fuel denvauves a2 44 19 145
Forward currency contracts (9) @ (i)
At 31 December (2,109) 50 (477) (1,782) (2,464) (6,782)
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29 Financial nsk management objectives and policies continued

e Liguidity nsk continued

Company
Within 6 6-12 -2 2-5 More than Total
£ millron months months years years 5 years 2010
Cash and cash equivalents 756 756
Other current interest-bearing deposits 813 as g08
Trade receivables 486 486
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Finance lease and hire purchase obligations (301) {188) (222) (780) (1,732) (3223}
Fixed rate borrowings (40} {40) (81) (477) (1,057) (1,695}
Floaung rate borrowings {49) {68) (109) (303) (150) (679)
Trade and other payables (3,904) (3,904)
Dervative financial instruments
Cross currency swaps ( 2 2 (5
Forward currency contracts 17 4 21
Fuel dervatives 24 20 27 7t
Forward currency contracts (3 {1 {4)
At 31 March {2,201 (178} (386} (1562) (2,941) {7.268)

f Capital nsk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintamn an optimal capital structure to reduce the
cost of capital

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio, net debt as a percentage of
total capital Net debt is defined as the total borrowings, finance leases and hire purchase habilities, net interest-bearning deposits
and cash and cash equivalents less overdrafts See note 23 for details of the calculation of net debt Total capital is defined as the
total of capital, reserves, non-controlhng interests and net debt

The geanng ratios at each period end were as follows

Group

31 December 31 March

£ milhon (except ratios) 2010 2010
Capital reserves 2,200 1,913
Add non-controlling interests 200 200
Total equity 2,400 2113
Net debt (3) 2,001 2,288
Total caputal (b) 4,401 4,401
Geanng rauo (a)/{b) 455 520

30 Financial instruments

a Fair values of financial assets and financial hiabilities

The fair values of the Group's financial instruments are disclosed in hierarchy levels depending on the nature of the inputs used
in determirung the fair values as follows

Level 1 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in acuve markets for identical assets or liabiives,
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Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1, that are observable for the asset or hability, either directly or
indirectly, and

Level 3 Inputs for the asset or hability that are not based on observable market data




96

Britisk Airways Report and Accounts to December 2010

Notes to the accounts continued

30 Financial instruments continued

a Farwr values of financial assets and financral iabshties continued

The carrying amounts and farr values of the Group’s financial assets and habilities at 31 December 2010 are set out below

Group
Fair value Carrying value
£ mithon Level | Level 2 Level 3 Total Total
Financial assets
Avallable-for-sale financia! assets 437 18 65 65
Forward currency contracts* & 6 &
Fuel derivatives® 145 145 145
Financial habiities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Finance lease and hire purchase obligations 2,432 2,432 2,342
Fixed rate borrowings 675 346 1,021 846
Floating rate borrowings 765 765 765
Cross currency swaps** 4 4 4
Forward currency contracts** 10 10 10
*  Current portion of denvauve financizl assets 1s £132 mulon
**  Current poruon of denvative financial habihties 1s £10 milhion
The fair values of the Group's financial assets and habihties at 31 March 2010 are set out below
Group
Farr value Carrying value
£ mullion Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Total
Financial assets
Avallable-for-sale finangial assets 4 62 76 76
Forward currency contracts* 2t 21 21
Fuel derwvatives” 80 80 80
Financial habilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowngs
Finance lease and hire purchase obligations 2,599 2,599 2518
Fixed rate borrowings 535 443 978 856
Floating rate borrowings 628 628 628
Cross currency swaps** 5 5 5
Forward currency contracts** 3 3 3
Fuel derivatives™™ 9 9 9
*  Current portion of derivauve financial assets 1s £74 million
**  Current portion of derivative financial habilines 15 £12 million
The far values of the Company’s financial assets and habthuies at 31 December 2010 are set out below
Company
Fair value Carrying value
£ mithon Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Total
Financial assets
Awvallable-for-sale financial assets 18 18 18
Forward currency contracts” & 6 6
Fuel derivatives® 145 145 145
Financial liabilities
Interest-beanng loans and borrowings
Finance lease and hire purchase obligations 2621 2,62 2,513
Fixed rate borrowings 675 443 1,118 958
Floating rate borrowings 722 722 722
Cross currency swaps™* 4 4 4
Forward currency contracts** 1 1 1
Fuel derivatives** 1 1 1

*  Current portion of denvative financial assets is £132 million

Current portion of denvative financial habiities 1s £11 mulkon

*w
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30 Financial instruments continued

a Fair values of financial assets and financial habwlities continued
The fair values of the Company's financial assets and liabilities at 31 March 2010 are set out below

Company
Fair value Carrying value
£ million Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Total
Financial assets
Awvallable-for-sale financial assets 21 21 2]
Forward currency contracts* 21 21 21
Fuel derivatives* 80 80 80
Financial habilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Finance lease and hire purchase obiigations 2796 2,796 2698
Fixed rate borrowings 535 536 1071 969
Floating rate borrowings 585 585 585
Cross currency swaps*® 5 5 5
Forward currency contracts** 4 4 4
Fuel derivatives** 9 9 9

*  Current poruon of denvative financial assets 1s £74 millon
**  Current partion of denvative financaal habihties 1s £13 milhion

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Group in estimating its fair value disclosures for financial instrurments
Available-for-sale financial assets and loan notes

Listed fixed asset investments (level 1) are stated at market value as at 31 December 2010 For other investments (level 3)

the fair value cannot be measured reliably, as such these assets are stated at historic cost less accumulated impairment losses
Bank and other loans, finance leases, hire purchase arrangements and the non-japanese yen denominated portions of hire
purchase arrangements carrying fixed rates of interest

The repayments that the Group 1s committed to make have been discounted at the relevant market interest rates applicable at
31 December 2010 {level2)

Japanese yen denominated portions of hire purchase arrangements carrying fixed rates of interest

These amounts relate to the tax equity poruons of Japanese leveraged leases which are personal to the Group, cannot be
assigned and could not be refinanced or replaced in the same cross border market on a marked-to-market basis The carrying
value of £51 million (31 March 2010 €276 milion) s determined with reference 1o the effecuve interest rate (level 2)

Euro-sterling notes and Euro-sterling bond 2016
These are stated at quoted market value (level 1)
Convertible bond 2014

These are stated at quoted market value (fevel 1)

Forward currency transactions and over-the-counter (OTC) fuel denivatives
These are stated at the market vatue of instruments with similar terms and conditions at the balance sheet date (fevel 2)

b Level 3 financial assets reconciliation
The following table summanses key movements in level 3 financial assets

-
Group Company 3
31 December 31March 31 December 31 March 2,
£ milion 2010 2010 2010 2010 -
At 1 Apn 62 57 21 27 o
Wnite-up of available-for-sale financial assets (note 19) n ‘5‘3
Repayment of loan notes (classified as avalable-for-sale financial assets}) (4) (7} (4) (7) g
Interest accrued on loan notes (classified as available-for-sale financial assets) 1 1 1 1 v
Reclassification of available-for-sale investment to level 1* (41)
At penod end 18 62 18 2]

+*

Investrnent i Flybe Lirited was reclassified from Level 3 to Level 1 as a result of the instrument being 1isted on the Londan Stock Exchange in
December 2010
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30 Financial instruments continued
¢ Hedges

1 Cash flow hedges

At 31 December 2010 the Group and Company held four principal nsk management activities that were designated as hedges
of future forecast transactions These were

= Ahedge of a propornon of future long-term revenue receipts by future debt repayments in foreign currency hedging future
foreign exchange nsk,

* A hedge of certain short-term revenue receipts by foreign exchange contracts hedging future foreign exchange sk,

* A hedge of certain short-term foreign currency operauonal payments by forward exchange contracts hedging future foreign
exchange nsk, and

* A hedge of future et fuel purchases by forward crude, gas o1l and jet kerosene derivauve contracts hedging future fuel
pnce nsk

To the extent that the hedges were assessed as highly effective, a summary of the amounts included in equity and the penods
in which the related cash flows are expected to occur are summansed below

Group

Total 31

Within 6 6-12 1-2 2-5 Morethan December

E milhon maonths months years years 5 years 2010
Debt repayments to hedge future revenue 20 27 53 145 51 296
Forward contracts to hedge future payments n {1
Hedges of future fuel purchases (78) (44) (23) 0] (146)
(58) (18) 30 144 51 149

Related deferred tax charge (40)
Total amount included within equity 109

Notional vatue of financial instruments used as cash flow hedging nstruments
Group Company

Notional Notional

Milion amaount amount
To hedge future currency revenues against US dollars $508 $508
To hedge future operating payments in US dollars %165 $165
Hedges of future fuel purchases $2,352 $2344
Debt repayments to hedge future revenue - US doflars $2,158 $2,158
- euro €200 €200

—Japanese yen ¥63,8H ¥63,811

Group

Total 31

Within 6 6-12 [-2 2-5 Morethan March

£ million months months years years Syears 2010
Debt repayments to hedge future revenue 24 22 48 148 92 334
Forward contracts to hedge future payments {15) (5) (20)
Hedges of future fuel purchases (8) (18) (24) (50
i (N 24 148 92 264

Related deferred tax charge 74)

Total amount included within equity 190
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30 Financial instruments continued
¢ Hedges continuved

1 Cash flow hedges continued
Notional value of financial mstruments used as cash flow hedging instruments
Group  Company

Notional Notional

million amount amount
To hedge future currency revenues against US dollars $289 $289
To hedge future currency revenues aganst sterling £27
To hedge future operating payments against US dollars $185 $185
To hedge future Brazthan real capital payments against US dollars $12 $12
Hedges of future fuel purchases $2,922 $2,922
Debt repayments to hedge future revenue - US dollars $1,926 $1926

- euro €183 €138

- Japanese yen ¥73,568 ¥73,568

The ineffective poruon recognised in the income statement that arose from hedges of future fuel purchases amounts to a loss

of £2 milon (March 2010 £14 million) There was no ineffective portion of cash flow hedges other than hedges of future fuel
purchases In the current penod, £38 milion (March 2010 £21 mithon) of cash flow hedging losses previously recognised n equity
were transferred to the iIncome statement,

i Far value hedges

The Group has no hedges designated as fair value hedges
w - Net investments in foreign operauons
The Group has no hedges designated as hedges of net investments in foreign operations

Company

The Company undertakes hedging activities on behalf of other companies within the Group and performs the treasury activities
of the Group centrally As a result, the disclosures above apply to the Company as for the Group

31 Share capital

Group and Company

Ntne months ended December 2010 12 months ended March 2010
Number of Number of
Ordinary shares of 25 pence each shares 000s £ million shares 000s £ mithon
Allotted, called up and fully paid
At 1 Apnl 1,153,674 288 1,153,628 288
Exercise of options under Employee Share Option Schemes 15 46
At period end 1,153,689 288 1,153,674 288

32 Share coptions

The Group operates share-based payment schemes as part of the total remuneration package prowded to employees - these
schemes compnse both share option schemes where employees acquire shares at a grant price and share award plans whereby
shares are 1ssued to employees at no cost, subject to the achievement by the Group of specified performance targets Details of
the performance cnitena io be met for each of the schemes, and details of the awards 1o the directors, are set out 1n the Report
of the Remuneration Committee on pages 43 o 51

a Share Option Plan

The Briish Airways Share Option Plan 1999 (SOP) granted options to qualifying employees based on performance at an option
price which was not less than the market price of the share at the date of the grant {or the nominal value if shares are to be
subscnbed and this value 1s greater than the market value) The options are subject to a three-year vesting perniod Upon vesting,
opuions may be exercised at any ume untl the 10th anniversary of the date of grant with the excepution of grants made during
the year ended 31 March 2005, when there was a single re-test after a further year which measured performance of the Group
over the four-year penod from the date of grant No further grants of options under the SOP will be made other than those
dunng the year ended 31 March 2006, in relauon to performance durning the year ended 31 March 2005 (for which there will

be no re-testing)
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32 Share options continued

b Long Term Incentive Plan

The Bnush Airways Long Term Incentive Plan (1996) (LTIP) awarded options to senior executives conditional upon the Company’s
achievermnent of a performance conditton measured over three financial years If granted, all options may be exercised at any time
untl the seventh anniversary of the date of grant and no payment 1s due upon exercise of the options No further awards under
the LTIP have been made since 16 june 2004

¢ Performance Share Plan

In 2005 the Group introduced the British Airways Performance Share Plan 2005 (PSP) for key senior executives and in 2009 this
was extended to selected members of the wider management team A conditional award of shares 1s subject to the achievement
of a variety of performance conditicns, which will vest after three years subject to the employee remaining employed by the
Group The award made i 2010 will vest based 100 per cent on meeung Total Shareholder Return {TSR) performance conditions
over the following three financial years (pages 45-47) No payment 1s due upon vesting of the shares Key senior executives
awarded shares under the PSP will be expected to retan no fewer than 50 per cent of the shares (net of tax), which vest from
the PSP until they have built up a shareholding equivalent to 100 per cent of base salary

d Deferred Share Plan

In 2006 the Group introduced the British Airways Deferred Share Plan 2005 (DSP) granted to qualifying employees based on
performance and service tests It will be awarded when a bonus s triggered subject to the employee remaining in employment
with the Group for three years after the grant date The relevant management population will receive a percentage of their bonus
n cash and the remaiming percentage in shares through the DSP The maximum deferral is 50 per cent In September 2010 the
Group awarded options to selected members of management and non-management poputation

e Share options summary

Group and Company

Deferred Performance Long Term Share
Share Plan Share Plan Incentive Plan Option Plan
Weighted
Weighted Number Weighted Weighted average Weghted
Number  average of average Number average Number exercise  average
of shares fair value shares fairvalue ofshares farvalue of shares pnce farvalue
000s £ 000s £ 000s £ 000s £ £
Qutstanding at
t Apnl 2009* 1,041 4,539 1099 14,080 274
Granted in the year 112 133 7313 143 16
Exercised dunng
the year **/*** (614) (436} (46) 157
Expwed/cancelled (40) {1,150} (5,155) 288
Outstanding at
1 Apnl 2010* 499 10,702 679 8879 266
Granted m the penod 5,145 235 6,758 149 14
Exercised dunng the penod
e (96) (116} 94) 219
Expired/cancelled (32) (1,561) (1,700) 348
Outstanding at 1 January 2011 5516 15,899 577 7,085 256
Options exercisable
At 31 December 2010 30 235 577 7,085 256
At 31 March 2010 679 8,879 266

Included within this balance are options aver 636,073 (31 March 2010 2,230,907) shares that have not been recogmsed in accordance with IFRS 2
as the opuons were granted on or before 7 November 2002 These options have not been subseguently modified and therefore do not need to be
accounted for in accordance with IFRS 2

The average share price at the date of exercise for the SOP exercised 1s £2.27 (31 March 2010 £2.16)

*** Part of the exercise of share options dunng the year was met through shares previously held by Bnush Airways Employees Benefits Trust

(Jersey) Limited
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32 Share options continued
e Share option summary continued

Range of exercise prices December 2010 for Share Option Plan

QOpuons outstanding Options exercisable

Weghted Weighted Weighted

Number of average average Number average

shares remaining life  exercise price of shares  exercise price

Range of exercise prices 000s (years) £ 000s £

€157~ £261 1231 215 165 1231 165

£262-£320 5.218 402 270 5218 270

£321 636 048 32 636 AN

At 31 December 2010 7,085 338 256 7,085 256
Range of exercise pnces March 2010 for Share Option Plan

Options outstanding Options exercisable

Werghted Weighted Weighted

Number of average average Number of average

shares  remamning ife  exercise price shares  exercise price

Range of exercise prices 000s {vears) £ 000s £

£157 - £261 1573 287 166 1573 166

£262-£320 5665 478 270 5,665 270

£321-€394 1641 075 350 1,641 350

At 31 March 2010 8,879 370 266 8879 266

For all cutstanding share option schemes as at 31 December 2010, the weighted average remawning contractual ife 1s one year
(31 March 2010 three years) For options granted during the year the weighted average opuon life was three years (31 March
2010 three years)

The far value of equity-settled share options granted 1s estimated as at the date of grant using a binomial lattice or Monte-Cario
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted The following table lists the inputs to
the model for the PSP options granted in the period

31 December 31 March

2010 2010

Expected share pnce volatiity {per cent) 56 38
Historical volatiity (per cent) 56 54
Expected comparater group volatility (per cent) 7-119 24=- 118
Expected comparator correlation {per cent) 39 37
Expected hfe of options (years) 3 3
Weighted average share price (E) 235 185

The expected life of the opuons 1s based on historical data and 1s not necessanly indicative of exercise patterns that may occur
Volatity was calculated with reference to the Group’s weekly share price volathity The expecied volatihity reflects the assumption
that the historical volaulity s indicative of future trends, which may also not necessanly be the actual outcome The farr value of
the PSP also takes into account a market condition of tota! shareholder returns as compared to strategic competitors No other
features of options granted were incorporated into the measurernent of far value

The share-based payments charge has been recorded in the income statement as follows

31 December 31 March
2010 2010

Employee costs 6 i
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33 Other reserves and non-controlling interests

a Group
Group
Equity
- Unrealised portion of Non-
Retained gams and Currency  convertible centrolling
£ mullion earnings losses  translation bond Total nterests*
Balance at 1 Apn! 2009 1154 {784} 60 430 200
Loss for the year attributable to shareholders (443} (443)
Exchange differences and other movements (18} (18)
Fatr value of cash flow hedges transferred to
passenger revenue 27 27
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to
fuel and ol costs (235) {235)
Farr value of cash flow hedges transferred to
currency differences 4 4
Net change in farr value of cash flow hedges 791 791
Exercise of share options (5) (5)
Cost of share-based payment f 1
Held-to-maturity investments marked-to-market 5 5
Share of other movements in reserves of
associates 34 34
Equity portion of converuble bond 84 84
Net gain on availlable-for-sale financial assets 17 17
Total income and expense for the year (413} 609 (18) 84 262
At 1 Apnl 2010 741 (175} 42 84 692 200
Profit for the period attnibutable to shareholders 157 157
Exchange differences and other movements (6) (3} (8)
Exercise of share options {n (1)
Cost of share-based payment 6 6
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to
passenger revenue 27 27
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to
fuel and ol costs 1 )
Fair value of cash low hedges transferred to
currency differences (1) (11)
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges 67 67
Share of other movements in reserves of
associates 43 43
Total income and expense for the penod 204 84 (2) 286
At 31 December 2010 945 (91) 40 84 978 200

"

Non-controlling interests comprise €300 million of 6 75 per cent fixed coupon euro perpetval preferred secunties issued by Briush Airways Finance

{Jersey) LP in which the general partner 1s Bntish Airways Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company The holders of these
secunues have no rights against Group undertakings other than the issuing entity and, to the extent prescnbed by the subordinated guarantee, the
Company The effect of the secunties on the Group as a whole, taking Into account the subordinate guarantee and other surrounding arrangements,
15 that the obligations to transfer economic benefits in connection with the secunties do not go beyond those that would normally attach to

preference shares 1ssued by a UK company
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33 Other reserves and non-controlling interests continued

b Company
Company
Equity portion
Retained Unrealised  of convertuble

€ milhon earnings gams and losses bond Total
Balance at 1 Apni 2009 787 777} 10
Loss for the year attnbutable to shareholders {407) (407}
Cost of share-based payment i {
Exercise of share opucns (7 D]
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to passenger 27 27
revenue

Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to fuel and oIl costs (235) (235)
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to currency 4 4
differences

Net change in farr value of cash flow hedges 730 790
Equity portion of convertible bond 84 84
Total income and expense for the year (407) 586 84 263
At 1 Apnl 2010 380 (191) 84 273
Profit for the penod attnbutable to shareholders 228 228
Exercise of share options (4] m
Cost of share-based payment 6 6
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred 27 27
to passenger revenue

Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to fuel and ol costs 1 1
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred (i (11
to currency differences

Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges 67 67
Total income and expense for the penod 233 84 317
At 31 December 2010 613 (107 B4 590

The unrealised gains and losses reserve records fair value changes on avarlable-for-sale investments and the poruen of the gan
or [oss on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge that 1s determined to be an effective hedge

The currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences ansing from the translation of the financial statements
of foreign subsidiaries and associates

The equity portion of convertible bond reserve represents the equity partion of the £350 million fixed rate 58 per cent
convertible bond {note 26) after deducuon of transaction costs of £2 million

Total shareholders’ equity also includes the balance classified as share capital that includes the total net proceeds (both nominal
value and share premium) on issue of the Company’s equity share capital, comprising 25 pence ordinary shares Investment in
own shares consisis of shares held by Bntish Airways Employee Benefits Trust (Jersey) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary, for the
purposes of the Employee Share Ownership plans including the Long Term Incentive Plan At 31 December 2010 the Group and
Company held 795,733 shares for the Long Term Incentive Plan and other employee share schemes (31 March 2010

1,086,001 shares)
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34 Pension costs

The Company operates two funded principal defined benefit pension schemes in the LIK, the Airways Pension Scheme (APS)

and the New Airways Pension Scheme (NAPS), both of which are closed to new members APS has been closed to new members
since 31 March 1984 and NAPS closed to new members on 31 March 2003 From 1 Apnl 2003 the Company commenced a new
defined contnibutton scheme, the Bntish Airways Retrement Plan (BARP), of which all new permanent employees over the age

of 18 employed by the Company and certain subsidiary undertakings in the UK may become members The assets of the scheme
are held 1n separate trustee-admimstered funds

Benefits provided under APS are based on final average pensionable pay and, for the majonty of members, are subject to
nflauonary increases in payment 1n line with the Annual Review Orders {ARO) 1ssued by the Government, which have histoncally
been based on the Retall Pnice Index (RP1) The Government has now decided to use the Consumer Price Index {CPI) to set

each ARO Benefits provided under NAPS are based on final average pensionable pay reduced by an amount (the ‘abatement’)
not exceeding one and a half times the Government'’s lower earnings imit NAPS pension increases are also linked to the ARO
and increases are capped at a maximum of five per centin any one year In NAPS, annual pensionable pay increases for active
members are capped at RPI

Pension contributions for APS and NAPS were determined by actuanal valuations made as at 31 March 2009 using assumptions
and methodologies agreed between the Company and the Trustees of each scheme At the date of the actuanat valuation, the
market values of the assets of APS and NAPS amounted to £5,925 million and £6,096 million respectively The value of the
assets represented 85 2 per cent (APS) and 69 4 per cent (NAPS) of the value of the benefits that had accrued to members
after allowing for assumed Increases n earmings These valuations deterrined employer contribution rates for future service

of an average of 34 7 per cent of pensionable pay for APS and 16 6 per cent of pensionable pay for NAPS

In order to address the deficits in the schemes, BA committed to deficit payments until 2023 for APS and 2026 for NAPS
whuch, taken together with future service costs, will see annual cash contnbutions maintained at approximately £330 milion in
real terms In additon to cash contributions collateral was provided to APS, triggered in the event of BA's insolvency, of £230
millien of guarantees (first 1ssued in 2007) and a further £250 million issued in 2010 In NAPS the recovery plan included changes
to future pension benefits, giving members a chotce of lower accrual rates or higher contnbutions

Based on the change from RPI to CPlin the Government’s ARO, the Group has seen a reduction in the present value of the
scheme liabilities for APS and NAPS of approximately £270 million and £500 millien respectively, thereby reducing the Group's
cumulative actuanal losses not recognised

Duning the period the trustees of APS purchased an insurance contract with Rothesay Life, which covers 20 per cent of the
pensioner liabilittes as at 18 June 2010 for an agreed list of members The insurance contract is based on future increases to
pensions in line with RPl inflation and will match future obligations on that basis for that part of the scheme For the purpose
of IAS 19 the insurance contract asset 1s valued at £1,066 million as at 31 December 2010 The insurance contract can only be
used to pay or fund employee benefits under the pension scheme

Most employees engaged ouistde the UK are covered by appropriate local arrangements The Company provides certain
addmional post-retirement healthcare benefits to ehgtble employees in the US The Company participates in a mulu-employer
defined benefit plan operated in the US by the International Association of Machinists (IAM) and presents the plan in the
financial statements as if it were a defined contribution plan as it 1s not possible to allocate the assets and habilines of the scheme
due to the nature of the scheme Contributions to the IAM plan were £1 5 mithon (March 2010 £2 2 million) The Company also
operates a closed US defined benefit plan and the plan 1s forecast to make total contnbutions of £19 mithion in 2011

Employer contrnbutions in respect of overseas employees have been determined in accordance with best local pracuice

Total employer contributions to defined contribution pension plans both in the UK and overseas for the penod ended
31 December 2010 were £20 milhon (March 2010 £22 milhon)
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34 Pension costs continued

a Employee benefit schemes recognised on the balance sheet

Employee benefit obligations Employee benefit assets
31 December 3iMarch 31 December 31 March

£ million 2010 2010 2010 2010
Ansing under defined benefit pension plans and post-retirement benefits 65 66 575 483
Arising under post-rettrement medical benefit plans 143 132
Total ansing under post-retirement benefits 208 198 575 483
Other employee benefit obligations 1 10
At period end 219 208 575 483

At 31 December 2010, NAPS was recognised on the balance sheet as an asset However, due to the level of unrecogmsed losses
it holds, its net position 1s a hability and therefore on all future tables within this note, it 1s included as an employee
benefit cbhgation

Employee benefit assets refer to the Group and Company in all instances Employee benefit obhgations include £7 milion
(31 March 2010 £8 midlion) relating to British Airways Holidays Limited, with the remainder relating to the Company

b Scheme assets and habifities
31 December 2010

Employee benefit obhgations Employee benefit assets
Other Other
£ million NAPS schemes Total APS schemes Total
Scheme assets at fair value
Equittes 5,616 183 5,799 881 19 900
Bonds 1874 70 1,944 3,827 17 3,844
Others* 1,142 10 1,152 1677 1,677
Fair value of scheme assets 8,632 263 8,895 6,385 36 6,424
Present value of scheme liabilities 9633 623 10,256 5,853 33 5,886
Net pension (hability}/asset (1,001) (360) (1,361) 532 3 535
Net pension (habihity)/asset represented by
Net pension asset/(lability) recognrsed 204 (208) (4 363 8 3N
Restriction on APS surplus due
to the asset cedling 123 123
Cumulative actuanal (Josses)/gamns
not recognised (1,205) (152) (1,357) 46 ) 41
(1,001) (360) (1,361} 532 3 535

included within the APS balance 1s the insurance contract with Rothesay Life

31 March 2010
Employee benefit obligations Employee benefit assets
Other Other

£ milhon NAPS  schemes Total APS  schemes Total
Scheme assets at fair vatue -n
Equities 5245 174 5419 1,082 19 1101 =
Bonds 1,831 74 1,905 4774 17 4,791 2
Others 948 5 953 587 587 “
[+
Fair value of scheme assets 8,024 253 8277 6,443 36 6,479 g
Present value of scheme habilities 9969 579 10.548 6,247 31 6,278 ]
Net pension (hability)/asset (1,945) {326) {2.271) 196 5 201 @

Net pension (hability)/asset represented by

Net pension asset/(liability) recognised 158 (198) (40} 317 8 325

Restnction on APS surplus due to the asset celing 50 50

Cumulative actuanai losses not recogmised (2,103) (128) (2231) {171) (3) (174)

{1.945) (326) {2271} 196 5 201

The pension plans have not invested n any of the Group s own financial instruments nor in properties or other assets used by the Group
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34 Pension Costs continued

¢ Amounts recognised in the income statement

31 December 2010

Employee benefit obligations

Employee benefit assets

Other Qther

£ million NAPS schemes Total APS  schemes Total
Currant service cost 124 6 130 7 7
Recogmised In arriving at operating profit 124 6 130 7 7
Expected return on scheme assets {434) (14) (448) (245) (1)} (246)
NAPS administration expense 8 8
Interest costs on scheme labilities 410 23 433 250 1 251%
Amartisation of actuanal {osses in excess of the cormdor 57 5 62
Immediate recognition of net actuanal gamns (APS}) (84} (84)
Effect of the APS asset celling 73 73
Other finance cost 41 14 55 (6) (6)

31 March 2010

Employee benefit obligations

Employee benefit assets

Other

Other

£ mithon NAPS  schemes Total APS  schemes Total
Current service cast 105 6 L 10 1 n
Past service cost 1 1

Recognised in arriving at operating profit 106 & 12 10 1 11
Expected return on scheme assets (418} (14) (432) (269) {1} (270)
Interest costs on scheme habilities 489 30 519 345 2 347
Amorusation of actuanial losses in excess of the cornidor 31 6 37

Effect of the APS asset ceiling (85) (85)
Cther finance cost 102 22 124 {9) 1 (8

d Unrecogmised cumulative actuanial gains and losses

Employee benefit obligations

Employee benefit assets

Other Other
£ million NAPS schemes Total APS schemes Total
Amount of unrecognised actuaral (losses)/gains at
1 April 2009 (1,193} (114) (1,307) 421 (10} 41
Actual return on scheme assets 1,970 61 2,031 930 11 941
Less Expected return on scheme assets (418} (14) (432) (269) [0} (270)
Actuaral gains on plan assets 1552 47 1599 561 10 671
Actuarial losses on plan habilities (2,493) (67) (2.560) (1,253) (3} (1256)
Amaortisation of actuarial losses in excess of the corridor 31 6 37
Cumulative unrecognised actuarial lasses at
31 March 2010 (2103} (128) (2231 (171 (3} (174)
Actual return on scheme assets 596 17 613 173 2 175
Less Expected return on scheme assets (434) (4 (448) (245) () (246)
Actuanal gains/(losses} on plan assets 162 3 165 (72) 1 @n
Actuanal gains/(losses) on plan liabilities 679 (32) 647 373 (3) 370
Amorusation of actuanal losses in excess of the corndor 57 ) 62
Immediate recogmtion of net actuanal gains (APS) (84) (84)
Cumulative unrecognised actuaral (losses)/gans at
31 December 2010 (1,205) (152) (1,357} 46 {5) 41

The actuanal assumptions made for the expected rates of return on assets were denved by considenng best esumates for the expected long-term real rates
of return from the main asset classes and combiring these in proportions for each scheme These assumed rates of return are net of investment expenses




Briush Airways Repor: and Accounts to December 2010 107 /

34 Pension Costs continued

e Actuarral assumptions

31 December 2010 31 March 2010

Other Other

Per cent per annum NAPS APS* schemes NAPS APS* schemes
Inflation (CPI} 30 29

Inflation (RPY) 35 34 05-46 37 36 23-53

Rate of increase in pensionable pay* 35 34 28-85 37 36 20-85

Rate of increase of pensions in payment 29 29 15-46 35 36 15-90

Discount rate 55 55 18-83 56 55 20~90

Expected rate of return on scheme assets 70 50 30-85 73 52 40-90

Rate of increase in pensionable pay 15 assumed to be in line with nflation The first Increase in pensionable pay 15 assumed to be in February 2011 for
NAPS and February 2013 for APS

Rate of increase in healthcare costs are based on medical trend rates of 8 5 per cent grading down to 50 per cent over seven
years (March 2010 90 per cent to 50 per cent over eight years)

In the UK, mortality rates are calculated using the standard SAPS mortality tables produced by the CMI for APS and NAPS The
standard mortality tables were selected based on the actual recent mortality expenence of members and were adjusted to allow
for future mortality changes In the US, monality rates were based on the PPA11 mortality tables If the post-retirement mortality
tables used for APS and NAPS were to be changed such that the life expectancy of members was increased by one year, the
defined benefit obligatans would increase by approxamately £210 million in APS and approximately £220 million in NAPS

If the discount rate were to be decreased by O 1 per cent without changing any cther assumptions, the defined benefit obligation
would increase by approximately £80 rmillion it APS and £200 million in NAPS

A one percentage point change in the assumed rate of increase in healthcare costs would have the following effects

£ milion Increase  Decrease
Effect on aggregate service cost and interest cost 3) 2
Effect on defined benefit obligation (46) 36

f Present value of scheme liabilittes

Employee benefit obligations Employee benefit assets
Other Other

£ milion NAPS  schemes Total APS  schemes Total
As at 1 Apnl 2009 7216 497 7713 5.065 28 5083
Current service Cost 105 6 1t 10 ! 1"
Past service cost ! i
Interest cost 489 30 519 345 2 347
Benefits paid (390) {22) (412) (429) 3) (432)
Employee contributions 55 1 56 3 3
Actuanal losses 2,493 67 2560 1,253 3 1,256
As at 31 March 2010 9,969 579 10,548 6,247 31 6,278
Current service cost 124 6 130 7 7 ;;»:
Interest cost 410 23 433 250 1 251 3
Benefits paid (229) (18) (247) (280) (2) (282) 5
Employee contnibutions 38 1 39 2 2 g
Actuanal gans (679) 32 (647) (373) 3 (370) g.
At 31 December 2010 9,633 623 10,256 5,853 33 5,886 i

The defined benefit cbhgation compnses £248 million (March 2010 £220 mullion) anising from unfunded plans and £10,008
milhon (March 2010 £10,328 mullicn) from plans that are wholly or partly funded
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34 Penston Costs contmnued

g Fair value of scheme assets

Employee benefit obligations Employee benefit assets
Other Other
£ million NAPS schemes Total APS schemes Total
As at 1 Apnl 2009 6,049 203 6,252 5,925 28 5,953
Expected return on plan assets 418 14 432 269 T 270
Employer contributions 340 10 350 14 4
Employee contributions 55 I 56 3 3
Benefits paid (390) (22) (412) (429) (3) (432)
Actuarial gains 1552 47 1,599 661 10 671
As at 31 March 2010 8,024 253 8277 6,443 36 6,479
Expected return on plan assets 434 14 448 245 1 246
NAPS administration expense (8) (8)
Employer contributions 21 10 2yl 47 47
Employee contributions 38 1 39 2 2
Benefits paid (229) (18) (247) (280) (2) (282)
Actuarial gains/(losses) 162 3 165 72) 1 (wd)]
At 31 December 2010 8,632 263 8,895 6,385 36 6,421
h History of experience gains and losses
Employee benefit obligations Employee benefit assets
Other Qther
£ million NAPS schemes Total APS  schemes Total
As at 31 December 2010
Fair vaiue of scheme assets 8632 263 8,895 6,385 36 6,421
Present value of defined benefit obligation (9,633} (623) (10,256) (5.853) (33) (5,886)
{Deficit)/surplus in the scheme {1,001 {360) (1,361} 532 3 535
Experience adjustments ansing on ptan habilities (679) 32 {647) (373) 3 (370)
Experience adjustments arising on plan assets 162 3 165 (72) 1 71)
As at 31 March 2010
Fair value of scheme assets 8,024 253 8277 6,443 36 6,479
Present value of defined benefit obhgation {9,969) (579 (10.548) 6,247) (31 (6,278)
{Deficit)/surplus in the scheme (1,945) (326) (2.279) 196 5 201
Experence adjustments arising on plan liabilities 2,493 67 2,560 1,253 3 1,256
Expenence adustments arsing on plan assets 1,552 47 1,599 661 10 671
As at 31 March 2009
Fair value of scheme assets 6,049 203 6,252 5,925 28 5953
Present value of defined benefit obligation (7.216) (497} (7,713} (5,065) (28) {5,093)
(Deficit)/surplus in the scheme (.167) (294) (1,461} 860 860
Expenence adjustments arising on plan habilities (980) 98 (882) (372} m (373)
Expertence adjustments arising on plan assets (1,964) (25) (1,989) (723} (9) (732)
As at 31 March 2008 (restated)
Fair value of scheme assets 7,348 221 7,569 6,668 35 6,703
Present value of defined benefit obligation (7.705) (384) (8,089) (5,432) (29) (5,461)
{Deficit)/surplus in the scheme (357) {163) (520) 1,236 [ 1,242
Experience adjustments ansing on plan habilines (873) (28) (901) (616} 3 (613)
Expenence adjustments ansing on plan assets (489) (26) {515) 182 1 183
As at 31 March 2007
Fair value of scheme assets 6,553 238 6,791 6,491 34 6,525
Present value of defined benefit obligation (8,110) (397) (8,507) {6,076) (27} (6,103)
APS irrecoverable surplus (306) (306)
(Deficit)/surplus in the scheme (1,557) (159) (1,716) 109 7 16

The Directors are unable to determime how much of the pension scheme surplus or deficit recognised on transition to IFRS and taken
directly to equity 1s attributable to actuanial gains and losses since inception of those penston schemes.
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35 Contingent liabilities

There were contmgent liabiines at 31 December 2010 i respect of guarantees and indemnities entered nto as part of the
ordinary course of the Group's business No material losses are likely to arise from such contingent llabilities A number of other
lawsuits and regulatory proceedings are pending, the outcome of which in the aggregate 1s not expected to have a matenal effect
on the Group’s financial position or results of operations

The Group and the Company have guaranteed certain borrowings, liabilities and commaizments, which at 31 December 2010
amounted to £391 milhon (31 March 2010 £119 million) and £645 milion (31 March 2010 £385 milion) respectively For the
Company these included guarantees given in respect of the fixed perpetual preferred securities issued by subsichary undertakings

The Group 15 involved in certan clams and liigation related to 1ts operations In the opinion of management, habilities, If any,
ansing from these claims and litigation will not have a matenal adverse effect on the Group’s consohidated financial posiuon or
results of operations The Group files income tax returns in many junsdictions throughout the world Vanous tax authontes are
currently examining the Group's income tax returns Tax returns contain matters that could be subject to diffening interpretations
of applicable tax laws and regulations and the resolution of tax positions through negotiations with relevant tax authonues, or
through litigation, can take several years to complete While it s difficult to predict the ultimate outcome i some cases, the
Group does not anucipate that there will be any matenal impact on the Group’s financial position or results of operations

36 Related party transactions

The Group and Company had transactions in the ordinary course of business during the nine months to 31 December 2010
(March 2010 12 months) under review with related parties

Group Company
£ rllion 31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March
2010 2010 2010 2010
Associates
Sales to associates 37 36 37 36
Purchases from associates 42 47 42 47
Amounts owed by associates 1 1 1 f
Amounts owed to associates 7 2 7 2
Subsidiaries
Sales to subsidianes 67 65
Purchases from subsidianes 95 123
Amounts owed by subsidharies 314 236
Amounts owed to subsidianes 3,252 3283

In addition, the Company meets certain costs of administering the Group's retrement benefit plans, including the prowiston of
support services to the Trustees Costs borne on behalf of the reurement benefit plans amounted to £4 million in relation to the
costs of the Pension Protecuion Fund levy (March 2010 £3 3 million)

Associates
a |bena Lineas Aéreas de Espafia S A (Ibena)

The Group has a 1315 per cent investment in Ibena Areas of opportunity for cooperation have been identified and work
contnues to pursue and implement these Sales and purchases between related parties are made at normal market prices and
outstanding balances are unsecured and interest free Cash settlement s expected within the standard settlement terms speaified
by the IATA Clearing House

Duning the year the Company contracted with Iberia 1o purchase ten new Airbus A320 aircraft, the commitment arnising has been
included in note 14

As ar 31 December 2010 the net trading balance owed to Ibena by the Group amounted to £6 milhion (March 2010 £1 mulion)

b Other associates
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There was a remaining net trading balance under £1 million as at 31 December 2010 due to transactions between the Group and
Dunwoody Aifline Services (Holdings) Limited (March 2010 under £1 million)

Subsidiaries

Transacuons with subsidiaries are carned out on an arm’s length basis Outstanding balances that relate to trading balances are
placed on inter-company accounts with no specified credit penod Long-term loans owed to and from the Company by subsidiary
undertakings bear market rates of interest in accordance with the inter-company loan agreements
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36 Related party transactions contmued
Directors’ and officers’ loans and transactions

No leans gr credit transactions were outstanding with Directors or officers of the Company at 31 December 2010 or arose durning
the mine month period that need to be disclosed in accordance with the requirements of Sections 412 and 413 to the Companies
Act 2006

In addition to the above, the Group and Company also have transactions with related parties that are conducted in the normal
course of arrline business These include the provision of airine and related services

Nesther the Group nor Company have prowided or benefited from any guarantees for any related party recevables or payables
Buring the peried ended 31 December 2010 the Group has not made any provision for doubtful debts relating to amounts owed
by related parties (March 2010 Enil)

Compensation of key management personnel (including Directors)

Group Company

Nine months 2 months Nine months to 12 months

to 31 December to 31 March 31 December to 31 March

£ milon 2010 2010 2010 2010
Short-term employee benefits 3 4 3 4
Share-based payments 1 1 1 1
At petiod end 4 5 4 5

37 Post balance sheet events

Cn 21 January 2011, British Airways Plc and Ibena Lineas Aéreas de Espafia, S A. (herenafter ‘British Airways’ and ‘lbena’
respectively) completed a merger transaction of the two companies 1o create a new, leading European arrline group As a result of
the merger, International Consolidated Airlines Group, known as IAG was formed to hold the interests of both the existing arline
groups IAG 1s a Spanish company registered in Madrid incorporated on 8 April 2010

IAG has a premium listing on the FTSE's UK index series IAG shares are traded en the London Stock Exchange’s main market
for hsted secunities and also on the stock exchanges of Madrid, Barcelona, Bilbac and Valencia (the “Spanish Stack Exchanges™),
through the Spamish Stock Exchanges Interconnecuion System (Mercado Continuo Espafiol)

The Group 1s expecting to generate annual synergies of approximately €400 milion by the end of its fifth year and benefit
shareholders, customers and employees IAG will combine the two compames leading pesitions in the UK and Spain and enhance
their strong presence in the international longhaul markets, while retaining the imdividual brands and operations of both airhnes

Principal terms

Under the terms of the merger, British Airways ordinary shareholders received one new ordinary share of |1AG for every existing
Briush Asrways ordinary share and Iberia shareholders received 10205 new ordinary shares for every exisung bena ordinary
share Upon completion of the transaction, British Airways' shareholders held 56 per cent of IAG and Iberia's shareholders

44 per cent

Pricr to 21 january 2011, British Airways owned 13 15 per cent of the issued share capital of Ibena and Iberna owned 998 per cent
of the issued share capital of Briuish Awrways Subsequent o the merger, the ¢ross holdings between Briush Airways and tbena
were maintamned or recreated with the same economic and voting rights

For the purposes of accounting British Airways 1s deemed to be the acquirer of Ibenia {AG's value was determined based on
British Airways' farr value, calculated from Brinish Airways quoted market price at the close of business on 20th January 2011 of
€3 346 (or £2 825) for 1ts 1,154 million outstanding ordinary shares The purchase price of Ibena was calculated based on the
agreed merger ratos and IAG’ value on the transaction date
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37 Post balance sheet eventis continued

€ million (except percentages) 21 January 2011
1AG value
Bnush Airways fair value 3862
Ibena stake in British Airways {385)
3,477
British Airways ownership tn IAG (per cent} 56
1AG value 6,209
Purchase price
IAG value 6,209
Iberia ownership m IAG (per cent) 44
2,732
Brniuish Airways stake in Ibena at market value 370
Purchase price 3,102

The purchase price allocation has not yet been finalised [t is expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of the
merger In accordance with the penod allowed to review estimations under iFRS

IAG will consolidate and report the first results of the IAG group for the three months ended 31 March 2011 |AG's first quarter
resulis will nclude British Airways results for the three months ended 31 March 2011 and Ibena’s results from the Merger

effective date

Convertible bond

In August 2009, Britsh Airways issued a £350 million fixed rate 5 8 per cent convertible bond, convertible into ordinary shares

at the option of the holder, before or on maturty in August 2014 Under the terms of the merger, the bondholders are now
eligible to convert their bonds into ordinary shares of |AG instead of shares in British Airways In order to facilitate the 1ssuing of
IAG equity, a guarantee was issued from IAG 1o Briush Airways whereby IAG have guaranteed the payment of the principal and
inzerest to the bondholders In addition, tAG 1ssued a wnitten call option to Brisish Airways whereby Briish Airways will pay for
shares in 1AG on behalf of the bondholders in the event of a conversion, at a predetermined price of £1 89 to allow British Airways

to meet the conversion obhgation

As a result, the equity poruon of the converuble bond will be reclassified as a denvative financial bability It represents Briish
Airways’ abhgavon to deliver a fixed number of shares in IAG to the bondholders, and as such, represents a denvative financial
liability with an underiying value driven by the share price of IAG

In addition, British Airways will recognise the written call option and guarantee acquired from IAG The written call option was
recogrised at its fair value {purchase pnce on acquisiion) and will be revalued at each reporting date, the movement being
recorded in the income statement The guarantee represents an expense to Briush Airways and as such will be recognised in

the income statement

38 Foreign currency translation rates

At pencd end Average

Nine month 12 month

31 December 31 March average average

£1equals 2010 2010 2010 2010
US dollar 155 151 154 160
Euro 118 12 118 113
Japanese yen 130 141 134 148
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Operating and financial statistics

Nine manths to

31 December 12 months to 31 March

Total Group operations (note 1) 2010 2010 2009 2008* 2007
Traffic and capacity

Revenue passenger km (RPK) m 81,97M 110,851 114,346 118,395 112851
Availzble seat km (ASK) m 104,415 141,178 148,504 149,576 148,321
Passenger load factor % 785 785 770 791 761
Cargo tonne km (CTK) m 3,478 4537 4,638 4,892 4695
Total revenue tonne km {RTK} m 11,736 15,588 16,054 16,797 16,112
Total available tonne km (ATK) m 15,973 21,278 22293 22872 22882
Overall load facter % 735 733 720 734 704
Passengers carried ‘000 24,088 31825 33,117 34,613 33068
Tonnes of cargo carmed ‘000 570 760 777 805 762
Revenue arcraft km m 461 618 644 644 637
Revenue flights ‘000 17 257 279 281 276
Operations

Average manpower equivalent (MPE) 35,778 37,595 41473 41,745 42,683
RTKs per MPE 328.0 4146 3871 402 4 3775
ATKs per MPE 446 4 5660 5375 5479 5351
Aurcraft in service at year end 240 238 245 245 242
Aurcraft utdisation (average hours per aircraft

per day) 10 48 1043 1068 1091 1082
Unduplicated route km ‘000 630 628 621 629 589
Punctuality — within 15 minutes % 76 81 77 &3 67
Regularnity % 929 880 986 982 985
Financial

Passenger revenue per RPK p 71 &30 685 642 & 44
Passenger revenue per ASK p 558 494 528 508 490
Cargo revenue per CTK p 1527 1212 14 51 1257 1274
Average fuef pnice (US cents/US gallon) 22264 189 24 28406 24525 20960
Interest cover (note 2) umes 25 (29 (36) 154 167
Dividend cover umes n/a n/a (59) n/a n/a
Operating margin (note 3) % 51 (29) (24) 100 71
Earmings before interest, tax, depreciation,

amortisation and rentals (EBITDAR) m 1,024 642 645 1,780 1,549
HNet debt/total capital ratio (note 4) % 455 520 563 287 291
Ne1 debt/total capital ratio

including operating leases % 551 631 628 382 396
Total traffic revenue per RTK p 542 48 31 5300 4891 4879
Total traffic revenue per ATK p 3983 3539 3817 3592 3435
Tota! operating expenditure per

RTK (note 5) p 5403 5276 5738 46 91 4926
Total operating expenditure per

ATK {note 5) p 3970 3865 4132 3445 3468

Restated for the adopuon of IFRIC 13 and 14 and to include frequent flyer passenger numbers

n/a = not applicable
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Notes.
! Operating staustcs do net include those of associate undertakings and franchisees

2 Interest cover 15 defined as the number of umes profit/(loss) before tax excluding net interest payable covers the net
Interest payable Interest cover s not a finanaal measure under IFRS However, management beheves this measure 15 useful
to iInvestors when analysing the Group’s ability to meet 1ts interest commutments from current earnings The following table
shows a reconciliavon of net interest payable for each of the two most recent financial penod

Nine months to 12 months to

31 December 31 March
£ mithion {except ratios} 2010 2010
Profit/{loss) before tax 157 (531)
Net Interest payable (a) (107) (137}
Profit/(loss) adjusted for interest payable (b} 264 (394)
Interest cover (b)/(a) 25 (29)

3 Operating margin Is defined as operating profit as a percentage of revenue Revenue comprises passenger revenue
{scheduled services and nen scheduled services), cargo services and other revenue

4 Net debt as a percentage of total capital Net debt s defined as the total of loans, finance leases and hire purchase habilinies,
net of short-term loans and deposits and cash less overdrafis See note 23 to the finanaal statements for details of the
calculation of net debt Total capital 1s defined as the totai of capital, reserves, non-controlling interests, and net debt. Totat
capital and the net debt/total capital ratio are not financial measures under IFRS Similarly, net debt adjusted to include
obliganions under operatng leases 15 not a financial measure under IFRS However, management believes these measures
are useful to investors when analysing the extent to which the Group 1s funded by debt rather than by shareholders’ funds
The following table shows a reconcihation of total capital to total shareholders’ funds and the net debt/capital rave for each
of the two most recent financial period

Nine months 12 months to

to 31 December 31 March

£ million {except ratios) 2010 2010
Capital and reserves 2,200 1913
Add non-controlling interests 200 200
Total shareholders’ equity 2,400 2113
Net debt (a) 2,001 2,288
Total capital (b) 4,401 4,401
Net debt/total capital percentage {a)/(b} 455 520

5 Total expenditure on operations, total expenditure on operations per RTK and total expenditure on operations per ATK are
not financial measures under IFRS However, management believes these measures are useful to investors as they provide
further analysis of the performance of the Group's main business activity, namely airline operanons The Board of Directors
reviews these measures internally on a monthly basis as an indicauon of management’s performance in reducing costs The
following table shows a reconcihation of total expenditure on operations per RTK and total expenditure on operations per
ATK for each of the two most recent financial penod

Nine months to 12 months to

31 December 31 March
£ millon (except ratios) 2010 2010 ;‘,n
Total expenditure on operations 6,341 8225 %
RTKs 1,736 15,588 y
ATKs 15,973 21,278 z
Total expenditure on operations per RTKs (p} 5403 5276 g
&

Total expenditure on operations per ATKs (p) 3970 3865
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Principal investments

At 31 December 2010

Investments in subsidiaries

The following table includes those principal investmenis which significantly impact the results or assets of the Group These

subsidianies are wholly-owned except where indicated

Principal
actvities

Country of
incorporation and
registration and
principal operations

The Mileage Company (formerly Air Miles Travel Promotcns Limited)

BA and AA Holdings timited

BA Ciryflyer Linwted

OpenSkies SASU"

BritAwr Holdings Limited

Briush Aurways 777 Leasing Lirmited

Britsh Airways Avionic Engineering Lirited
Briush Airways E-Jets Leasing Lirmited
Briush Airways Holdings Limited

Briush Aurways Holidays Limited

Briush Airways Intenor Engineering Limited
British Airways Leasing Limited

Britsh Airways Maintenance Cardiff Lumuted
Speedbird Cash Management Limited
Speedbird Insurance Company Limited
The Plimsoll Line Limited

Aurline markeung
Holding company
Awrline operations
Aurline operations
Holding company
Aurcraft financing
Aurcraft maintenance
Aurcraft financing
Aarline finance
Package holidays
Aircraft maintenance
Agrcraft financing
Aurcraft mamtenance
Investment
Insurance

Holding company

England
England
England
England
England
England
England
Bermuda
Jersey
England
England
England
England
Bermuda
Bermuda
England

Investments in associates

Percentage of
equity owned

Principal activities

Country of
Incorporation and
principal operations

Iberta Lineas Aéreas de Espaiia S.A (lbernia)*

1315

Airline operations

Spain

Available-for-sale investments

Percentage of
equity owned

Princrpal activities

Country of
Incorporation and
princtpal operations

Comarr Limited*
Flybe Group plc*
The Airline Group Limited

96
146
167

Aurtine operations
Aurline operations

Aur traffic control
holding company

South Africa
England
England

Not owned directly by Bntish Airways Plc
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Glossary

Airhne operations This includes British Airways Ple, BA Cityflyer Limited, Flyline Tele Sales & Services

GmbH and OpenSkies

Available seat kilometres (ASK) The number of seats available for sale muluplied by the distance flown

Available tonne kilometres (ATK) The number of tonnes of capacity avalfable for the carnage of revenue load

(passenger and cargo) muluplied by the distance flown

Cargo tonne kilometres (CTK) The number of revenue tonnes of cargo (freight and mail) carried multiplied by

the distance flown

Dividend cover The number of times profit for the year covers the dividends paid and proposed
EBITDAR Earmings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and rentals

Frequent flyer RPKs as a percentage The amount of frequent flyer RPKs expressed as a percentage of total RPKs

of total RPKs 1s indicative of the proporuon of total passenger traffic that is represented by

redemption of frequent flyer ponts in the year

Interest cover The number of times profit before taxation and net interest expense and interest
income covers the net interest expense and interest income

JBA is our jJoint Business Agreement with Amencan Aswlines Inc and Ibena Lineas
Aédreas de Espafa S A

Load factor The percentage relationship of revenue load carned to capacity available

Manpower equivalent Number of employees adjusted for part-time workers, overume and contractors

Merger Maerger of Briish Airways Plc and Iberia Lineas Aereas de Espafia S A to create
International Consolidated Airlines Group S A

Merger Effective Date 21 )anuary 2011, the date British Airways and Ibena signed a Merger agreement

to create International Consolidated Arrlines Group S A

Net debt Loans, finance leases and hire purchase arrangements net of other current

interest-beanng deposits and cash and cash equivalenis less overdrafts
Net debt/tatal capital ratio Net debt as a rauo of total capital

Net debt/total capital ratio (including Net debt as a ratio of total capital, adjusted to include the discounted value

operating leases)
Overall load factor
Operating margin

Passenger load factor

of future operating lease commtments

RTK expressed as a percentage of ATK

Operaung profit/(loss) as a percentage of revenue

RPK expressed as a perceniage of ASK.

Punctuabity The industry’s standard, measured as the percentage of flights deparung within
15 mnutes of schedule
Regularity The percentage of flights completed to flights scheduled, excluding fiights
cancelled for commercial reasons -
I
Revenue passenger kilometres (RPK) The number of revenue passengers carned multiplied by the distance flown E
a,
Revenue tonna kilometres (RTK) The revenue load in tonnes muluplied by the distance flown E’
N
Revenue per RPK Passenger revenue divided by RPK g
i3
Total capital Total equity plus net debt 2

Total traffic revenue per RTK Revenue from total traffic divided by RTK.

Total traffic revenue per ATK Revenue from total traffic divided by ATK.
Unduplicated route kilometres All scheduled flight stages counted once, regardless of frequency or direction

n/a Not applicable
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Subsidiary undertakings

List of subsidiary undertakings for British Airways Plc as at 24 February 2011

The heldings disclosed concern ordinary shares unless otherwise stated

Country of
Name of company Incorporation
Air Miles Travel Promouons Limited England
BA and AA Holdings Limited England
BA Call Centre India Private Limited {caliBA) India
BA Cityflyer Limited England
BA European Limited England
BritAuwr Holdings Lirmited England
British Airways (Espaiia) Limited England
Brinsh Airways (European Operations at Gatwick) Limited England
British Awrways 777 Leasing Limited England
Briush Airways Associated Companies Lirmted England
British Airways Avionic Engineering Limited England
British Airways Capital Limited Jersey
8niush Arrways Ejets Leasing Limited Bermuda
British Aurways Holdings BV Netherlands
British Airways Holdings Limited Jersey
Bnush Asrways Holidays Limited England
British Airways Internior Engineenng Linuted England
Briush Aurways Leasing Limited England
Briush Airways Maintenance Cardiff Limited England
Bntish Aurways Pension Trustees (No 2) Limited England
British Airways Ptc Employee Benefits Trustees (Jersey) Limited Jersey
British Airways Regional Limited England
British Caledonian Airways Limited England
British Catedonian Group Lirnited Scotland
Caledonian Aviation Investments Limited England
Deutsche BA Holding GmbH Germany
Flyline Tele Sales & Services GmbH Germany
Mad Inc USA
OpenSkies Aviauon Limited England
OpenSkies SASU France
Overseas Air Travel Limited England
Remotereport Trading Limited England
Speedbird Cash Management Limited™ Bermuda
Speedbird Insurance Company Limited Bermuda
Speedwing Internatonal Limited England
Teleflight Limited England
The Mileage Company Lirmited England
The Pimsoll Line Linited England
Associated holdings
Percentage of Country of
Name of company equity owned incorporation
Dunwoody Asrline Services (Moldings) Limited 40 England
Significant holdings
Percentage of Country of
Name of company equity owned Incorporacion
oneworld Management Company Limited 2556 Canada

Has ordinary and non-redeemable preference shares




